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Forward-Looking Statements  

Certain statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are forward-looking statements. Those statements include statements 
regarding the intent, belief or current expectations of New York REIT, Inc. (the "Company," "we" "our" or "us") and members of our 
management team, as well as the assumptions on which such statements are based, and generally are identified by the use of words such as 
"may," "will," "seeks," "anticipates," "believes," "estimates," "expects," "plans," "intends," "should" or similar expressions. Actual results may 
differ materially from those contemplated by such forward-looking statements. Further, forward-looking statements speak only as of the date 
they are made, and we undertake no obligation to update or revise forward-looking statements to reflect changed assumptions, the occurrence of 
unanticipated events or changes to future operating results over time, unless required by law.  

The following are some of the risks and uncertainties, although not all risks and uncertainties, that could cause our actual results to differ 
materially from those presented in our forward-looking statements:  

All forward-looking statements should be read with the risks noted in Part I, Item 1A of this annual report on Form 10-K.  

 
ii  

•  All of our executive officers are also officers, managers or holders of a direct or indirect interest in New York Recovery Advisors (our 
"Advisor") and other American Realty Capital-affiliated entities; as a result, our executive officers, our Advisor and its affiliates face 
conflicts of interest, including significant conflicts created by our Advisor’s compensation arrangements with us and other investor 
entities advised by American Realty Capital affiliates, and conflicts in allocating time among these entities and us, which could negatively 
impact our operating results.  

•  Because investment opportunities that are suitable for us may also be suitable for other American Realty Capital-advised programs or 
investors, our Advisor and its affiliates face conflicts of interest relating to the purchase of properties and other investments and such 
conflicts may not be resolved in our favor, meaning that we could invest in less attractive assets, which could reduce the investment return 
to our stockholders.  

•  We depend on tenants for our revenue, and, accordingly, our revenue is dependent upon the success and economic viability of our tenants. 

•  We may not be able to achieve our rental rate objectives on new and renewal leases and our expenses could be greater, which may impact 
our results of operations.  

•  Increases in interest rates could increase the amount of our debt payments and limit our ability to pay dividends. 

•  We have not generated and may not generate cash flows sufficient to pay returns to our stockholders, as such, we may be forced to borrow 
at higher rates or depend on our Advisor or our property manager, New York Recovery Properties, LLC (our "Property Manager"), to 
waive fees or reimbursement of certain expenses to fund our operations, and any payments to our stockholders. There is no assurance 
these entities will waive such amounts.  

•  We may be unable to pay or maintain cash dividends or increase dividends over time. Amounts paid to our stockholder may be a return of 
capital and not a return on a stockholder's investment.  

•  We are obligated to pay fees, which may be substantial, to our Advisor and its affiliates, including fees payable upon the sale of 
properties.  

•  We are subject to risks associated with the significant dislocations and liquidity disruptions in the credit markets of the United States. 

•  We may fail to continue to qualify to be treated as a real estate investment trust ("REIT") for U.S. federal income tax purposes. 

•  Our properties may be adversely affected by economic cycles and risks inherent to the New York metropolitan statistical area ("MSA"), 
especially New York City.  

•  We may be adversely affected by changes in general economic, business and political conditions, including the possibility of intensified 
international hostilities, acts of terrorism, and changes in conditions of United States or international lending, capital and financing 
markets.  
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PART I  

Organization  

We are a New York City focused REIT that seeks to provide stockholders with an opportunity to participate in one of the world's most 
dynamic real estate markets by primarily acquiring income-producing commercial real estate in New York City. We were incorporated on 
October 6, 2009 as a Maryland corporation that qualified as a REIT beginning with the taxable year ended December 31, 2010. We focus on 
acquiring and owning office and retail properties in Manhattan, the largest and most liquid real estate market in the United States. We purchased 
our first property and commenced active operations in June 2010.  As of December 31, 2014 , we owned 24 properties and real estate-related 
assets located in New York City. As of December 31, 2014 , our properties aggregated 3.4 million rentable square feet, had an average 
occupancy of 94.9% and an average remaining lease term of 9.9 years. Our portfolio primarily consisted of office and retail properties, 
representing 82% and 9% of rentable square feet, respectively, as of December 31, 2014 . We may also acquire multifamily, industrial, hotel and 
other types of real properties to add diversity to our portfolio. Additionally, we also may originate or acquire first mortgage loans, mezzanine 
loans, or preferred equity positions related to New York City real estate.   

Substantially all of our business is conducted through New York Recovery Operating Partnership, L.P. (the "OP"), a Delaware limited 
partnership. We have no direct employees.  We have retained our Advisor to manage our affairs on a day-to-day basis. The Property Manager 
manages our properties, unless services are performed by a third party for specific properties. Realty Capital Securities, LLC (the "Dealer 
Manager") served as the dealer manager of our IPO and, together with its affiliates, continues to provide us with various services such as transfer 
agent, investor relations, legal and other services.  The Advisor, the Property Manager, and the Dealer Manager are under common control with 
the parent of our sponsor, American Realty Capital III, LLC (the "Sponsor"), as a result of which, they are related parties and receive various 
compensation, fees and expense reimbursements.  

Investment Objectives  

Our investment objectives include capital preservation, income generation and asset appreciation. We achieve our objectives through:  

Acquisitions and Investment Policies  

Investing in Real Property  

To date, we have acquired a portfolio of properties located in New York City that we believe provides us with a solid foundation for future 
growth. All of our properties were acquired during the 2010-2014 time period so we have no legacy assets relating back to acquisitions that 
suffered from the recession. Further, because our asset base is still relatively small, we believe future acquisitions will have a meaningful impact 
on our size and profitability.  

The following table presents information about the diversity of the property types of the properties and real estate-related assets we owned at 
December 31, 2014 :  

______________________________  
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•  Focus on New York City  — Acquiring high-quality commercial real estate in New York City, and, in particular, properties located in 
Manhattan;  

•  Focus on Income Producing Properties  — Acquire income producing commercial real estate with an emphasis on office and retail 
properties with 80% or greater occupancy at the time of purchase;  

•  Maintain Low Leverage  - Stabilize at a leverage level of not more than 40% to 50% loan-to-enterprise value; 

•  Make Monthly Dividends  - Pay dividends monthly; and 

•  Maximize Total Returns  - Maximize total returns to our stockholders through a combination of appreciation and current income. 

Property Type    Rentable Square Feet  (1)    

Rentable Square Feet as a 
Percentage of the Total 

Portfolio  

Office    2,798,724    81.8 % 

Retail    318,829    9.3 % 

Other    305,527    8.9 % 

     3,423,080    100.0 % 

(1)  Includes our proportionate share of investments in unconsolidated joint ventures. 
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The following table presents information about the geographic diversity of the properties and real estate-related assets we owned at 
December 31, 2014 :  

______________________________  

The following table lists the tenants whose annualized cash rent represented greater than 10% of our total annualized cash rent for all 
portfolio properties on a straight-line basis as of the dates indicated for the years ending December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , respectively:  

________________________________  
* Tenant's annualized cash rent was not greater than 10% of total annualized cash rent for all portfolio properties as of the period specified.  

The termination, delinquency or non-renewal of any of the above tenants would have a material adverse effect on our revenues.  No other 
tenant represents more than 10% of our annualized rental income for the periods presented.    

Joint Ventures  

We may acquire or enter into joint ventures from time to time, if we determine that doing so would be the most cost-effective and efficient 
means of raising and investing capital. Equity investments may be subject to existing mortgage financing and other indebtedness or such 
financing or indebtedness may be incurred in connection with acquiring investments. Any such financing or indebtedness will have priority over 
our equity interest in such property, such as secured mortgage notes payable encumbering Worldwide Plaza.  

Investing in Equity Securities  

We may make equity investments in other REITs and other real estate companies that operate assets meeting our investment objectives. We 
may purchase the common or preferred stock of these entities or options to acquire their stock. We will target a public company that owns 
commercial real estate or real estate-related assets when we believe its stock is trading at a discount to that company’s net asset value. We may 
eventually seek to acquire or gain a controlling interest in the companies that we target.  

Financing Strategies / Offerings  

 We use debt financing to fund property improvements, tenant improvements, leasing commissions and other working capital needs. The 
form of our indebtedness varies in terms of duration (long or short term), secured or unsecured, or fixed or variable rate. We do not enter into 
interest rate swaps or caps, or similar hedging transactions or derivative arrangements, for speculative purposes but we do enter into such 
arrangements in order to manage or mitigate our interest rate risks on variable rate debt.  

We seek to maintain a strong balance sheet with conservative leverage. It is our intention to stabilize our leverage at 50% or less of 
combined enterprise value (which we define as debt outstanding, including our portion of debt from our unconsolidated joint venture, plus fully 
diluted shares outstanding multiplied by our share price as of December 31, 2014 ). As of December 31, 2014 , we had total combined debt of 
$1.2 billion with a weighted average interest rate equal to 3.2% per annum, which includes our pro-rata share of unconsolidated debt, and our 
combined enterprise value was $3.0 billion , for a combined debt to enterprise value of 41% .  
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Property Location    Rentable Square Feet (1)    

Rentable Square Feet as a 
Percentage of the Total 

Portfolio  

Manhattan    3,284,304    95.9 % 

Brooklyn    129,009    3.8 % 

Queens    9,767    0.3 % 

     3,423,080    100.0 % 

(1)  Includes our proportionate share of investments in unconsolidated joint ventures. 

          December 31,  

Property Portfolio    Tenant    2014    2013    2012  

Worldwide Plaza    Cravath, Swaine & Moore, LLP    16%    18%    *  

Worldwide Plaza    Nomura Holdings America Inc.    11%    12%    *  

229 West 36th Street    American Language Communication Center, Inc.    *    *    14%  
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Tax Status  

 We have elected to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), 
beginning with our taxable year ended December 31, 2010. We intend to continue to operate in such a manner to qualify for taxation as a REIT, 
but no assurance can be given that we will operate in a manner so as to qualify or remain qualified as a REIT. So long as we distribute at least 
90% of our REIT taxable income and remain in compliance with other REIT qualification requirements, we will continue to qualify for taxation 
as a REIT. We will not be subject to federal corporate income tax to the extent that we distribute 100% of our REIT taxable income. REITs are 
subject to a number of other organizational and operational requirements. Even if we qualify for taxation as a REIT, we may be subject to certain 
state and local taxes on our income and property, and federal income and excise taxes on our undistributed income. We believe we are organized 
and operating in such a manner as to continue to qualify to be taxed as a REIT.   

Competition  

The office, retail, lodging, industrial and residential real estate segments are highly competitive. We compete with other owners and 
operators of properties in these same real estate segments. We compete based on a number of factors that include location, rental rates, security, 
suitability of the property's design to prospective tenants' needs and the manner in which the property is operated and marketed. The number of 
competing properties in the New York MSA could have a material effect on our occupancy levels, rental rates and on the operating expenses of 
certain of our properties.  

In addition, we compete with other entities engaged in real estate investment activities to locate suitable properties and to acquire and to 
locate tenants and purchasers for our properties. These competitors include other REITs, specialty finance companies, savings and loan 
associations, banks, mortgage bankers, insurance companies, mutual funds, institutional investors, investment banking firms, lenders, 
governmental bodies and other entities. In addition, these same entities seek financing through similar channels. Therefore, we compete for 
financing in a market where funds for real estate financing may decrease.  

Competition from these and other third party real estate investors may limit the number of suitable investment opportunities available. It 
also may result in higher prices, lower yields and a narrower spread of yields over our borrowing costs, making it more difficult for us to acquire 
new investments on attractive terms.  

Because we are organized as an umbrella partnership REIT, we believe we are well positioned to offer tax-sensitive sellers an opportunity to 
contribute their properties to our company in a tax-deferred transaction.  

  Regulations  

 Our investments are subject to various federal, state and local laws, ordinances and regulations, including, among other things, zoning 
regulations, land use controls, environmental controls relating to air and water quality, noise pollution and indirect environmental impacts such 
as increased motor vehicle activity.  We believe that we have all permits and approvals necessary under current law to operate our investments.  

Environmental  

 As an owner of real estate, we are subject to various environmental laws of federal, state and local governments. Compliance with existing 
laws has not had a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations, and management does not believe it will have such 
an impact in the future.  However, we cannot predict the impact of unforeseen environmental contingencies or new or changed laws or 
regulations on properties in which we hold an interest, or on properties that may be acquired directly or indirectly in the future. We hire third 
parties to conduct Phase I environmental reviews of the real property that we intend to purchase.  

Employees  

 We have no direct employees.  The employees of our Advisor and other affiliates perform a full range of real estate services for us, 
including acquisitions, property management, accounting, legal, asset management, wholesale brokerage, transfer agent and investor relations 
services.  

 We are dependent on these affiliates for services that are essential to us, including capital markets activities, asset acquisition decisions, 
property management and other general administrative responsibilities.  In the event that any of these companies were unable to provide these 
services to us, we would be required to provide such services ourselves or obtain such services from other sources.  

Financial Information About Industry Segments  

  Our current business consists of owning, managing, operating, leasing, acquiring, investing in and disposing of real estate assets. All of our 
consolidated revenues are from our consolidated real estate properties. We internally evaluate operating performance on an individual property 
level and view all of our real estate assets as one industry segment; accordingly, all of our properties are aggregated into one reportable segment. 
See our consolidated financial statements beginning on page F-1 for our revenues, net income or loss and other financial information.  
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Available Information  

We electronically file Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and all amendments 
to those reports, and proxy statements, with the SEC. You may read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SEC's Public Reference 
Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549, or you may obtain information by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.  The SEC maintains 
an internet address at http://www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy statements and information statements, and other information, which you 
may obtain free of charge.  In addition, copies of our filings with the SEC may be obtained from our website at www.nyrt.com .  Access to these 
filings is free of charge. We are not incorporating our website or any information from the website into this Form 10-K.  

Item 1A. Risk Factors.  

Risks Related to Our Properties and Operations  

All of our properties are concentrated in the New York MSA, making us dependent upon the economic climate in New York City, including 
increased competition, and potentially more vulnerable economically than if our investments were geographically diversified.  

All of the real estate assets we own, and the real estate assets we may focus on for future acquisition, are located in the New York MSA. We 
are subject to risks generally inherent in concentrating investments in a certain geography. These risks resulting from a lack of diversification 
may become even greater in the event of a downturn in the commercial real estate industry and could significantly adversely affect the value of 
our properties. A downturn in New York City’s economy, in a submarket within New York City or in the overall national economy could, for 
example, result in reduced demand for office or lodging space. Likewise, declines in the financial services or media sectors may have a 
disproportionate adverse effect on the New York City real estate market. These adverse effects could be more pronounced than if we diversified 
our investments outside of New York City.  

Moreover, the New York City real estate market is highly competitive. We compete based on a number of factors that include location, 
rental rates, security, suitability of the property’s design to prospective tenants’ needs and the manner in which the property is operated and 
marketed. The number of competing properties in the New York City market could have a material effect on our occupancy levels, rental rates 
and on the operating expenses of certain of our properties. In addition, we compete with other entities engaged in real estate investment activities 
in New York City to locate suitable properties to acquire and to locate tenants and purchasers for our properties. These competitors include other 
REITs, specialty finance companies, savings and loan associations, banks, mortgage bankers, insurance companies, mutual funds, institutional 
investors, investment banking firms, lenders, governmental bodies and other entities. There are also other REITs, including two non-traded 
REITs with similar investment objectives to ours, which are sponsored and advised by entities under common control with our Sponsor and our 
Advisor, with asset acquisition objectives similar to ours and others may be organized in the future. Some of these competitors, including larger 
REITs, have substantially greater marketing and financial resources than we will have and generally may be able to accept more risk than we can 
prudently manage, including risks with respect to the creditworthiness of tenants. In addition, these same entities seek financing through similar 
channels to our company. Therefore, we compete for institutional investors in a market where funds for real estate investment may decrease.  
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We face risks associated with property acquisitions.  

We may acquire interests in properties, individual properties and portfolios of properties, including large portfolios that could significantly 
increase our size and alter our capital structure. Our acquisition activities may be exposed to, and their success may be adversely affected by, the 
following risks:  

We rely on our Advisor to acquire properties on our behalf. Because the management personnel of our Advisor are also engaged in the 
process of acquiring properties for other entities formed and managed by affiliates of our Advisor, we could suffer delays in locating suitable 
investments or may miss out on opportunities. If our Advisor is unable to obtain further suitable investments, we will not be able to continue to 
increase our asset base.  

Our growth and ability to successfully acquire properties depends on external sources of capital that are outside of our control, which may 
affect our ability to seize strategic opportunities, satisfy debt obligations and pay dividends.  

In order to qualify as a REIT, we must distribute to our stockholders, on an annual basis, at least 90% of our REIT taxable income, 
determined without regard to the deduction for dividends paid and excluding net capital gains. Because of these dividend requirements, we may 
not be able to fund future capital needs, including any necessary acquisition financing, from operating cash flow. Consequently, we may need to 
rely on third-party sources to fund our capital needs, including the acquisition of properties. For example, we have the right under the joint 
venture agreement related to our largest asset, our 48.9% interest in the joint venture that owns Worldwide Plaza, to purchase the balance of the 
equity interest in Worldwide Plaza beginning 38 months following the closing of the acquisition, or December 2016, at an agreed-upon value of 
$1.4 billion, subject to certain adjustments. If we cannot obtain capital from third-party sources on favorable terms, in the time period we desire, 
or at all, we may not be able to make this purchase when we have the option to do so. If we were to not exercise our purchase option, we would 
be subject to a fee in the amount of $25.0 million . We also may not be able to acquire or redevelop properties when other strategic opportunities 
exist, satisfy our principal and interest obligations or make the cash dividends to our stockholders necessary to maintain our qualification as a 
REIT.  

Our access to third-party sources of capital depends, in part, on:  
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•  we may acquire properties that are not accretive and we may not successfully manage and lease those properties to meet our 
expectations;  

•  we may be unable to generate sufficient cash from operations, or obtain the necessary debt or equity financing to consummate an 
acquisition or, if obtainable, financing may not be on satisfactory terms;  

•  we may need to spend more than budgeted amounts to make necessary improvements or renovations to acquired properties; 

•  agreements for the acquisition of properties are typically subject to customary conditions to closing, including satisfactory completion 
of due diligence investigations, and we may spend significant time and money on potential acquisitions that we do not consummate;  

•  the process of acquiring or pursuing the acquisition of a new property may divert the attention of our management team from our 
existing business operations;  

•  we may be unable to quickly and efficiently integrate new acquisitions, particularly acquisitions of portfolios of properties, into our 
existing operations;  

•  market conditions may result in future vacancies and lower-than expected rental rates; and 

•  we may continue to acquire properties without recourse, or with only limited recourse, for liabilities, whether known or unknown, such 
as cleanup of environmental contamination, claims by tenants, vendors or other persons against the former owners of the properties and 
claims for indemnification by general partners, directors, officers and others indemnified by the former owners of the properties.  

•  general market conditions; 

•  the market’s perception of our growth potential; 

•  our current debt levels; 

•  our current and expected future earnings; 

•  our cash flow and cash dividends; and 

•  the market price per share of our common stock. 
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We may not be able to quickly access capital markets.  

Because our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 was not filed until May 2015, we will be ineligible 
to register our common stock or any other securities on Form S-3 for sale by us or resale by others until we have timely filed all periodic reports 
under the Exchange Act for at least twelve calendar months and any portion of a month from the original due date, or until April 2016. We also 
are not eligible to use our currently effective shelf registration statement on Form S-3 for the same time period. The need to use other forms, 
such as Form S-11, to register our common stock or any other securities could increase transaction costs and adversely affect our ability to raise 
capital in a short period of time because we will need to file a registration statement on Form S-11 to register any proposed public offering of 
securities and then wait for it to be declared effective by the SEC before we may proceed with the proposed public offering.  

We have material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting.  

Our management has identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting and as a result concluded that our 
disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of December 31, 2014. Our independent registered public accounting firm reached the 
same conclusion. Specifically, management concluded that we did not:  

While the control deficiencies did not result in any material or immaterial misstatements in our financial statement accounts, the control 
deficiencies could increase the likelihood of inaccuracies in our financial statements. Our management concluded that the deficiencies represent 
material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting and that, as a result, our internal controls over financial reporting were not 
effective as of December 31, 2014. Our independent registered public accounting firm reached the same conclusion. Although management is in 
the process of developing and implementing a plan to remediate the deficiencies in internal control, there is no assurance that the plan will 
remediate the material weaknesses or ensure that our internal controls over financial reporting will be effective in the future which could have a 
material adverse effect on our business including, among other things, our ability to access the capital markets and our ability to provide accurate 
financial information.  

We may be unable to renew leases or re-lease space as leases expire and achieve our rental rate objectives on new and renewal leases.  

If tenants do not renew their leases upon expiration, we may be unable to re-lease the vacated space. Even if the tenants do re-lease the lease 
or we are able to re-lease to a new tenant, the terms and conditions of the new lease may not be as favorable as the terms and conditions of the 
expired lease. Moreover, we may fail to achieve the rental rate objectives we have set in order to prevent vacancies. If we do not achieve our 
rental rate objectives on new and renewal leases, our expenses could be greater, which may impact our results of operations.  

In addition, one or more of our properties may incur a vacancy either by the continued default of a tenant under its lease or the expiration of 
one of our leases. The resale value of a property could be diminished because the market value of a particular property will depend principally 
upon the value of the cash flow generated from the property which in the case of vacancies, will be reduced.  

Tenant credit concentrations make us more susceptible to adverse events with respect to those tenants.  

As of December 31, 2014 , the following tenants represented 5% or more of our total annualized cash rents:  

•  Maintain an effective control environment and risk assessment process, specifically: 

◦  Maintain sufficient written policies and procedures regarding our business and financial reporting processes, including establishing 
sufficient appropriate management authorities and responsibilities; and  

◦  Design and conduct an effective risk assessment process to identify and analyze risks impacting financial reporting, and implement 
business process level controls and monitoring activities that are responsive to those risks.  

•  Maintain effective information technology access controls over its financial reporting system and accounts payable application; 

•  Establish appropriate segregation of duties within the purchasing, accounts payable and cash disbursements process; 

•  Design and maintain appropriate controls, including general IT controls, over the use of significant Excel spreadsheets supporting the 
financial reporting process; and  

•  Design and maintain appropriate controls over the authorization, completeness, existence and accuracy of manual journal entries. 



The financial failure of any or all of these tenants is likely to have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and our financial 
condition. In addition, the value of our properties are driven in part by the credit quality of the underlying tenants, and an adverse change in the 
tenants' financial conditions or a decline in the credit rating of such tenants may result in a decline in the fair value of our investments and have a 
material adverse effect on our results from operations.  
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Tenant    
Percentage of Annualized 

Cash Rent  

Cravath, Swaine & Moore, LLP    16%  

Nomura Holdings America Inc.    11%  

Twitter, Inc.    8%  

Macy's, Inc.    7%  

RentPath Inc.    7%  
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We also own certain properties with leases that include provisions for the tenant to pay contingent rental income based on a percent of the 
tenant's sales upon the achievement of certain thresholds or other targets, which may be monthly, quarterly or annual targets. Accordingly, a 
decline in a tenant’s may result in a decline in the rental income we receive and have a material adverse effect on our results from operations.  

If a tenant declares bankruptcy, we may be unable to collect balances due under relevant leases, which could adversely affect our financial 
condition and ability to pay dividends.  

Any of our tenants, or any guarantor of a tenant's lease obligations, could be subject to a bankruptcy proceeding pursuant to Title 11 of the 
bankruptcy laws of the United States. A bankruptcy filing by one of our tenants or any guarantor of a tenant's lease obligations would bar all 
efforts by us to collect pre-bankruptcy debts from these entities or their properties, unless we receive an enabling order from the bankruptcy 
court. There is no assurance the tenant or its trustee would agree to assume the lease. If a lease is rejected by a tenant in bankruptcy, we would 
have a general unsecured claim for damages and it is unlikely we would receive any payments from the tenant.  

A tenant or lease guarantor bankruptcy could delay efforts to collect past due balances under the relevant leases, and could ultimately 
preclude full collection of these sums. A tenant or lease guarantor bankruptcy could cause a decrease or cessation of rental payments that would 
mean a reduction in our cash flow and the amount available to pay dividends.  

Our properties may be subject to impairment charges.  

We periodically evaluate our real estate investments for impairment indicators. The judgment regarding the existence of impairment 
indicators is based on factors such as market conditions, tenant performance and legal structure. For example, the early termination of, or default 
under, a lease by a tenant may lead to an impairment charge. If we determine that an impairment has occurred, we would be required to make a 
downward adjustment to the net carrying value of the property. Impairment charges also indicate a potential permanent adverse change in the 
fundamental operating characteristics of the impaired property. There is no assurance that these adverse changes will be reversed in the future 
and the decline in the impaired property’s value could be permanent.  

Our real estate investments are relatively illiquid, and therefore we may not be able to dispose of properties when appropriate or on favorable 
terms.  

Investments in real properties are relatively illiquid. We may not be able to quickly alter our portfolio or generate capital by selling 
properties. The real estate market is affected by many factors, such as general economic conditions, availability of financing, interest rates and 
other factors, including supply and demand, that are beyond our control. If we need or desire to sell a property or properties, we cannot predict 
whether we will be able to do so at a price or on the terms and conditions acceptable to us. We cannot predict the length of time needed to find a 
willing purchaser and to close the sale of a property. Further, we may be required to invest monies to correct defects or to make improvements 
before a property can be sold. We cannot assure you that we will have funds available to correct these defects or to make these improvements. 
Moreover, in acquiring a property, we may agree to restrictions that prohibit the sale of that property for a period of time or impose other 
restrictions, such as a limitation on the amount of debt that can be placed or repaid on that property. These provisions would restrict our ability to 
sell a property. We own a 48.9% interest in Worldwide Plaza, which represents our largest property investment, and the property cannot be sold 
without the consent of our joint venture partner.  

In addition, applicable provisions of the Code impose restrictions on the ability of a REIT to dispose of properties that are not applicable to 
other types of real estate companies. Thus, we may be unable to realize our investment objectives by selling or otherwise disposing of or 
refinancing a property at attractive prices within any given period of time or may otherwise be unable to complete any exit strategy.  
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We are dependent on our Advisor to provide us with executive officers and key personnel.  

Our success depends to a significant degree upon the contributions of our executive officers, including our chief executive officer, Michael 
A. Happel, and our chief financial officer, Gregory W. Sullivan, and other key personnel of our advisor and our property manager, each of whom 
would be difficult to replace. Our executive officers are also executive officers of two REITs with similar investment objectives to ours which 
are sponsored and advised by entities under common control with our Sponsor and our Advisor. Competition for such skilled personnel is 
intense, and we cannot assure you that our Advisor will be successful in attracting and retaining such skilled personnel capable of meeting the 
needs of our business. We cannot guarantee that all, or any particular one of these key personnel, will continue to provide services to us or our 
Advisor, and the loss of any of these key personnel could cause our operating results could suffer. This could occur, among other ways, if 
another REIT under common control with our Advisor internalizes its advisor. If that occurs, key personnel of our Advisor, who also are key 
personnel of the internalized advisor, could become employees of the other program and would no longer be available to our Advisor. Further, 
we have not and do not intend to separately maintain key person life insurance on any of our Advisor’s key personnel. Moreover, any adverse 
changes in the financial health of our Advisor or our Property Manager could negatively impact their ability to supply us with the key personnel 
necessary for successful operations.  

We also depend on these key personnel to maintain relationships with firms that have special expertise in certain services or detailed 
knowledge regarding real properties in the five boroughs of New York City, particularly in Manhattan. If we lose or are unable to obtain the 
services of highly skilled professionals capable of establishing or maintaining appropriate strategic relationships, our ability to acquire additional 
properties could be adversely affected and our results of operations could suffer.  

Our operating results are affected by economic and regulatory changes that have an adverse impact on the real estate market in general. 
These changes may impact our profitability and ability to realize growth in the value of our real estate properties.  

Our operating results are subject to risks generally incident to the ownership of real estate, including:  

Uninsured losses relating to real property or excessively expensive premiums for insurance coverage, including due to the non-renewal of the 
Terrorism Risk Insurance Act of 2002, or the TRIA, could reduce our cash flows and the return on our stockholders’ investments.  

Our general liability coverage, property insurance coverage and umbrella liability coverage on all our properties may not be adequate to 
insure against liability claims and provide for the costs of defense. Similarly, we may not have adequate coverage against the risk of direct 
physical damage or to reimburse us on a replacement cost basis for costs incurred to repair or rebuild each property. Moreover, there are types of 
losses, generally catastrophic in nature, such as losses due to wars, acts of terrorism, earthquakes, floods, hurricanes, pollution or environmental 
matters, that are uninsurable or not economically insurable, or may be insured subject to limitations, such as large deductibles or co-payments. 
Insurance risks associated with such catastrophic events could sharply increase the premiums we pay for coverage against property and casualty 
claims.  

This risk is particularly relevant with respect to potential acts of terrorism. The TRIA, under which the U.S. federal government bears a 
significant portion of insured losses caused by terrorism, will expire on December 31, 2020, and there can be no assurance that Congress will act 
to renew or replace the TRIA following its expiration. In the event that the TRIA is not renewed or replaced, terrorism insurance may become 
difficult or impossible to obtain at reasonable costs or at all, which may result in adverse impacts and additional costs to us.  
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•  changes in general economic or local conditions; 

•  changes in supply of or demand for similar or competing properties in an area; 

•  changes in interest rates and availability of mortgage funds that may render the sale of a property difficult or unattractive; 

•  increases in operating expenses; 

•  vacancies and inability to lease or sublease space; 

•  changes in tax, real estate, environmental and zoning laws; and 

•  periods of high interest rates and tight money supply. 
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Changes in the cost or availability of insurance due to the non-renewal of the TRIA or for other reasons could expose us to uninsured 
casualty losses. If any of our properties incurs a casualty loss that is not fully insured, the value of our assets will be reduced by any such 
uninsured loss, which may reduce the value of our stockholders’ investments. In addition, other than any working capital reserve or other 
reserves we may establish, we have no source of funding to repair or reconstruct any uninsured property. Also, to the extent we must pay 
unexpectedly large amounts for insurance, we could suffer reduced earnings that would result in lower dividends to stockholders.  

Additionally, mortgage lenders insist in some cases that commercial property owners purchase coverage against terrorism as a condition for 
providing mortgage loans. Accordingly, to the extent terrorism risk insurance policies are not available at reasonable costs, if at all, our ability to 
finance or refinance our properties could be impaired. In such instances, we may be required to provide other financial support, either through 
financial assurances or self-insurance, to cover potential losses. We may not have adequate, or any, coverage for such losses.  

Terrorist attacks and other acts of violence, civilian unrest, or war may affect the markets in which we operate our business and our 
profitability.  

Our properties are located in the New York MSA which has experienced, and remains susceptible, to terrorist attacks. In addition, any kind 
of terrorist activity or violent criminal acts, including terrorist acts against public institutions or buildings or modes of public transportation 
(including airlines, trains or buses) could have a negative effect on our business. These events may directly impact the value of our assets 
through damage, destruction, loss or increased security costs. Although we may obtain terrorism insurance, we may not be able to obtain 
sufficient coverage to fund any losses we may incur. The TRIA, which was designed for a sharing of terrorism losses between insurance 
companies and the federal government, will expire on December 31, 2020, and there can be no assurance that Congress will act to renew or 
replace it. See “- Uninsured losses relating to real property or excessively expensive premiums for insurance coverage, including due to the non-
renewal of the Terrorism Risk Insurance Act of 2002, or the TRIA, could reduce our cash flows and the return on our stockholders’ 
investments.”  

More generally, any terrorist attack, other act of violence or war, including armed conflicts, could result in increased volatility in, or damage 
to, the worldwide financial markets and economy. Increased economic volatility could adversely affect our hotel properties’ ability to conduct 
their operations profitably or our ability to borrow money or issue capital stock at acceptable prices and have a material adverse effect on our 
financial condition, results of operations and ability to pay dividends to our stockholders.  

Costs of complying with governmental laws and regulations, including those relating to environmental matters, may adversely affect our 
income and the cash available for any dividends.  

All real property and the operations conducted on real property are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to 
environmental protection and human health and safety. These laws and regulations generally govern wastewater discharges, air emissions, the 
operation and removal of underground and above-ground storage tanks, the use, storage, treatment, transportation and disposal of solid and 
hazardous materials, and the remediation of contamination associated with disposals. Environmental laws and regulations may impose joint and 
several liability on tenants, owners or operators for the costs to investigate or remediate contaminated properties, regardless of fault or whether 
the acts causing the contamination were legal. This liability could be substantial. In addition, the presence of hazardous substances, or the failure 
to properly remediate these substances, may adversely affect our ability to sell, rent or pledge such property as collateral for future borrowings.  

Some of these laws and regulations have been amended so as to require compliance with new or more stringent standards as of future dates. 
Compliance with new or more stringent laws or regulations or stricter interpretation of existing laws may require material expenditures by us. 
Future laws, ordinances or regulations may impose material environmental liability. Additionally, our tenants' operations, the existing condition 
of land when we buy it, operations in the vicinity of our properties, such as the presence of underground storage tanks, or activities of unrelated 
third parties, may affect our properties. In addition, there are various local, state and federal fire, health, life-safety and similar regulations with 
which we may be required to comply, and that may subject us to liability in the form of fines or damages for noncompliance.  

State and federal laws in this area are constantly evolving, and we may be affected by such changes and be required to comply with new 
laws, including obtaining environmental assessments of most properties that we acquire; however, we will not obtain an independent third-party 
environmental assessment for every property we acquire. In addition, any such assessment that we do obtain may not reveal all environmental 
liabilities or that a prior owner of a property did not create a material environmental condition not known to us. We may be required to spend 
substantial sums defending against claims of liability, of compliance with environmental regulatory requirements, of remediating any 
contaminated property, or of paying personal injury claims.  
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Joint venture investments could be adversely affected by our lack of sole decision-making authority, our reliance on the financial condition 
of co-venturers and disputes between us and our co-venturers.  

Our largest investment, representing 29.3% of the rentable square feet in our portfolio as of December 31, 2014 , was our 48.9% in the joint 
venture that owns Worldwide Plaza. We may enter into other partnerships and co-ownership arrangements (including preferred equity 
investments). We may not be in a position to exercise sole decision-making authority regarding such joint ventures. For example, under the 
Worldwide Plaza joint venture, our joint venture partner is the manager of the joint venture, although we have consent rights over all major 
decisions, such as the approval of the annual budget and any decision to sell or encumber the property. Accordingly, these investments are 
subject to the potential risk of impasses on decisions, such as a sale, because neither we nor the co-venturer would have full control over the joint 
venture. Investments in joint ventures may also, under certain circumstances, involve risks not present were a third party not involved, including 
the possibility that partners or co-venturers might become bankrupt or fail to fund their required capital contributions. Co-venturers may have 
economic or other business interests or goals which are inconsistent with our business interests or goals, and may be in a position to take actions 
contrary to our policies or objectives. Disputes between us and co-venturers may result in litigation or arbitration that would increase our 
expenses and prevent our officers or directors from focusing their time and effort on our business. Consequently, actions by or disputes with co-
venturers might result in subjecting properties owned by the joint venture to additional risk. In addition, we may in certain circumstances be 
liable for the actions of our co-venturers.  

Potential changes in U.S. accounting standards regarding operating leases may make the leasing of our properties less attractive to our 
potential tenants, which could reduce overall demand for our leasing services.  

Under current authoritative accounting guidance for leases, a lease is classified by a tenant as a capital lease if the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership are considered to reside with the tenant. Under capital lease accounting for a tenant, both the leased asset and liability are 
reflected on their balance sheet. If the lease does not meet any of the criteria for a capital lease, the lease is considered an operating lease by the 
tenant, and the obligation does not appear on the tenant's balance sheet; rather, the contractual future minimum payment obligations are only 
disclosed in the footnotes thereto. The Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") and the International Accounting Standards Board 
("IASB") conducted a joint project to re-evaluate lease accounting and have jointly released exposure drafts of a proposed accounting model that 
would significantly change lease accounting. In March 2014, the FASB and IASB redeliberated aspects of the joint project, including the lessee 
and lessor accounting models, lease term, and exemptions and simplifications. The timing of the issuance of the final standards is uncertain. 
Changes to the accounting guidance could affect both our accounting for leases as well as that of our current and potential tenants. These 
changes may affect how the real estate leasing business is conducted. For example, if the accounting standards regarding the financial statement 
classification of operating leases are revised, then companies may be less willing to enter into leases in general or desire to enter into leases with 
shorter terms because the apparent benefits to their balance sheets could be reduced or eliminated. This in turn could make it more difficult for us 
to enter into leases on terms we find favorable.  

There are costs associated with complying with the Americans with Disabilities Act.  

Our properties are subject to the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (the "Disabilities Act"). Under the Disabilities Act, all places of 
public accommodation are required to comply with federal requirements related to access and use by disabled persons. The Disabilities Act has 
separate compliance requirements for "public accommodations" and "commercial facilities" that generally require that buildings and services, 
including restaurants and retail stores, be made accessible and available to people with disabilities. The Disabilities Act's requirements could 
require removal of access barriers and could result in the imposition of injunctive relief, monetary penalties, or, in some cases, an award of 
damages. We cannot assure you that we will be able to acquire properties in compliance with the Disabilities Act or allocate the burden on the 
seller or other third party, such as a tenant, to ensure compliance with the Disabilities Act. However, we cannot assure you that we will be able to 
acquire properties or allocate responsibilities in this manner.  

Our business could suffer in the event our Advisor or any other party that provides us with services essential to our operations experiences 
system failures or cyber incidents or a deficiency in cybersecurity.  

Despite system redundancy, the implementation of security measures and the existence of a disaster recovery plan for the internal 
information technology systems of our Advisor and other parties that provide us with services essential to our operations are vulnerable to 
damages from any number of sources, including computer viruses, unauthorized access, energy blackouts, natural disasters, terrorism, war and 
telecommunication failures.  Any system failure or accident that causes interruptions in our operations could result in a material disruption to our 
business.  
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A cyber incident is considered to be any adverse event that threatens the confidentiality, integrity or availability of information resources. 
More specifically, a cyber incident is an intentional attack or an unintentional event that can include gaining unauthorized access to systems to 
disrupt operations, corrupt data or steal confidential information. As reliance on technology in our industry has increased, so have the risks posed 
to our systems, both internal and those we have outsourced. In addition, the risk of a cyber incident, including by computer hackers, foreign 
governments and cyber terrorists, has generally increased as the number, intensity and sophistication of attempted attacks and instructions from 
around the world have increased.  

The remediation costs and lost revenues experienced by a victim of a cyber incident may be significant and significant resources may be 
required to repair system damage, protect against the threat of future security breaches or to alleviate problems, including reputational harm, loss 
of revenues and litigation, caused by any breaches. There also may be liability for any stolen assets or misappropriated confidential information. 
Although our Advisor and other parties that provide us with services essential to our operations intend to continue to implement industry-
standard security measures, there can be no assurance that those measures will be sufficient, and any material adverse effect experienced by our 
Advisor and other parties that provide us with services essential to our operations could, in turn, have an adverse impact on us.  

If a sale-leaseback transaction is re-characterized in a tenant's bankruptcy proceeding, our financial condition and ability to pay dividends to 
you could be adversely affected.  

We may enter into sale-leaseback transactions, whereby we would purchase a property and then lease the same property back to the person 
from whom we purchased it. In the event of the bankruptcy of a tenant, a transaction structured as a sale- leaseback may be re-characterized as 
either a financing or a joint venture, either of which outcomes could adversely affect our business. If the sale-leaseback were re-characterized as 
a financing, we might not be considered the owner of the property, and as a result would have the status of a creditor in relation to the tenant. In 
that event, we would no longer have the right to sell or encumber our ownership interest in the property. Instead, we would have a claim against 
the tenant for the amounts owed under the lease, with the claim arguably secured by the property. The tenant/debtor might have the ability to 
propose a plan restructuring the term, interest rate and amortization schedule of its outstanding balance. If confirmed by the bankruptcy court, we 
could be bound by the new terms, and prevented from foreclosing our lien on the property. If the sale-leaseback were re- characterized as a joint 
venture, our lessee and we could be treated as co-venturers with regard to the property. As a result, we could be held liable, under some 
circumstances, for debts incurred by the lessee relating to the property.  

Risks Associated with Real Estate-Related Debt and Other Investments  

Any real estate debt security that we originate or purchase is subject to the risks of delinquency and foreclosure.  

We may originate and purchase real estate debt securities, which are subject to numerous risks including delinquency and foreclosure and 
risks of loss. Typically, we will not have recourse to the personal assets of our borrowers. The ability of a borrower to repay a real estate debt 
security secured by an income-producing property depends primarily upon the successful operation of the property, rather than upon the 
existence of independent income or assets of the borrower.  

We bear the risks of loss of principal to the extent of any deficiency between the value of the collateral and the principal and accrued interest 
of the real estate debt security, which could have a material adverse effect on our cash flow from operations and limit amounts available for 
distribution to you. In the event of the bankruptcy of a borrower, the real estate debt security to that borrower will be deemed to be collateralized 
only to the extent of the value of the underlying collateral at the time of bankruptcy (as determined by the bankruptcy court), and the lien 
securing the real estate debt security will be subject to the avoidance powers of the bankruptcy trustee or debtor-in-possession to the extent the 
lien is unenforceable under state law. Foreclosure of a real estate debt security can be an expensive and lengthy process that could have a 
substantial negative effect on our anticipated return on the foreclosed real estate debt security. We also may be forced to foreclose on certain 
properties, be unable to sell these properties and be forced to incur substantial expenses to improve operations at the property.  
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In addition, the value of mortgage loan investments is impacted by changes in the value of underlying collateral (if any), interest rates, 
volatility and prepayment rates, among other things. For example:  

Any hedging strategies we utilize may not be successful in mitigating our risks.  

We have entered into hedging transactions to manage risk of interest rate changes, price changes or currency fluctuations with respect to 
borrowings made or to be made to acquire or carry real estate assets. To the extent that we use derivative financial instruments in connection 
with these risks, we are exposed to credit, basis and legal enforceability risks. Derivative financial instruments may include interest rate swap 
contracts, interest rate cap or floor contracts, futures or forward contracts, options or repurchase agreements. In this context, credit risk is the 
failure of the counterparty to perform under the terms of the derivative contract. If the fair value of a derivative contract is positive, the 
counterparty owes us, which creates credit risk for us. Basis risk occurs when the index upon which the contract is based is more or less variable 
than the index upon which the hedged asset or liability is based, thereby making the hedge less effective. Finally, legal enforceability risks 
encompass general contractual risks, including the risk that the counterparty will breach the terms of, or fail to perform its obligations under, the 
derivative contract. We may not be able to manage these risks effectively.  

We may invest in collateralized mortgage-backed securities ("CMBS"), which may increase our exposure to credit and interest rate risk and 
the risks of the securitization process.  

We may invest in CMBS, which may increase our exposure to credit and interest rate risk. We have not adopted, and do not expect to adopt, 
any formal policies or procedures designed to manage risks associated with our investments in CMBS. In this context, credit risk is the risk that 
borrowers will default on the mortgages underlying the CMBS.  

Interest rate risk occurs as prevailing market interest rates change relative to the current yield on the CMBS. For example, when interest rates 

fall, borrowers are more likely to prepay their existing mortgages to take advantage of the lower cost of financing. As prepayments occur, 

principal is returned to the holders of the CMBS sooner than expected, thereby lowering the effective yield on the investment. On the other hand, 

when interest rates rise, borrowers are more likely to maintain their existing mortgages. As a result, prepayments decrease, thereby extending the 

average maturity of the mortgages underlying the CMBS.    

CMBS are also subject to several risks created through the securitization process. Subordinate CMBS are paid interest only to the extent that 
there are funds available to make payments. To the extent the collateral pool includes delinquent loans, there is a risk that the interest payment 
on subordinate CMBS will not be fully paid. Subordinate CMBS are also subject to greater credit risk than those CMBS that are more highly 
rated. If we are unable to manage these risks effectively, our results of operations, financial condition and ability to pay dividends to you will be 
adversely affected.  
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•  interest rate increases will reduce the amount of payments leaving us with a debt security generating less than market yields and 
reducing the value of our real estate debt;  

•  prepayment rates may increase if interest rates decline causing us to reinvest the proceeds in potentially lower yielding investments; 

•  decreases in the collateral for a non-recourse mortgage loan will likely reduce the value of the investment even if the borrower is 
current on payments;  

•  mezzanine loans investments may be even more volatile because, among other things, the senior lender may be able to exercise 
remedies that protect the senior lenders but that result in us losing our investment.  
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Risks Related to Conflicts of Interest  

Our Sponsor, Advisor, executive officers and other key personnel face conflicts of interest relating to the purchase and leasing of properties, 
and these conflicts may not be resolved in our favor, which could adversely affect our investment opportunities.  

We rely on our Sponsor and the executive officers and other key professionals at our Advisor and our Property Manager to identify suitable 
investment opportunities for us. Several of the other key professionals of our advisor are also the key professionals at the parent of our Sponsor 
and their other public programs, and our executive officers are also executive officers of American Realty Capital New York City REIT, Inc. and 
American Realty Capital New York City REIT II, Inc., which are non-traded REITs sponsored by the parent of our Sponsor that have investment 
objectives similar to ours. The investment opportunity allocation agreement we have entered into with American Realty Capital New York City 
REIT, Inc. and will enter into with American Realty Capital New York City REIT II, Inc. (the “Allocation Agreement”) provides that 
acquisitions of properties identified for acquisition by our Advisor or the advisors to American Realty Capital New York City REIT, Inc. and 
American Realty Capital New York City REIT II, Inc. will be subject to rotation among us, American Realty Capital New York City REIT, Inc. 
and American Realty Capital New York City REIT II, Inc. depending on which one of us has sufficient capital to acquire all or some of the 
property acquisitions and which of us most recently made a property acquisition. As a result, we will not be able to acquire all properties 
identified by our Advisor and its affiliates that we would otherwise have had the opportunity to acquire.  

In addition, other programs sponsored by the parent of our Sponsor not subject to the Allocation Agreement own properties, or may seek to 
acquire properties, in the New York MSA. In such a case, a conflict could arise in the acquisition or leasing of properties if we and another 
program sponsored by the parent of our Sponsor were to compete for the same properties or tenants in negotiating leases, or a conflict could arise 
in connection with the resale of properties if we and another program sponsored by the parent of our Sponsor were to attempt to sell similar 
properties at the same time. Conflicts of interest also may exist at such time as we or our affiliates managing properties on our behalf seek to 
employ developers, contractors or building managers, as well as under other circumstances.  

Also, we may acquire properties from, or sell properties to, other programs sponsored by the parent of our Sponsor. If one of the other 
programs sponsored by the parent of our sponsor attracts a tenant that we are competing for, we could suffer a loss of revenue due to delays in 
locating another suitable tenant. Similar conflicts of interest may apply if our Advisor determines to make or purchase mortgage, bridge or 
mezzanine loans or participations therein on our behalf, since other programs sponsored by the parent of our Sponsor may be competing with us 
for these investments.  

Our officers and directors face conflicts of interest related to the positions they hold with affiliated entities, which could hinder our ability to 
successfully implement our business strategy and to generate returns to you.  

Certain of our executive officers, including Michael Happel, chief executive officer and president, and Greg Sullivan, chief operating officer 
and chief financial officer, also are officers of our Advisor, our Property Manager and other affiliated entities, including the advisor and property 
manager of American Realty Capital New York City REIT, Inc. and American Realty Capital New York City REIT II, Inc., which are non-
traded REITs sponsored by the parent of our Sponsor that have investment objectives similar to ours. Our directors also are directors of other 
non-traded REITs sponsored by the parent of our Sponsor. As a result, these individuals owe fiduciary duties to these other entities and their 
stockholders and limited partners, which fiduciary duties may conflict with the duties that they owe to us and our stockholders.  

These conflicting duties could result in actions or inactions that are detrimental to our business. Conflicts with our business and interests are 
most likely to arise from involvement in activities related to (a) allocation of new investments and management time and services between us 
and the other entities, (b) our purchase of properties from, or sale of properties, to affiliated entities, (c) the timing and terms of the investment in 
or sale of an asset, (d) development of our properties by affiliates, (e) investments with affiliates of our Advisor, and (f) compensation to our 
Advisor and its affiliates including our Property Manager.  

Moreover, the management of multiple REITs by certain of the officers and other key personnel of our Advisor may significantly reduce the 
amount of time they are able to spend on activities related to us, which may cause our operating results to suffer.  
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Our Advisor and its affiliates face conflicts of interest relating to the structure of the fees they receive, which could result in actions that are 
not necessarily in the long-term best interests of our stockholders.  

Under our advisory agreement, the partnership agreement of our OP, and the OPP (as defined in “Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common 
Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities-Share-Based Compensation-2014 Advisor Multi-Year 
Outperformance Agreement”) we have entered into with our OP and our Advisor, our Advisor and its affiliates are entitled to fees and LTIP 
units (as defined in “Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities-
Share-Based Compensation-2014 Advisor Multi-Year Outperformance Agreement”) in our OP issued pursuant to the OPP that are structured in 
a manner intended to provide incentives to our Advisor to perform in our best interests and in the best interests of our stockholders. However, 
because our Advisor does not maintain a significant equity interest in us and is entitled to receive substantial minimum compensation regardless 
of performance, our Advisor's interests are not wholly aligned with those of our stockholders. In that regard, our Advisor could be motivated to 
recommend riskier or more speculative investments in order for us to generate the specified levels of total return and assets that would entitle our 
Advisor to fees and increase the number of LTIP units that would be earned.  

There is no separate counsel for us and our affiliates, which could result in conflicts of interest, and such conflicts may not be resolved in 
our favor, which could adversely affect the value of your investment.  

Proskauer Rose LLP acts as legal counsel to us and also represents our Advisor and some of its affiliates. There is a possibility in the future 
that the interests of the various parties may become adverse and, under the Code of Professional Responsibility of the legal profession, Proskauer 
Rose LLP may be precluded from representing any one or all such parties. If any situation arises in which our interests appear to be in conflict 
with those of our Advisor or its affiliates, additional counsel may be retained by one or more of the parties to assure that their interests are 
adequately protected. Moreover, should a conflict of interest not be readily apparent, Proskauer Rose LLP may inadvertently act in derogation of 
the interest of the parties which could affect our ability to meet our investment objectives.  

Risks Related to our Corporate Structure and Common Stock  

We may be unable to pay or maintain dividends from cash available from operations or increase dividends over time.  

There are many factors that can affect the availability and timing of cash dividends to stockholders. Dividends are based principally on cash 
available from our operations, but we have in the past been, and may again in the future be, required to borrow funds or sell assets to fund 
dividends. Actual cash available for dividends may vary substantially from estimates. There is no assurance that we will be able to pay or 
maintain our current level of dividends or that dividends will increase over time. Dividends funded from anything other than cash flow from 
operations reduces the amount of capital available to invest in properties and other permitted investments.  

Moreover, our failure to meet the market’s expectations with regard to future earnings and cash dividends likely would adversely affect the 
market price of our common stock.  
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The trading price of our common stock has been volatile and may fluctuate.  

The trading price of our common stock has been volatile and may continue to fluctuate widely as a result of a number of factors, many of 
which are outside our control. In addition, the stock market is subject to fluctuations in the share prices and trading volumes that affect the 
market prices of the shares of many companies. These broad market fluctuations have in the past and may in the future adversely affect the 
market price of our common stock. Among the factors that could affect the price of our common stock are:  

A significant decline in our stock price could result in substantial losses for our stockholders.  

We depend on our OP and its subsidiaries for cash flow and we will be structurally subordinated in right of payment to the obligations of our 
OP and its subsidiaries.  

Our only significant asset is and will be the general partnership interests we own in our OP. We conduct, and intend to continue conducting, 
all of our business operations through our OP. Accordingly, our only source of cash to pay our obligations is dividends from our OP and its 
subsidiaries of their net earnings and cash flows. The limited partnership units of the OP ("OP units") held by our Advisor and its affiliates are 
also entitled to dividends from the OP in the same amount as shares of common stock. Until such time as the LTIP units held by our Advisor are 
fully earned in accordance with the provisions of the OPP, the LTIP units are entitled to dividends equal to 10% of the dividends made on the 
OP units. After the LTIP units are fully earned, they are entitled to a catch-up dividend and then the same dividends as the OP units.  

There is no assurance that our OP or its subsidiaries will be able to, or be permitted to, pay dividends to us that will enable us to pay 
dividends to our stockholders, holders of OP units and holders of LTIP units from cash flows from operations or otherwise pay any other 
obligations. Each of our OP's subsidiaries is a distinct legal entity and, under certain circumstances, legal and contractual restrictions may limit 
our ability to obtain cash from these entities. In addition, because we are a holding company, stockholder claims will be structurally subordinated 
to all existing and future liabilities and obligations of our operating partnership and its subsidiaries. Therefore, in the event of our bankruptcy, 
liquidation or reorganization, our assets and those of our OP and its subsidiaries will be able to satisfy stockholder claims as stockholders only 
after all of our and our OP's and its subsidiaries liabilities and obligations have been paid in full.  

•  our financial condition and performance; 

•  the financial condition of our tenants, including the extent of tenant bankruptcies or defaults; 

•  actual or anticipated quarterly fluctuations in our operating results and financial condition; 

•  our dividend policy; 

•  the reputation of REITs and real estate investments generally and the attractiveness of REIT equity securities in comparison to other 
equity securities, including securities issued by other real estate companies, and fixed income securities;  

•  our reputation and the reputation of our Sponsor and its affiliates; 

•  uncertainty and volatility in the equity and credit markets; 

•  fluctuations in interest rates; 

•  changes in revenue or earnings estimates or publication of research reports and recommendations by financial analysts or actions taken 
by rating agencies with respect to our securities or those of other REITs;  

•  failure to meet analysts’ revenue or earnings estimates; 

•  speculation in the press or investment community; 

•  strategic actions by us or our competitors, such as acquisitions or restructurings; 

•  the extent of institutional investor interest in us; 

•  the extent of short-selling of our common stock and the shares of our competitors; 

•  fluctuations in the stock price and operating results of our competitors; 

•  general financial and economic market conditions and, in particular, developments related to market conditions for REITs and other real 
estate related companies;  

•  domestic and international economic factors unrelated to our performance; and 

•  all other risk factors addressed elsewhere in this Annual Report on the Form 10-K. 



 
15  



Table of Contents  
 

Existing stockholders’ interests will be diluted if we issue additional shares.  

Existing stockholders do not have preemptive rights to any shares issued by us in the future. Our charter currently authorizes us to issue 350 
million shares of stock, of which 300 million shares are classified as common stock and 50 million are classified as preferred stock. Our board of 
directors may amend our charter from time to time to increase or decrease the aggregate number of authorized shares of stock, or the number of 
authorized shares of any class or series of stock, or may classify or reclassify any unissued shares into the classes or series of stock without the 
necessity of obtaining stockholder approval. Except for preferred stock, all of our shares may be issued in the discretion of our board of 
directors. Existing stockholders likely will suffer dilution of their equity investment in us, if we: (a) sell additional shares in the future; (b) sell 
securities that are convertible into shares of our common stock; (c) issue shares of our common stock in a private offering of securities to 
institutional investors; (d) issue restricted share awards to our directors; or (e) issue shares to our Advisor or its affiliates, successors or assigns, 
in payment of an outstanding fee obligation as set forth under our advisory agreement or other agreements.  

In addition, we may issue shares of our common stock in connection with an exchange of OP units. As of December 31, 2014, the Advisor 
and its affiliates, including certain of our current and former directors and executive officers, held 4,270,841 OP units, representing 2.6% of our 
fully diluted common stock outstanding. After owning an OP unit for one year, OP unit holders generally may, subject to certain restrictions, 
exchange OP units for the cash value of a corresponding number of shares of our common stock or, at the option of the operating partnership, a 
corresponding number of shares of our common stock. As of December 31, 2014 , the Advisor also held 8,880,579 LTIP units, representing 
5.1% of our fully diluted common stock outstanding. LTIP units are convertible into OP units subject to being earned and vested and several 
other conditions. We may also issue OP units to sellers of properties acquired by us.  

If we issue preferred stock, the holders thereof will, upon liquidation, be entitled to receive distributions of liquidation proceeds prior to 
distribution to the holders of our common stock. Additionally, any preferred stock including convertible preferred stock or other securities 
convertible, exercisable or exchangeable for common stock that we issue in the future may have rights, preferences and privileges more 
favorable than those of our common stock and will result in dilution to owners of our common stock if converted, exercised or exchanged for 
common stock. Any preferred stock, if issued, could have a preference on liquidating distributions or a preference on dividend payments that 
could limit our ability pay dividends to the holders of our common stock. Because our decision to issue securities in any future offering will 
depend on market conditions and other factors beyond our control, we cannot predict or estimate the amount, timing or nature of our future 
offerings. Thus, our stockholders bear the risk of our future offerings reducing the value of our common stock and diluting the interest of 
existing stockholders.  

Our rights and the rights of our stockholders to recover claims against our officers, directors and our Advisor are limited, which could 
reduce your and our recovery against them if they cause us to incur losses.  

Maryland law provides that a director has no liability in that capacity if he or she performs his or her duties in good faith, in a manner he or 
she reasonably believes to be in the corporation's best interests and with the care that an ordinarily prudent person in a like position would use 
under similar circumstances. In addition, subject to certain limitations set forth therein or under Maryland law, our charter provides that no 
director or officer will be liable to us or our stockholders for monetary damages and requires us to indemnify our directors, our officers and our 
Advisor and our Advisor's affiliates and permits us to indemnify our employees and agents. We and our stockholders also may have more 
limited rights against our directors, officers, employees and agents, and our Advisor and its affiliates, than might otherwise exist under common 
law, which could reduce your and our recovery against them. In addition, we may be obligated to fund the defense costs incurred by our 
directors, officers, employees and agents, or our Advisor and its affiliates in some cases.  

The limit on the number of shares a person may own may discourage a takeover that could otherwise result in a premium price to our 
stockholders.  

Our charter, with certain exceptions, authorizes our directors to take such actions as are necessary and desirable to preserve our qualification 
as a REIT. Unless exempted by our board of directors, no person may own more than 9.8% in value of the aggregate of the outstanding shares of 
our stock or more than 9.8% (in value or number, whichever is more restrictive) of any class or series of the outstanding shares of our stock. This 
restriction may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of us, including an extraordinary transaction (such as a 
merger, tender offer or sale of all or substantially all our assets) that might provide a premium price for holders of our common stock. Similarly, 
this restriction further limits a stockholder's ability to sell shares.  
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Maryland law prohibits certain business combinations, which may make it more difficult for us to be acquired and may limit your ability to 
exit the investment.  

Under Maryland law, "business combinations" between a Maryland corporation and an interested stockholder or an affiliate of an interested 
stockholder are prohibited for five years after the most recent date on which the interested stockholder becomes an interested stockholder. These 
business combinations include a merger, consolidation, share exchange or, in circumstances specified in the statute, an asset transfer or issuance 
or reclassification of equity securities. An interested stockholder is defined as:  

A person is not an interested stockholder under the statute if the board of directors approved in advance the transaction by which he or she 
otherwise would have become an interested stockholder. However, in approving a transaction, the board of directors may provide that its 
approval is subject to compliance, at or after the time of approval, with any terms and conditions determined by the board of directors.  

After the five-year prohibition, any business combination between the Maryland corporation and an interested stockholder generally must be 
recommended by the board of directors of the corporation and approved by the affirmative vote of at least:  

These super-majority vote requirements do not apply if the corporation's common stockholders receive a minimum price, as defined under 
Maryland law, for their shares in the form of cash or other consideration in the same form as previously paid by the interested stockholder for its 
shares. The business combination statute permits various exemptions from its provisions, including business combinations that are exempted by 
the board of directors prior to the time that the interested stockholder becomes an interested stockholder. Pursuant to the statute, our board of 
directors has exempted any business combination involving our Advisor or any affiliate of our Advisor. Consequently, the five-year prohibition 
and the super-majority vote requirements will not apply to business combinations between us and our Advisor or any affiliate of our Advisor. As 
a result, our Advisor and any of its affiliates may be able to enter into business combinations with us that may not be in the best interest of our 
stockholders, without compliance with the super-majority vote requirements and the other provisions of the statute. The business combination 
statute may discourage others from trying to acquire control of us and increase the difficulty of consummating any offer.  

Maryland law limits the ability of a third-party to buy a large stake in us and exercise voting power in electing directors, which may 
discourage a takeover that could otherwise result in a premium price to our stockholder.  

The Maryland Control Share Acquisition Act provides that "control shares" of a Maryland corporation acquired in a "control share 
acquisition" have no voting rights except to the extent approved by the affirmative vote of stockholders entitled to cast two-thirds of the votes 
entitled to be cast on the matter. Shares of stock owned by the acquirer, by officers or by employees who are directors of the corporation, are 
excluded from shares entitled to vote on the matter. "Control shares" are voting shares of stock which, if aggregated with all other shares of stock 
owned by the acquirer or in respect of which the acquirer can exercise or direct the exercise of voting power (except solely by virtue of a 
revocable proxy), would entitle the acquirer to exercise voting power in electing directors within specified ranges of voting power. Control 
shares do not include shares the acquiring person is then entitled to vote as a result of having previously obtained stockholder approval. A 
"control share acquisition" means the acquisition of issued and outstanding control shares. The control share acquisition statute does not apply 
(a) to shares acquired in a merger, consolidation or share exchange if the corporation is a party to the transaction, or (b) to acquisitions approved 
or exempted by the charter or bylaws of the corporation. Our bylaws contain a provision exempting from the Control Share Acquisition Act any 
and all acquisitions of our stock by any person. There can be no assurance that this provision will not be amended or eliminated at any time in 
the future.  
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•  any person who beneficially owns 10% or more of the voting power of the corporation's outstanding voting stock; or 

•  an affiliate or associate of the corporation who, at any time within the two-year period prior to the date in question, was the beneficial 
owner of 10% or more of the voting power of the then-outstanding stock of the corporation.  

•  80% of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of outstanding shares of voting stock of the corporation; and 

•  two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of voting stock of the corporation other than shares held by the interested 
stockholder with whom or with whose affiliate the business combination is to be effected or held by an affiliate or associate of the 
interested stockholder.  
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Office Industry Risks  

Declines in overall activity in the New York MSA may adversely affect the performance of our office properties.  

82% of our property holdings measured by rentable square feet as of December 31, 2014 are comprised of commercial office properties 
located in the New York MSA. Rental income from office properties fluctuates with general market and economic conditions. Our office 
properties may be adversely affected by market or economic challenges experienced by the U.S. economy or real estate industry as a whole. 
Because our portfolio includes commercial office buildings located in the New York MSA, which has a relatively large number of financial and 
professional services sector, significant job losses in the financial and professional services sector, which may decrease demand for office space, 
causing market rental rates and property values to be negatively impacted.  

We also may experience a decrease in occupancy and rental rates accompanied by increases in the cost of re-leasing space (including for 
tenant improvements) and in uncollectible receivables. Early lease terminations may significantly contribute to a decline in occupancy of our 
office properties and may adversely affect our profitability. While lease termination fees increase current period income, future rental income 
may be diminished because, during periods in which market rents decline, it is unlikely that we will collect from replacement tenants the full 
contracted amount which had been payable under the terminated leases.  

Our results of operations, financial condition and ability to service debt and to pay dividends to our stockholders may be adversely affected 
by any decrease in occupancy and rental rates.  

The loss of anchor tenants for our office properties could adversely affect our profitability.  

A lease termination by a tenant that occupies a large area of space in one of our office properties (commonly referred to as an anchor tenant) 
could impact leases of other tenants. Other tenants may be entitled to modify the terms of their existing leases in the event of a lease termination 
by an anchor tenant or the closure of the business of an anchor tenant that leaves its space vacant, even if the anchor tenant continues to pay rent. 
Any such modifications or conditions could be unfavorable to us as the property owner and could decrease rents or expense recoveries. In the 
event of default by an anchor tenant, we may experience delays and costs in enforcing our rights as landlord to recover amounts due to us under 
the terms of our agreements with those parties.  

We may be adversely affected by certain trends that reduce demand for office real estate.   

Some businesses are rapidly evolving to increasingly permit employee telecommuting, flexible work schedules, open workplaces and 
teleconferencing. These practices enable businesses to reduce their space requirements. A continuation of the movement towards these practices 
could over time erode the overall demand for office space and, in turn, place downward pressure on occupancy, rental rates and property 
valuations, each of which could have an adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations, cash flows and ability to pay dividends to 
our stockholders.  

Retail Industry Risks  

Retail conditions may adversely affect our income.  

A retail property's revenues and value may be adversely affected by a number of factors, many of which apply to real estate investment 
generally, but which also include trends in the retail industry and perceptions by retailers or shoppers of the safety, convenience and 
attractiveness of the retail property. In addition, to the extent that the investing public has a negative perception of the retail sector, the value of 
our common stock may be negatively impacted.  

Some of our leases provide for base rent plus contractual base rent increases. A number of our retail leases also include a percentage rent 
clause for additional rent above the base amount based upon a specified percentage of the sales our tenants generate. Under those leases which 
contain percentage rent clauses, our revenue from tenants may increase as the sales of our tenants increase. Generally, retailers face declining 
revenues during downturns in the economy. As a result, the portion of our revenue which we may derive from percentage rent leases could 
decline upon a general economic downturn.  
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Our revenue will be impacted by the success and economic viability of our anchor retail tenants. Our reliance on single or significant tenants 
in certain buildings may decrease our ability to lease vacated space.  

In the retail sector, any tenant occupying a large portion of the gross leasable area of a retail center, a tenant of any of the triple-net single-
user retail properties outside the primary geographical area of investment, commonly referred to as an anchor tenant, or a tenant that is our 
anchor tenant at more than one retail center, may become insolvent, may suffer a downturn in business, or may decide not to renew its lease. Any 
of these events would result in a reduction or cessation in rental payments to us and would adversely affect our results of operation and financial 
condition. A lease termination by an anchor tenant could result in lease terminations or reductions in rent by other tenants whose leases permit 
cancellation or rent reduction if another tenant's lease is terminated. We may own properties where the tenants may have rights to terminate their 
leases if certain other tenants are no longer open for business. These "co-tenancy" provisions also may exist in some leases where we own a 
portion of a retail property and one or more of the anchor tenants leases space in that portion of the center not owned or controlled by us. If such 
tenants were to vacate their space, tenants with co-tenancy provisions would have the right to terminate their leases with us or seek a rent 
reduction from us. In such event, we may be unable to re-lease the vacated space. Similarly, the leases of some anchor tenants may permit the 
anchor tenant to transfer its lease to another retailer. The transfer to a new anchor tenant could cause customer traffic in the retail center to 
decrease and thereby reduce the income generated by that retail center. A lease transfer to a new anchor tenant could also allow other tenants to 
make reduced rental payments or to terminate their leases at the retail center. If we are unable to re-lease the vacated space to a new anchor 
tenant, we may incur additional expenses in order to re-model the space to be able to re-lease the space to more than one tenant.  

Competition with other retail channels may reduce our profitability and the return on your investment.  

Our retail tenants face potentially changing consumer preferences and increasing competition from other forms of retailing, such as discount 
shopping centers, outlet centers, upscale neighborhood strip centers, catalogues and other forms of direct marketing, discount shopping clubs, 
internet websites and telemarketing. Other retail centers within the market area of our properties may compete with our properties for customers, 
affecting their tenants' cash flows and thus affecting their ability to pay rent. In addition, some of our tenants' rent payments may be based on the 
amount of sales revenue that they generate. If these tenants experience competition, the amount of their rent may decrease and our cash flow will 
decrease.  

Lodging Industry Risks  

Our hotel is subject to all the risks common to the hotel industry and subject to market conditions that affect all hotel properties.  

One of the properties we own is a hotel, subject to all the risks of the hotel industry. Adverse trends in the hotel industry could adversely 
affect hotel occupancy and the rates that can be charged for hotel rooms as well as hotel operating expenses, and generally include:  
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•  increases in supply of hotel rooms that exceed increases in demand; 

•  increases in energy costs and other travel expenses that reduce business and leisure travel; 

•  reduced business and leisure travel due to continued geo-political uncertainty, including terrorism; 

•  reduced business and leisure travel from other countries to the United States due to the strength of the U.S. Dollar as compared to the 
currencies of other countries;  

•  adverse effects of declines in general and local economic activity; 

•  adverse effects of a downturn in the hotel industry; and 

•  risks generally associated with the ownership of hotels and real estate, as discussed below. 
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We do not have control over the market and business conditions that affect the value of our lodging properties, and adverse changes with 
respect to such conditions could have an adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. Hotel properties are 
subject to varying degrees of risk generally common to the ownership of hotels, many of which are beyond our control, including the following:  

Adverse changes in any or all of these factors could have an adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows, 
thereby adversely impacting our ability to service debt and to pay dividends to our stockholders.  

In addition, the seasonality of the hotel industry can be expected to cause quarterly fluctuations in our revenues and also may be adversely 
affected by factors outside our control, such as extreme or unexpectedly mild weather conditions or natural disasters, terrorist attacks or alerts, 
outbreaks of contagious diseases, airline strikes, economic factors and other considerations affecting travel. To the extent that cash flows from 
operations are insufficient during any quarter, due to temporary or seasonal fluctuations in revenues, we may attempt to borrow in order to pay 
dividends to our stockholders or be required to reduce other expenditures or dividends to stockholders.  

As a REIT, we cannot directly operate our lodging properties, which could adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition and 
our cash flows, which could impact our ability to service debt and pay dividends to our stockholders.  

We cannot and do not directly operate our lodging properties and, as a result, our results of operations, financial position, ability to service 
debt and our ability to pay dividends to stockholders are dependent on the ability of our third-party management companies and our tenants to 
operate our hotel properties successfully. In order for us to satisfy certain REIT qualification rules, we cannot directly operate any lodging 
properties or actively participate in the decisions affecting their daily operations. The lodging properties we acquire are leased to one or more 
taxable REIT subsidiaries ("TRSs"), which enter into property management agreements with our Property Manager, which, in turn, enters into 
agreements with third-party sub-property managers to operate the properties that we lease to a TRS. We cannot and do not control this third-
party management company, who is responsible for maintenance and other day-to-day management of our lodging properties, including, but not 
limited to, the implementation of significant operating decisions. Thus, even if we believe our lodging properties are being operated inefficiently 
or in a manner that does not result in satisfactory operating results, we may not be able to require the third-party management company or the 
tenants to change their method of operation of our lodging properties. Our results of operations, financial position, cash flows and our ability to 
service debt and to pay dividends to stockholders are, therefore, dependent on the ability of our third-party management company and tenants to 
operate our lodging properties successfully. Any negative publicity or other adverse developments that affect that operator and/or its affiliated 
brands generally may adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition, and consequently cash flows thereby impacting our ability to 
service debt, and to pay dividends to our stockholders. There can be no assurance that our affiliate will continue to manage any lodging 
properties we acquire.  
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•  increased competition from other existing hotels in our markets; 

•  new hotels entering our markets, which may adversely affect the occupancy levels and average daily rates of our lodging properties; 

•  declines in business and leisure travel; 

•  increases in energy costs, increased threat of terrorism, terrorist events, airline strikes or other factors that may affect travel patterns and 
reduce the number of business and leisure travelers;  

•  increases in operating costs due to inflation and other factors that may not be offset by increased room rates; 

•  unavailability of labor; 

•  changes in, and the related costs of compliance with, governmental laws and regulations, fiscal policies and zoning ordinances; 

•  inability to adapt to dominant trends in the hotel industry or introduce new concepts and products that take advantage of opportunities 
created by changing consumer spending patterns and demographics; and  

•  adverse effects of international, national, regional and local economic and market conditions. 
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We rely on a third-party hotel management companies to establish and maintain adequate internal controls over financial reporting at our 
lodging properties. We do not, however, control the design or implementation of or changes to internal controls at any of our lodging properties. 
Thus, even if we believe that our lodging properties are being operated without effective internal controls, we may not be able to require the 
third-party management company to change its internal control structure. This could require us to implement extensive and possibly inefficient 
controls at a parent level in an attempt to mitigate such deficiencies. If such controls are not effective, the accuracy of the results of our 
operations that we report could be affected. Accordingly, our ability to conclude that, as a company, our internal controls are effective is 
significantly dependent upon the effectiveness of internal controls that our third-party management company will implement at our lodging 
properties. It is possible that we could have a significant deficiency or material weakness as a result of the ineffectiveness of the internal controls 
at one or more of our lodging properties.  

If we replace a third-party management company, we may be required by the terms of the relevant management agreement to pay substantial 
termination fees, and we may experience significant disruptions at the affected lodging properties. We may not be able to make arrangements 
with a third-party management company with substantial prior lodging experience in the future. If we experience such disruptions, it may 
adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition and our cash flows, including our ability to service debt and to pay dividends to our 
stockholders.  

Our use of the TRS structure increases our expenses.  

A TRS structure subjects us to the risk of increased lodging operating expenses. The performance of our TRSs will be based on the 
operations of our lodging properties. Our operating risks include not only changes in hotel revenues and changes to our TRSs' ability to pay the 
rent due to us under the leases, but also increased hotel operating expenses, including, but not limited to, the following cost elements:  

• wage and benefit costs;  

• repair and maintenance expenses;  

• energy costs;  

• property taxes;  

• insurance costs; and  

• other operating expenses.  

Any increases in one or more these operating expenses could have a significant adverse impact on our results of operations, cash flows and 
financial position.  

Failure to maintain franchise licenses could decrease our revenues.  

The one hotel we owned as of December 31, 2014 was not subject to a franchise license but any hotels we acquire in the future may be 
subject to a franchise license. The inability to maintain franchise licenses could decrease our revenues. Maintenance of franchise licenses for our 
lodging properties is subject to maintaining our franchisor’s operating standards and other terms and conditions. Franchisors periodically inspect 
lodging properties to ensure that such lodging properties are maintained in accordance with their standards. Failure to maintain our lodging 
properties in accordance with these standards or comply with other terms and conditions of the applicable franchise agreement could result in a 
franchise license being canceled. If a franchise license terminates due to our failure to make required improvements or to otherwise comply with 
its terms, we may also be liable to the franchisor for a termination fee. As a condition to the maintenance of a franchise license, our franchisor 
could also require us to make capital expenditures, even if we do not believe the capital improvements are necessary, desirable, or likely to result 
in an acceptable return on our investment. We may risk losing a franchise license if we do not make franchisor-required capital expenditures.  

If our franchisor terminates the franchise license, we may try either to obtain a suitable replacement franchise or to operate the lodging 
property without a franchise license. The loss of a franchise license could materially and adversely affect the operations or the underlying value 
of the lodging property because of the loss associated with the brand recognition and/or the marketing support and centralized reservation 
systems provided by the franchisor. A loss of a franchise license for one or more lodging properties could materially and adversely affect our 
results of operations, financial condition and our cash flows, including our ability to service debt and pay dividends to our stockholders.  
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There are risks associated with employing hotel employees.  

We are generally subject to risks associated with the employment of hotel employees. The lodging properties we acquire are leased to one or 
more TRSs, which enter into property management agreements with our Property Manager, which, in turn, enters into agreements with third-
party sub-property managers to operate the properties that we lease to a TRS. Hotel operating revenues and expenses for these properties are 
included in our consolidated results of operations. As a result, although we do not directly employ or manage the labor force at our lodging 
properties, we are subject to many of the costs and risks generally associated with the hotel labor force. Our third-party sub-property manager is 
responsible for hiring and maintaining the labor force at each our lodging properties and for establishing and maintaining the appropriate 
processes and controls over such activities. From time to time, the operations of our lodging properties may be disrupted through strikes, public 
demonstrations or other labor actions and related publicity. We may also incur increased legal costs and indirect labor costs as a result of the 
aforementioned disruptions, or contract disputes or other events. Our third-party sub-property managers may be targeted by union actions or 
adversely impacted by the disruption caused by organizing activities. Significant adverse disruptions caused by union activities or increased 
costs affiliated with such activities could materially and adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition and our cash flows, 
including our ability to service debt and pay dividends to our stockholders.  

The expanding use of Internet travel websites by customers can adversely affect our profitability.  

The increasing use of Internet travel intermediaries by consumers may experience fluctuations in operating performance during the year and 
otherwise adversely affect our profitability and cash flows. Our Property Manager and any third-party property manager will rely upon Internet 
travel intermediaries such as Travelocity.com, Expedia.com, Orbitz.com, Hotels.com and Priceline.com to generate demand for our lodging 
properties. As Internet bookings increase, these intermediaries may be able to obtain higher commissions, reduced room rates or other significant 
contract concessions from our property manager or any third-party property manager. Moreover, some of these Internet travel intermediaries are 
attempting to offer hotel rooms as a commodity, by increasing the importance of price and general indicators of quality (such as ‘‘three-star 
downtown hotel’’) at the expense of brand identification. Consumers may eventually develop brand loyalties to their reservations system rather 
than to our property manager or any third-party property manager and/or our brands, which could have an adverse effect on our business because 
we will rely heavily on brand identification. If the amount of sales made through Internet intermediaries increases significantly and our property 
manager or a third-party property manager fails to appropriately price room inventory in a manner that maximizes the opportunity for enhanced 
profit margins, room revenues may flatten or decrease and our profitability may be adversely affected.  

Residential Industry Risks  

The short-term nature of our residential leases may adversely impact our income.  

We own one residential property and may acquire additional residential properties in the future. If our residents decide not to renew their 
leases upon expiration, we may not be able to re-let their units. Because substantially all our residential leases are or will be for apartments, they 
generally are or will be for terms of no more than one or two years. If we are unable to promptly renew the leases or re-let the units then our 
results of operations and financial condition will be adversely affected. Certain significant expenditures associated with each equity investment 
in real estate (such as mortgage payments, real estate taxes and maintenance costs) are generally not reduced when circumstances result in a 
reduction in rental income.  

An economic downturn could adversely affect the residential industry and may affect operations for the residential properties that we 
acquire.  

As a result of the effects of an economic downturn, including increased unemployment rates, the residential industry may experience a 
significant decline in business caused by a reduction in overall renters. An economic downturn and any corresponding increase in unemployment 
rates may have an adverse effect on our operations if the tenants occupying the residential properties we acquire or have acquired cease making 
rent payments to us. Moreover, low residential mortgage interest rates could accompany an economic downturn and encourage potential renters 
to purchase residences rather than lease them. Our residential properties may experience declines in occupancy rate due to a decline in residential 
mortgage interest rates.  

Industrial Industry Risks  

Potential liability as the result of, and the cost of compliance with, environmental matters is greater if we invest in industrial properties or 
lease our properties to tenants that engage in industrial activities.  

Under various federal, state and local environmental laws, ordinances and regulations, a current or previous owner or operator of real 
property may be liable for the cost of removal or remediation of hazardous or toxic substances on such property. Such laws often impose liability 
whether or not the owner or operator knew of, or was responsible for, the presence of such hazardous or toxic substances.  
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We may invest in properties historically used for industrial, manufacturing and commercial purposes. Some of these properties are more 
likely to contain, or may have contained, underground storage tanks for the storage of petroleum products and other hazardous or toxic 
substances. All of these operations create a potential for the release of petroleum products or other hazardous or toxic substances.  

Leasing properties to tenants that engage in industrial, manufacturing and commercial activities will cause us to be subject to increased risk 
of liabilities under environmental laws and regulations. The presence of hazardous or toxic substances, or the failure to properly remediate these 
substances, may adversely affect our ability to sell, rent or pledge such property as collateral for future borrowings.  

The demand for and profitability of our industrial properties may be adversely affected by fluctuations in manufacturing activity in the 
United States.  

Our industrial properties may be adversely affected if manufacturing activity decreases in the United States. Trade agreements with foreign 
countries have given employers the option to utilize less expensive non-US manufacturing workers. The outsourcing of manufacturing functions 
could lower the demand for our industrial properties. Moreover, an increase in the cost of raw materials or decrease in the demand of housing 
could cause a slowdown in manufacturing activity, such as furniture, textiles, machinery and chemical products, and our profitability may be 
adversely affected.  

Our portfolio may be negatively impacted by a high concentration of industrial tenants in a single industry.  

If we invest in industrial properties, we may lease properties to tenants that engage in similar industrial, manufacturing and commercial 
activities. A high concentration of tenants in a specific industry would magnify the adverse impact that a downturn in such industry might 
otherwise have to our portfolio.  

Risks Associated with Debt Financing and Investments  

We have outstanding debt, and the amount of debt and its cost may increase and refinancing may not be available on acceptable terms.  

Our business is subject to risks normally associated with debt financing. The total principal amount of our combined outstanding 
indebtedness, which generally comprises mortgage loans on our properties, our pro rata share of Worldwide Plaza's indebtedness and the term 
loan and revolving components of our unsecured credit facility (the “Credit Facility”) with Capital One, National Association, was $1.2 billion 
as of December 31, 2014 . We rely on both secured and unsecured, variable rate and non-variable rate debt to finance acquisitions and 
development activities and for working capital. We have also funded the payment of dividends with proceeds from debt. We may borrow if we 
need funds to satisfy the REIT tax qualification requirement that we distribute at least 90% of our annual REIT taxable income to our 
stockholders. We also may borrow if we otherwise deem it necessary or advisable to assure that we maintain our qualification as a REIT.  

If we are unable to obtain debt financing or refinance existing indebtedness upon maturity, our financial condition and results of operations 
would likely be adversely affected. Our substantial indebtedness and the cash flow associated with serving our indebtedness could have 
important consequences, including the risks that:      
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•  our cash flow could be insufficient to pay dividends at expected levels and meet required payments of principal and interest;     

•  we might be required to use a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to pay our indebtedness, thereby reducing the 
availability of our cash flow to fund the implementation of our business strategy, acquisitions, capital expenditures and other general 
corporate purposes;      

•  our debt service obligations could limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which 
we operate;  

•  we may not be able to refinance existing indebtedness (which requires substantial principal payments at maturity) and, if we can, the 
terms of such refinancing might not be as favorable as the terms of existing indebtedness;  

•  if principal payments due at maturity cannot be refinanced, extended or paid with proceeds of other capital transactions, such as new 
equity capital, our cash flow will not be sufficient in all years to repay all maturing debt; and      

•  if prevailing interest rates or other factors at the time of refinancing (such as the possible reluctance of lenders to make commercial real 
estate loans) result in higher interest rates, increased interest expense would adversely affect net income, cash flow and our ability to 
service debt and pay dividends to stockholders.  
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In addition, incurring mortgage debt increases the risk of loss since defaults on indebtedness secured by a property may result in lenders 
initiating foreclosure actions. In that case, we could lose the property securing the loan that is in default, thus reducing the value of your 
investment. For U.S. federal income tax purposes, a foreclosure of any of our properties would be treated as a sale of the property for a purchase 
price equal to the outstanding balance of the debt secured by the mortgage. If the outstanding balance of the debt secured by the mortgage 
exceeds our tax basis in the property, we would recognize taxable income on foreclosure, but would not receive any cash proceeds. In such 
event, we may be unable to pay the amount of dividends required in order to maintain our REIT status. We may give full or partial guarantees to 
lenders of mortgage debt to the entities that own our properties. When we provide a guaranty on behalf of an entity that owns one of our 
properties, we will be responsible to the lender for satisfaction of the debt if it is not paid by such entity. If any mortgages contain cross-
collateralization or cross-default provisions, a default on a single property could affect multiple properties. If any of our properties are foreclosed 
upon due to a default, our ability to pay cash dividends to our stockholders will be adversely affected which could result in our losing our REIT 
status and would result in a decrease in the value of your investment.  

Covenants in the instruments governing our existing indebtedness limit our operational and financial flexibility, and a covenant breach 
could materially adversely affect our operations.  

Our Credit Facility contains certain financial and operating covenants that limit our financial and operational flexibility. The operating 
covenants limit our ability to incur secured and unsecured debt, sell all or substantially all of our assets, make restricted payments (including 
dividends to our stockholders), engage in mergers and consolidations, enter into transactions with affiliates and take certain other actions. Our 
Credit Facility requires us to meet certain financial covenants, including the maintenance of certain financial ratios (such as specified debt to 
equity and debt service coverage ratios) as well as the maintenance of a minimum net worth. The mortgage loans we have, or may in the future 
enter into, include, and may include, other financial and operating covenants.  

These covenants may restrict our ability to pursue certain business initiatives or certain acquisition transactions that would otherwise be in 
our best interest. In the event that we fail to satisfy our covenants, we would be in default under our unsecured Credit Facility and may be 
required to repay our indebtedness with capital from other sources. Under such circumstances, other sources of debt or equity capital may not be 
available to us, or may be available only on unattractive terms. Moreover, the presence of financial covenants could cause us to operate our 
business with a view toward compliance with such covenants, which might not produce optimal returns for shareholders.  

Our available capacity under our Credit Facility depends on our borrowing base properties.  

As of December 31, 2014 , the outstanding balance of the term loan and revolving components of our Credit Facility was $305.0 million and 
$330.0 million , respectively. While the aggregate commitments under the Credit Facility allow for total borrowings of up to $705.0 million with 
a $305.0 million term loan and a $400.0 million revolving loan and contain an “accordion feature” to allow us, under certain circumstances and 
to the extent agreed to by our lenders, to increase the aggregate loan borrowings to up to $1.0 billion of total borrowings, the actual availability 
of borrowings under our Credit Facility for any period is based on our borrowing base properties. The unused borrowing capacity, based on our 
borrowing base properties as of December 31, 2014 , was $6.0 million .  

If the financial results of the borrowing base properties deteriorate, or if their values decline, the maximum availability under the Credit 
Facility may decline and we may be required to make mandatory repayments of principal outstanding to avoid a default under the Credit Facility, 
absent an amendment or waiver.  

During the year ended December 31, 2014 , we used proceeds from the Credit Facility to make acquisitions, pay dividends and to fund 
working capital needs.  

If we are unable to borrow under our Credit Facility due to a decrease in the available capacity or for any other reason,, we may be prevented 
from acquiring additional properties, funding our working capital needs or our dividends to our stockholders, and other sources of debt or equity 
capital may not be available to us, or may be available only on unattractive terms. A decrease in the available capacity under our Credit Facility 
could have an adverse effect on our results of operations.  
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Increases in interest rates could increase the amount of our debt payments and adversely affect our ability to pay dividends to our 
stockholders.  

We have incurred substantial indebtedness, of which $555.0 million outstanding as of December 31, 2014 , among other things, bears 
interest at variable interest rates that have not been hedged against. Accordingly, increases in interest rates would increase our interest costs, 
which could reduce our cash flows and our ability to pay dividends to you. In addition, if we need to repay existing debt during periods of rising 
interest rates, we could be required to liquidate one or more of our investments in properties at times that may not permit realization of the 
maximum return on such investments.  

U.S. Federal Income Tax Risks  

Our failure to remain qualified as a REIT would subject us to U.S. federal income tax and potentially state and local tax, and would 
adversely affect our operations.  

We have elected to be taxed as a REIT commencing with our taxable year ended December 31, 2010 and intend to operate in a manner that 
would allow us to continue to qualify as a REIT. However, we may terminate our REIT qualification, if our board of directors determines that 
not qualifying as a REIT is in our best interests, or inadvertently. Our qualification as a REIT depends upon our satisfaction of certain asset, 
income, organizational, distribution, stockholder ownership and other requirements on a continuing basis. The REIT qualification requirements 
are extremely complex and interpretation of the U.S. federal income tax laws governing qualification as a REIT is limited. Furthermore, any 
opinion of our counsel, including tax counsel, as to our eligibility to qualify or remain qualified as a REIT is not binding on the Internal Revenue 
Service "IRS") and is not a guarantee that we will qualify, or continue to qualify, as a REIT. Accordingly, we cannot be certain that we will be 
successful in operating so we can qualify or remain qualified as a REIT. Our ability to satisfy the asset tests depends on our analysis of the 
characterization and fair market values of our assets, some of which are not susceptible to a precise determination, and for which we will not 
obtain independent appraisals. Our compliance with the REIT income or quarterly asset requirements also depends on our ability to successfully 
manage the composition of our income and assets on an ongoing basis. Accordingly, if certain of our operations were to be recharacterized by 
the IRS, such recharacterization would jeopardize our ability to satisfy all requirements for qualification as a REIT. Furthermore, future 
legislative, judicial or administrative changes to the U.S. federal income tax laws could be applied retroactively, which could result in our 
disqualification as a REIT.  

If we fail to continue to qualify as a REIT for any taxable year, and we do not qualify for certain statutory relief provisions, we will be 
subject to U.S. federal income tax on our taxable income at corporate rates. In addition, we would generally be disqualified from treatment as a 
REIT for the four taxable years following the year of losing our REIT qualification. Losing our REIT qualification would reduce our net 
earnings available for investment or distribution to stockholders because of the additional tax liability. In addition, dividends to stockholders 
would no longer qualify for the dividends paid deduction, and we would no longer be required to pay dividends. If this occurs, we might be 
required to borrow funds or liquidate some investments in order to pay the applicable tax.  

Even if we qualify as a REIT, in certain circumstances, we may incur tax liabilities that would reduce our cash available for other purposes.  

Even if we qualify and maintain our status as a REIT, we may be subject to U.S. federal, state and local income taxes. For example, net 
income from the sale of properties that are "dealer" properties sold by a REIT (a "prohibited transaction" under the Code) will be subject to a 
100% tax. We may not distribute sufficient dividends to avoid excise taxes applicable to REITs. We also may decide to retain net capital gain we 
earn from the sale or other disposition of our property and pay U.S. federal income tax directly on such income. In that event, our stockholders 
would be treated as if they earned that income and paid the tax on it directly. However, stockholders that are tax-exempt, such as charities or 
qualified pension plans, would have no benefit from their deemed payment of such tax liability unless they file U.S. federal income tax returns 
and thereon seek a refund of such tax. We also will be subject to corporate tax on any undistributed REIT taxable income. We also may be 
subject to state and local taxes on our income or property, including franchise, payroll and transfer taxes, either directly or at the level of our 
operating partnership or at the level of the other companies through which we indirectly own our assets, such as our TRSs, which are subject to 
full U.S. federal, state, local and foreign corporate-level income taxes. Any taxes we pay directly or indirectly will reduce our cash available for 
other purposes.  
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To qualify as a REIT we must meet annual distribution requirements, which may force us to forgo otherwise attractive opportunities or 
borrow funds during unfavorable market conditions. This could delay or hinder our ability to meet our investment objectives.  

In order to qualify as a REIT, we must distribute annually to our stockholders at least 90% of our REIT taxable income (which does not 
equal net income, as calculated in accordance with GAAP), determined without regard to the deduction for dividends paid and excluding net 
capital gain. We will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on our undistributed REIT taxable income and net capital gain and to a 4% 
nondeductible excise tax on any amount by which dividends we pay with respect to any calendar year are less than the sum of (a) 85% of our 
ordinary income, (b) 95% of our capital gain net income and (c) 100% of our undistributed income from prior years. These requirements could 
cause us to distribute amounts that otherwise would be spent on investments in real estate assets and it is possible that we might be required to 
borrow funds, possibly at unfavorable rates, or sell assets to fund these distributions. It is possible that we might not always be able to pay 
distributions sufficient to meet the annual distribution requirements and to avoid U.S. federal income and excise taxes on our earnings while we 
qualify as a REIT.  

Certain of our business activities are potentially subject to the prohibited transaction tax.  

For so long as we qualify as a REIT, our ability to dispose of property during the first few years following acquisition may be restricted to a 
substantial extent as a result of our REIT qualification. Under applicable provisions of the Code regarding prohibited transactions by REITs, 
while we qualify as a REIT, we will be subject to a 100% penalty tax on any gain recognized on the sale or other disposition of any property 
(other than foreclosure property) that we own, directly or indirectly through any subsidiary entity, including our operating partnership, but 
generally excluding TRSs, that is deemed to be inventory or property held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of a trade or 
business. Whether property is inventory or otherwise held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of a trade or business depends 
on the particular facts and circumstances surrounding each property. We intend to avoid the 100% prohibited transaction tax by (a) conducting 
activities that may otherwise be considered prohibited transactions through a TRS (but such TRS would incur corporate rate income taxes with 
respect to any income or gain recognized by it), (b) conducting our operations in such a manner so that no sale or other disposition of an asset we 
own, directly or indirectly through any subsidiary, will be treated as a prohibited transaction, or (c) structuring certain dispositions of our 
properties to comply with the requirements of the prohibited transaction safe harbor available under the Code for properties that, among other 
requirements, have been held for at least two years. Despite our present intention, no assurance can be given that any particular property we own, 
directly or through any subsidiary entity, including our operating partnership, but generally excluding TRSs will not be treated as inventory or 
property held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of a trade or business.  

Our TRSs are subject to corporate-level taxes and our dealings with our TRSs may be subject to 100% excise tax.  

A REIT may own up to 100% of the stock of one or more TRSs. Both the subsidiary and the REIT must jointly elect to treat the subsidiary 
as a TRS. A corporation of which a TRS directly or indirectly owns more than 35% of the voting power or value of the stock will automatically 
be treated as a TRS. Overall, no more than 25% of the gross value of a REIT's assets may consist of stock or securities of one or more TRSs.  

A TRS may hold assets and earn income that would not be qualifying assets or income if held or earned directly by a REIT, including gross 
income from operations pursuant to management contracts. We may operate our "qualified assets" through one or more TRSs that lease such 
properties from us. We may use our TRSs generally for other activities as well, such as to hold properties for sale in the ordinary course of a 
trade or business or to hold assets or conduct activities that we cannot conduct directly as a REIT. A TRS will be subject to applicable U.S. 
federal, state, local and foreign income tax on its taxable income. In addition, the rules, which are applicable to us as a REIT, also impose a 
100% excise tax on certain transactions between a TRS and its parent REIT that are not conducted on an arm's-length basis.  

If our leases to our TRSs are not respected as true leases for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we would fail to qualify as a REIT.  

To qualify as a REIT, we must satisfy two gross income tests, under which specified percentages of our gross income must be derived from 
certain sources, such as "rents from real property." Rents paid to our operating partnership by our TRSs pursuant to the lease of our "qualified 
assets" will constitute substantially all of our gross income. In order for such rent to qualify as "rents from real property" for purposes of the 
REIT gross income tests, the leases must be respected as true leases for U.S. federal income tax purposes and not be treated as service contracts, 
joint ventures or some other type of arrangement. If our leases are not respected as true leases for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we would 
fail to qualify as a REIT.  
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If our OP failed to qualify as a partnership or is not otherwise disregarded for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we would cease to qualify as 
a REIT.  

We intend to maintain the status of our operating partnership as a partnership or a disregarded entity for U.S. federal income tax purposes. 
However, if the IRS were to successfully challenge the status of our OP as a partnership or disregarded entity for such purposes, it would be 
taxable as a corporation. In such event, this would reduce the amount of distributions that our OP could make to us. This also would result in our 
failing to qualify as a REIT, and becoming subject to a corporate level tax on our income. This substantially would reduce our cash available to 
pay dividends and the yield on your investment. In addition, if any of the partnerships or limited liability companies through which our OP owns 
its properties, in whole or in part, loses its characterization as a partnership and is otherwise not disregarded for U.S. federal income tax 
purposes, it would be subject to taxation as a corporation, thereby reducing distributions to the OP. Such a recharacterization of an underlying 
property owner could also threaten our ability to maintain our REIT qualification.  

Our investments in certain debt instruments may cause us to recognize income for U.S. federal income tax purposes even though no cash 
payments have been received on the debt instruments, and certain modifications of such debt by us could cause the modified debt to not 
qualify as a good REIT asset, thereby jeopardizing our REIT qualification.  

Our taxable income may substantially exceed our net income as determined based on GAAP, or differences in timing between the 
recognition of taxable income and the actual receipt of cash may occur. For example, we may acquire assets, including debt securities requiring 
us to accrue original issue discount ("OID") or recognize market discount income, that generate taxable income in excess of economic income or 
in advance of the corresponding cash flow from the assets. In addition, if a borrower with respect to a particular debt instrument encounters 
financial difficulty rendering it unable to pay stated interest as due, we may nonetheless be required to continue to recognize the unpaid interest 
as taxable income with the effect that we will recognize income but will not have a corresponding amount of cash available for distribution to 
our stockholders.  

As a result of the foregoing, we may generate less cash flow than taxable income in a particular year and find it difficult or impossible to 
meet the REIT distribution requirements in certain circumstances. In such circumstances, we may be required to (a) sell assets in adverse market 
conditions, (b) borrow on unfavorable terms, (c) distribute amounts that would otherwise be used for future acquisitions or used to repay debt, or 
(d) make a taxable dividend of our shares of common stock as part of a dividend in which stockholders may elect to receive shares of common 
stock or (subject to a limit measured as a percentage of the total dividend) cash, in order to comply with the REIT distribution requirements.  

Moreover, we may acquire distressed debt investments that require subsequent modification by agreement with the borrower. If the 
amendments to the outstanding debt are "significant modifications" under the applicable Treasury Regulations, the modified debt may be 
considered to have been reissued to us in a debt-for-debt taxable exchange with the borrower. This deemed reissuance may prevent the modified 
debt from qualifying as a good REIT asset if the underlying security has declined in value and would cause us to recognize income to the extent 
the principal amount of the modified debt exceeds our adjusted tax basis in the unmodified debt.  

The failure of a mezzanine loan to qualify as a real estate asset would adversely affect our ability to qualify as a REIT.  

In general, in order for a loan to be treated as a qualifying real estate asset producing qualifying income for purposes of the REIT asset and 
income tests, the loan must be secured by real property. We may acquire mezzanine loans that are not directly secured by real property but 
instead secured by equity interests in a partnership or limited liability company that directly or indirectly owns real property. In Revenue 
Procedure 2003-65, the IRS provided a safe harbor pursuant to which a mezzanine loan that is not secured by real estate would, if it meets each 
of the requirements contained in the Revenue Procedure, be treated by the IRS as a qualifying real estate asset. Although the Revenue Procedure 
provides a safe harbor on which taxpayers may rely, it does not prescribe rules of substantive tax law and in many cases it may not be possible 
for us to meet all the requirements of the safe harbor. We cannot provide assurance that any mezzanine loan in which we invest would be treated 
as a qualifying asset producing qualifying income for REIT qualification purposes. If any such loan fails either the REIT income or asset tests, 
we may be disqualified as a REIT.  
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We may choose to pay dividends in our own stock, in which case the stockholder may be required to pay U.S. federal income taxes in excess 
of the cash dividends received by them.  

In connection with our qualification as a REIT, we are required to distribute annually to our stockholders at least 90% of our REIT taxable 
income (which does not equal net income, as calculated in accordance with GAAP), determined without regard to the deduction for dividends 
paid and excluding net capital gain. In order to satisfy this requirement, we may pay dividends that are payable in cash and/or shares of our 
common stock (which could account for up to 80% of the aggregate amount of such dividends) at the election of each stockholder. Taxable 
stockholders receiving such dividends will be required to include the full amount of such dividends as ordinary dividend income to the extent of 
our current or accumulated earnings and profits, as determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As a result, U.S. stockholders may be 
required to pay U.S. federal income taxes with respect to such dividends in excess of the cash portion of the dividend received. Accordingly, 
U.S. stockholders receiving a dividend of our shares may be required to sell shares received in such dividend or may be required to sell other 
stock or assets owned by them, at a time that may be disadvantageous, in order to satisfy any tax imposed on such dividend. If a U.S. stockholder 
sells the stock that it receives as part of the dividend in order to pay this tax, the sales proceeds may be less than the amount included in income 
with respect to the dividend, depending on the market price of our stock at the time of the sale. Furthermore, with respect to certain non-U.S. 
stockholders, we may be required to withhold U.S. tax with respect to such dividend, including in respect of all or a portion of such dividend that 
is payable in stock, by withholding or disposing of part of the shares included in such dividend and using the proceeds of such disposition to 
satisfy the withholding tax imposed.  

Various tax aspects of such a taxable cash/stock dividend are uncertain and have not yet been addressed by the IRS. No assurance can be 
given that the IRS will not impose requirements in the future with respect to taxable cash/stock dividends, including on a retroactive basis, or 
assert that the requirements for such taxable cash/stock dividends have not been met.  

The taxation of amounts paid to our stockholders may be taxable as ordinary income, which may reduce your anticipated return from an 
investment in us.  

Amounts that we pay to our stockholders generally referred to herein as "dividends" will generally be taxable as ordinary income if paid out 
of current and accumulated earnings and profits (and not designated as capital gain dividends or qualified dividend income). However, a portion 
of amounts paid to our stockholders may (1) be designated by us as capital gain dividends generally taxable as long-term capital gain to the 
extent that they are attributable to net capital gain recognized by us, (2) be designated by us as qualified dividend income generally to the extent 
they are attributable to dividends we receive from our TRSs, or (3) constitute a return of capital generally to the extent that the payment exceeds 
our accumulated earnings and profits as determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes. A return of capital is not taxable, but has the effect of 
reducing the basis of a stockholder's investment in our common stock.  

Our stockholders may have tax liability on amounts that they elect to reinvest in common stock, but they would not receive the cash to pay 
any resulting tax liability.  

Stockholders who participated in our DRIP will have been deemed to have received, and for U.S. federal income tax purposes will be taxed 
on, the amount reinvested in shares of our common stock to the extent the amount reinvested was not a tax-free return of capital. In addition, our 
stockholders will be treated for tax purposes as having received an additional amount to the extent the shares are purchased at a discount to fair 
market value. As a result, unless a stockholder is a tax-exempt entity, it may have to use funds from other sources to pay its tax liability on the 
value of the shares of common stock received.  

Dividends payable by REITs generally do not qualify for the reduced tax rates available for some dividends.  

Currently, the maximum tax rate applicable to qualified dividend income payable to U.S. stockholders that are individuals, trusts and estates 
is 20%. Dividends payable by REITs, however, generally are not eligible for this reduced rate. Although this does not adversely affect the 
taxation of REITs or dividends payable by REITs, the more favorable rates applicable to regular corporate qualified dividends could cause 
investors who are individuals, trusts and estates to perceive investments in REITs to be relatively less attractive than investments in the stocks of 
non-REIT corporations that pay dividends, which could adversely affect the value of the shares of REITs, including our common stock. Tax 
rates could be changed in future legislation.  
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If we were considered to actually or constructively pay a "preferential dividend" to certain of our stockholders, our status as a REIT could be 
adversely affected.  

In order to qualify as a REIT, we must distribute annually to our stockholders at least 90% of our REIT taxable income (which does not 
equal net income, as calculated in accordance with GAAP), determined without regard to the deduction for dividends paid and excluding net 
capital gain. In order for dividends to be counted as satisfying the annual distribution requirements for REITs, and to provide us with a REIT-
level tax deduction, the dividends must not be "preferential dividends." A dividend is not a preferential dividend if the dividend is pro rata 
among all outstanding shares of stock within a particular class, and in accordance with the preferences among different classes of stock as set 
forth in our organizational documents. Currently, there is uncertainty as to the IRS's position regarding whether certain arrangements that REITs 
have with their stockholders could give rise to the inadvertent payment of a preferential dividend (e.g., the pricing methodology for stock 
purchased under a dividend reinvestment plan inadvertently causing a greater than 5% discount on the price of such stock purchased). While we 
believe that our operations have been structured in such a manner that we will not be treated as inadvertently paying preferential dividends, there 
is no de minimis exception with respect to preferential dividends. Therefore, if the IRS were to take the position that we inadvertently paid a 
preferential dividend, we may be deemed either to (a) have distributed less than 100% of our REIT taxable income and be subject to tax on the 
undistributed portion, or (b) have distributed less than 90% of our REIT taxable income and our status as a REIT could be terminated for the 
year in which such determination is made if we were unable to cure such failure.  

Complying with REIT requirements may limit our ability to hedge our liabilities effectively and may cause us to incur tax liabilities.  

The REIT provisions of the Code may limit our ability to hedge our liabilities. Any income from a hedging transaction we enter into to 
manage risk of interest rate changes, price changes or currency fluctuations with respect to borrowings made or to be made to acquire or carry 
real estate assets, if properly identified under applicable Treasury Regulations, does not constitute "gross income" for purposes of the 75% or 
95% gross income tests. To the extent that we enter into other types of hedging transactions, the income from those transactions will likely be 
treated as non-qualifying income for purposes of both of the gross income tests. As a result of these rules, we may need to limit our use of 
advantageous hedging techniques or implement those hedges through a TRS. This could increase the cost of our hedging activities because our 
TRSs would be subject to tax on gains or expose us to greater risks associated with changes in interest rates than we would otherwise want to 
bear. In addition, losses in a TRS generally will not provide any tax benefit, except for being carried forward against future taxable income of 
such TRS.  

Complying with REIT requirements may force us to forego and/or liquidate otherwise attractive investment opportunities.  

To qualify as a REIT, we must ensure that we meet the REIT gross income tests annually and that at the end of each calendar quarter, at 
least 75% of the value of our assets consists of cash, cash items, government securities and qualified REIT real estate assets, including certain 
mortgage loans and certain kinds of mortgage-related securities. The remainder of our investment in securities (other than government securities 
and qualified real estate assets) generally cannot include more than 10% of the outstanding voting securities of any one issuer or more than 10% 
of the total value of the outstanding securities of any one issuer. In addition, in general, no more than 5% of the value of our assets can consist of 
the securities of any one issuer (other than government securities and qualified real estate assets) and no more than 25% of the value of our total 
assets can be represented by securities of one or more TRSs. If we fail to comply with these requirements at the end of any calendar quarter, we 
must correct the failure within 30 days after the end of the calendar quarter or qualify for certain statutory relief provisions to avoid losing our 
REIT qualification and suffering adverse tax consequences. As a result, we may be required to liquidate assets from our portfolio or not make 
otherwise attractive investments in order to maintain our qualification as a REIT. These actions could have the effect of reducing our income and 
amounts available for distribution to our stockholders.  

The ability of our board of directors to revoke our REIT qualification without stockholder approval may subject us to U.S. federal income tax 
and reduce dividends to our stockholders.  

Our charter provides that our board of directors may revoke or otherwise terminate our REIT election, without the approval of our 
stockholders, if it determines that it is no longer in our best interest to continue to qualify as a REIT. While we have elected to be taxed as a 
REIT, we may terminate our REIT election if we determine that qualifying as a REIT is no longer in our best interests. If we cease to be a REIT, 
we would become subject to U.S. federal income tax on our taxable income and would no longer be required to distribute most of our taxable 
income to our stockholders.  
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We may be subject to adverse legislative or regulatory tax changes that could increase our tax liability, reduce our operating flexibility and 
reduce the market price of our common stock.  

In recent years, numerous legislative, judicial and administrative changes have been made in the provisions of U.S. federal income tax laws 
applicable to investments similar to an investment in shares of our common stock. Additional changes to the tax laws are likely to continue to 
occur, and we cannot assure you that any such changes will not adversely affect the taxation of a stockholder. Any such changes could have an 
adverse effect on an investment in our shares or on the market value or the resale potential of our assets. You are urged to consult with your tax 
advisor with respect to the impact of recent legislation on your investment in our shares and the status of legislative, regulatory or administrative 
developments and proposals and their potential effect on an investment in our shares. You also should note that our counsel's tax opinion is 
based upon existing law, applicable as of the date of its opinion, all of which will be subject to change, either prospectively or retroactively.  

Although REITs generally receive better tax treatment than entities taxed as regular corporations, it is possible that future legislation would 
result in a REIT having fewer tax advantages, and it could become more advantageous for a company that invests in real estate to elect to be 
treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as a corporation. As a result, our charter provides our board of directors with the power, under 
certain circumstances, to revoke or otherwise terminate our REIT election and cause us to be taxed as a regular corporation, without the vote of 
our stockholders. Our board of directors has fiduciary duties to us and our stockholders and could only cause such changes in our tax treatment if 
it determines in good faith that such changes are in the best interest of our stockholders.  

The share ownership restrictions of the Code for REITs and the 9.8% share ownership limit in our charter may inhibit market activity in our 
shares of stock and restrict our business combination opportunities.  

In order to qualify as a REIT, five or fewer individuals, as defined in the Code, may not own, actually or constructively, more than 50% in 
value of our issued and outstanding shares of stock at any time during the last half of each taxable year, other than the first year for which a 
REIT election is made. Attribution rules in the Code determine if any individual or entity actually or constructively owns our shares of stock 
under this requirement. Additionally, at least 100 persons must beneficially own our shares of stock during at least 335 days of a taxable year for 
each taxable year, other than the first year for which a REIT election is made. To help insure that we meet these tests, among other purposes, our 
charter restricts the acquisition and ownership of our shares of stock.  

Our charter, with certain exceptions, authorizes our directors to take such actions as are necessary and desirable to preserve our qualification 
as a REIT while we so qualify. Unless exempted by our board of directors, for so long as we qualify as a REIT, our charter prohibits, among 
other limitations on ownership and transfer of shares of our stock, any person from beneficially or constructively owning (applying certain 
attribution rules under the Code) more than 9.8% in value of the aggregate of our outstanding shares of stock and more than 9.8% (in value or in 
number of shares, whichever is more restrictive) of any class or series of our shares of stock. Our board of directors may not grant an exemption 
from these restrictions to any proposed transferee whose ownership in excess of the 9.8% ownership limit would result in the termination of our 
qualification as a REIT. These restrictions on transferability and ownership will not apply, however, if our board of directors determines that it is 
no longer in our best interest to continue to qualify as a REIT or that compliance with the restrictions is no longer required in order for us to 
continue to qualify as a REIT.  

These ownership limits could delay or prevent a transaction or a change in control that might involve a premium price for our common stock 
or otherwise be in the best interest of the stockholders.  

Recharacterization of sale-leaseback transactions may cause us to lose our REIT status.  

If we enter into sale-leaseback transactions, we will use commercially reasonable efforts to structure any such sale- leaseback transaction 
such that the lease will be characterized as a "true lease" for tax purposes, thereby allowing us to be treated as the owner of the property for U.S. 
federal income tax purposes. The IRS may, however, challenge the characterization. In the event that any sale-leaseback transaction is 
challenged and recharacterized as a financing transaction or loan for U.S. federal income tax purposes, deductions for depreciation and cost 
recovery relating to the property would be disallowed. If a sale-leaseback transaction were so recharacterized, we might fail to satisfy the REIT 
qualification "asset tests" or "income tests" and, consequently, lose our REIT status effective with the year of recharacterization. Alternatively, 
the amount of our REIT taxable income could be recalculated which might also cause us to fail to meet the distribution requirement for a taxable 
year.  
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Non-U.S. stockholders will be subject to U.S. federal withholding tax and may be subject to U.S. federal income tax on dividends received 
from us and upon the disposition of our shares.  

Subject to certain exceptions, amounts paid by us to our stockholders will be treated as dividends of ordinary income to the extent of our 
current or accumulated earnings and profits. These dividends ordinarily will be subject to U.S. withholding tax at a 30% rate, or such lower rate 
as may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty, unless the dividends are treated as "effectively connected" with the conduct by the non-
U.S. stockholder of a U.S. trade or business. Pursuant to the Foreign Investment in Real Property Tax Act of 1980 ("FIRPTA") capital gain 
dividends attributable to sales or exchanges of "U.S. real property interests" ("USRPIs") generally will be taxed to a non-U.S. stockholder as if 
such gain were effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business. However, a capital gain dividend will not be treated as effectively connected 
income if (a) the dividend is received with respect to a class of stock that is regularly traded on an established securities market located in the 
United States and (b) the non-U.S. stockholder does not own more than 5% of the class of our stock at any time during the one- year period 
ending on the date the dividend is received.  

Gain recognized by a non-U.S. stockholder upon the sale or exchange of our common stock generally will not be subject to U.S. federal 
income taxation unless such stock constitutes a USRPI under FIRPTA. Our common stock will not constitute a USRPI so long as we are a 
"domestically-controlled qualified investment entity". A domestically-controlled qualified investment entity includes a REIT if at all times 
during a specified testing period, less than 50% in value of such REIT's stock is held directly or indirectly by non-U.S. stockholders. We believe, 
but cannot assure you, that we will be a domestically- controlled qualified investment entity.  

Even if we do not qualify as a domestically-controlled qualified investment entity at the time a non-U.S. stockholder sells or exchanges our 
common stock, gain arising from such a sale or exchange would not be subject to U.S. taxation under FIRPTA as a sale of a USRPI if (a) our 
common stock is "regularly traded," as defined by applicable Treasury regulations, on an established securities market, and (b) such non-U.S. 
stockholder owned, actually and constructively, 5% or less of our common stock at any time during the five-year period ending on the date of the 
sale.  

Potential characterization of dividends or gain on sale may be treated as unrelated business taxable income to tax- exempt investors.  

If (a) we are a "pension-held REIT," (b) a tax-exempt stockholder has incurred (or is deemed to have incurred) debt to purchase or hold our 
common stock, or (c) a holder of common stock is a certain type of tax-exempt stockholder, dividends on, and gains recognized on the sale of, 
common stock by such tax-exempt stockholder may be subject to U.S. federal income tax as unrelated business taxable income under the Code.  

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.  

Not applicable.  
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Item 2. Properties  

General  

As of December 31, 2014 , we owned 24 properties and real estate-related assets located in the New York MSA. The following table 
presents certain additional information about the properties we owned at December 31, 2014 , including our pro rata share of our unconsolidated 
joint venture:  

_________________________  

Property    Ownership    
Rentable 

Square Feet    
Percent 

Occupied    
Annualized Cash 

Rent (1)    

Annualized 
Cash Rent Per 
Occupied SF    

Number 
of Leases  

Manhattan Office Properties - Office                      (in thousands)            

Design Center      100.0%    81,082    100.0 %   $ 3,942    $ 48.62    19  
416 Washington Street      100.0%    1,565    100.0 %   56    36.02    1  
256 West 38th Street      100.0%    106,983    100.0 %   3,744    35.00    11  
229 West 36th Street      100.0%    128,762    90.5 %   4,497    38.60    6  
218 West 18th Street      100.0%    165,670    100.0 %   9,299    56.13    7  
50 Varick Street      100.0%    158,573    100.0 %   7,087    44.70    1  
333 West 34th Street      100.0%    317,040    100.0 %   13,793    43.51    3  
1440 Broadway      100.0%    726,344    89.2 %   38,153    58.87    10  
One Worldwide Plaza      48.9%    879,611    94.2 %   54,384    65.61    7  
245-249 West 17th Street      100.0%    217,577    98.7 %   14,718    68.53    1  
Manhattan Office Properties - Office Total           2,783,207    94.8 %   149,673    56.71    66  
Manhattan Office Properties - Retail                                  

256 West 38th Street      100.0%    10,282    97.8 %   410    40.78    2  
229 West 36th Street      100.0%    20,132    100.0 %   967    47.97    1  
333 West 34th Street      100.0%    29,688    100.0 %   1,449    48.81    1  
1440 Broadway      100.0%    29,335    90.3 %   2,989    112.86    8  
One Worldwide Plaza      48.9%    123,638    85.7 %   3,788    35.74    19  
245-249 West 17th Street      100.0%    63,718    100.0 %   4,980    78.16    2  
Manhattan Office Properties - Retail Total           276,793    92.5 %   14,583    56.95    33  
Sub-Total/Weighted Average Manhattan Office Properties - 

Office and Retail           3,060,000    94.6 %   164,256    56.73    99  
Manhattan Stand Alone Retail                                  

367-387 Bleecker Street (2)      100.0%    9,724    100.0 %   2,617    269.10    5  
33 West 56th Street (garage)      100.0%    12,856    100.0 %   448    34.88    1  
416 Washington Street      100.0%    7,436    100.0 %   446    59.97    2  
One Jackson Square      100.0%    8,392    100.0 %   1,528    182.07    5  
350 West 42nd Street      100.0%    42,774    100.0 %   1,731    40.46    4  
350 Bleecker Street      100.0%    14,511    100.0 %   1,130    77.90    3  
Sub-Total/Weighted Average Manhattan Stand Alone Retail           95,693    100.0 %   7,900    82.56    20  
Outer-Borough Properties                                  

86th Street, Brooklyn      100.0%    6,118    100.0 %   484    79.19    1  
163 Washington Avenue, Brooklyn      97.4%    41,613    92.5 %   2,027    52.65    49  
163-30 Cross Bay, Queens      100.0%    9,767    100.0 %   1,071    109.68    1  
1100 Kings Highway, Brooklyn      100.0%    61,318    100.0 %   2,719    44.34    5  
1623 Kings Highway, Brooklyn      100.0%    19,959    100.0 %   1,043    52.25    3  
Sub-Total/Weighted Average Outer-Borough Properties           138,775    97.8 %   7,344    54.13    59  
Portfolio Sub-total           3,294,468    94.9 %   $ 179,500    $ 57.41    178  

120 West 57th Street (Viceroy Hotel)      100.0%    128,612                      

416 Washington Street (Parking Garage) (3)      100.0%    N/A                      

Portfolio Total           3,423,080                      

(1)  Annualized cash rent represents rental obligations as of December 31, 2014 , including contractual cash base rents, and reimbursements from tenants under 
existing leases, excluding electric reimbursements and free rent.  
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(2)  Includes three condominium units. 
(3)  Does not include 15,055 square feet at the garage at 416 Washington Street, which is being operated under a management contract with a third party. 
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Future Minimum Lease Payments  

The following table presents future minimum base rent payments, on a cash basis, due to us over the next ten years and thereafter at the 
properties we owned as of December 31, 2014 , excluding our unconsolidated joint venture. These amounts exclude contingent rental payments, 
as applicable, that may be collected from certain tenants based on provisions related to sales thresholds and increases in annual rent based on 
exceeding certain economic indexes among other items. 

Future Lease Expirations Table  

The following is a summary of lease expirations for the next ten years at the properties we owned as of December 31, 2014 , including our 
pro rata share of our unconsolidated joint venture:  

_____________________________  
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(In thousands)    
Future Minimum Base Rent 

Payments  

2015    $ 107,195  
2016    96,230  
2017    93,784  
2018    91,832  
2019    90,551  
2020    90,836  
2021    89,454  
2022    84,039  
2023    78,826  
2024    67,192  
Thereafter    180,968  

Total    $ 1,070,907  

Year of Expiration    

Number of Leases 
Expiring    

Expiring 
Annualized 
Cash Rent (1)    

Expiring Annualized 
Cash Rent as a 

Percentage of the 
Total Portfolio (1)    

Leased 
Rentable 

Square Feet (2)    

Percent of Portfolio 
Leased Rentable 

Square Feet Expiring  

          (In thousands)                 

2015    7    $ 15,127    7.2 %   223,979    7.2 % 

2016    11    6,225    3.0 %   106,755    3.4 % 

2017    17    7,315    3.5 %   106,379    3.4 % 

2018    14    2,262    1.1 %   46,859    1.5 % 

2019    7    2,544    1.2 %   57,562    1.9 % 

2020    7    6,067    2.9 %   82,380    2.7 % 

2021    10    6,056    2.9 %   154,897    5.0 % 

2022    14    9,963    4.7 %   163,105    5.3 % 

2023    5    5,705    2.7 %   105,732    3.4 % 

2024    11    48,224    23.0 %   591,971    19.1 % 

Total    103    $ 109,488    52.2 %   1,639,619    52.9 % 

(1)  Expiring annualized cash rent represents contractual base rents at the time of lease expiration and reimbursements from tenants, excluding 
electric reimbursements and free rent.  

(2)  Excludes 37,335 square feet of leased residential space and 122,896 square feet of the hotel (which excludes space leased to the hotel 
restaurant tenant). Total vacant square footage at December 31, 2014 was 167,856 square feet.  
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Tenant Concentration  

The following table lists the tenant whose rented square footage is greater than 10% of the total portfolio rentable square footage as of 
December 31, 2014 :  

________________________________  

Significant Portfolio Properties  

The rentable square feet or annualized cash rent of Worldwide Plaza and the properties located at 1440 Broadway, 333 West 34th Street and 
245-249 West 17th Street represent a significant portion of our total portfolio. The tenant concentrations of Worldwide Plaza and the properties 
located at 1440 Broadway, 333 West 34th Street and 245-249 West 17th Street are summarized below:  

Worldwide Plaza  

The following table lists tenants in Worldwide Plaza whose rented square footage or annualized cash rent is greater than 10% of the total 
rentable square footage or annualized cash rent of Worldwide Plaza as of December 31, 2014 :  

_____________________________  
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Tenant     

Rented 
Square  
Feet (1)    

Rented 
Square Feet  
as a % of  

Total  
Portfolio    

Lease   
Expiration    

 
Remaining  

Lease  
Term  (2)    

Renewal  
Options    

Annualized Cash 
Rent (1) (3)  

                              (In thousands)  

Nomura Holdings America, Inc.    400,934    11.7%    Sep. 2033    18.8    (4)      $ 18,845  

(1)  Rented square feet and annualized cash rent reflect our 48.9% pro rata share of the building. 
(2)  Remaining lease term in years as of December 31, 2014 . 
(3)  Annualized cash rent as of December 31, 2014 includes operating expense reimbursements, excluding electric charges and free rent. 
(4)  Nomura Holdings America, Inc. has up to four options to renew its lease. Options one and two are for renewal terms of five or ten years 

each and options three and four are for five years each. In total, the renewal options are designed to allow Nomura Holdings America, Inc. 
up to 20 years of extended term.  

Tenant    

Rented 
Square  
Feet (1)    

Rented Square 
Feet as a % of 

Total 
Worldwide 

Plaza    
Lease 

Expiration    

 Remaining 
Lease Term 

(2)    
Renewal 
Options    

Annualized Cash 
Rent (1) (3)  

                              (In thousands)  

Nomura Holdings America, Inc.    400,934    40.0%    Sep. 2033    18.8    (4)      $ 18,845  
Cravath, Swaine & Moore, LLP    301,779    30.1%    Aug. 2024    9.7    None    $ 28,831  

(1)  Rented square feet and annualized cash rent reflect our 48.9% pro-rata share of the building. 
(2)  Remaining lease term in years as of December 31, 2014 . 
(3)  Annualized cash rent as of December 31, 2014 includes operating expense reimbursements, excluding electric charges and free rent. 
(4)  Nomura Holdings America, Inc. has up to four options to renew its lease. Options one and two are for renewal terms of five or ten years 

each and options three and four are for five years each. In total, the renewal options are designed to allow Nomura Holdings America, Inc. 
up to 20 years of extended term.  
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1440 Broadway  

The following table lists tenants at 1440 Broadway whose rented square footage is greater than 10% of the total rentable square footage of 
1440 Broadway as of December 31, 2014 :  

_____________________________  

333 West 34th Street  

The following table lists tenants at 333 West 34th Street whose rented square footage is greater than 10% of the total rentable square footage 
of 333 West 34th Street as of December 31, 2014 :  

_____________________________  
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Tenant    

Rented 
Square 
Feet    

Rented Square 
Feet as a % of 

Total 1440 
Broadway    

Lease 
Expiration    

 Remaining 
Lease Term 

(1)    
Renewal 
Options    

Annualized Cash 
Rent (2)  

                              (In thousands)  

Macy's Inc.    203,196    26.9%    Jan. 2024    9.1    None    $ 12,009  
RentPath Inc.    170,734    22.6%    Oct. 2015    0.8    1 - 5 year    $ 11,687  

(1)  Remaining lease term in years as of December 31, 2014 . 
(2)  Annualized cash rent as of December 31, 2014 includes operating expense reimbursements, excluding electric charges and free rent. 

Tenant    
Rented 

Square Feet     

Rented Square 
Feet as a % of 
Total 333 West 

34 th  Street    
Lease 

Expiration     

 Remaining 
Lease Term 

(1)    
Renewal 
Options    

Annualized Cash 
Rent  (2)  

                                (In thousands)  

The Segal Company (Eastern States) Inc.    144,307  (3)    41.6%    Feb. 2025     10.2    None    $ 8,773  
Metropolitan Transportation Authority (MTA)    130,443  (4)    37.6%    Jan. 2021  (5)    6.0    None    $ 3,443  
Godiva Chocolatier, Inc.    42,290     12.2%    Feb. 2027     12.2    None    $ 1,577  

(1)  Remaining lease term in years as of December 31, 2014 . 
(2)  Annualized cash rent as of December 31, 2014 includes operating expense reimbursements, excluding electric charges and free rent. 
(3)  The Metropolitan Transportation Authority (MTA) is contractually obligated to surrender 17,503 rentable square feet of the 5th floor to The 

Segal Company (Eastern States), Inc. in 2015, as such, it is not included within the Metropolitan Transportation Authority's (MTA) rented 
square feet as of December 31, 2014 .  

(4)  Includes space required to be rented of 17,503 rentable square feet to be surrendered to the Segal Company (Eastern States), Inc. in 2015. 
(5)  Early termination at the tenant's option available in March 2015. 
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245-249 West 17th Street  

The following table lists tenants at 245-249 West 17th Street whose rented square footage is greater than 10% of the total rentable square 
footage of 245-249 West 17th Street as of December 31, 2014 :  

_____________________________  

Property Financing  

Our mortgage notes payable, excluding our unconsolidated joint venture, as of December 31, 2014 consist of the following:  

______________________  

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.  

The information related to litigation and regulatory matters contained in “Note 13 — Commitments and Contingencies” of our notes to the 
consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K is incorporated by reference into this Item 3. Except as set forth 
therein, as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we are not a party to, and none of our properties are subject to, 
any material pending legal proceedings.  

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure.  

Not applicable.  
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Tenant    

Rented 
Square 
Feet    

Rented Square 
Feet as a % of 
Total 245-249 

West 17th Street    Lease Expiration    

 Remaining 
Lease Term 

(1)    
Renewal 
Options    

Annualized Cash 
Rent (2)  

                              (In thousands)  

Twitter, Inc.    214,765    76.3%    April 2025    10.3    2 - 5 year    $ 14,718  
Room & Board, Inc.    60,062    21.4%    October 2034    19.9    1 - 5 year    $ 4,650  

(1)  Remaining lease term in years as of December 31, 2014 . 
(2)  Annualized cash rent as of December 31, 2014 includes operating expense reimbursements, excluding electric charges and free rent. 

          Outstanding Loan Amount                  

Portfolio    
Encumbered  
Properties    December 31, 2014    

Effective  
Interest Rate     Interest Rate    Maturity  

          (In thousands)                  

Design Center    1    $ 20,198    4.4 %    Fixed    Dec. 2021  

Bleecker Street    3    21,300    4.3 %    Fixed    Dec. 2015  

Foot Locker    1    3,250    4.6 %    Fixed    Jun. 2016  

Regal Parking Garage    1    3,000    4.5 %    Fixed    Jul. 2016  

Duane Reed    1    8,400    3.6 %    Fixed    Nov. 2016  

416 Washington Street    1    4,741    4.4 %    Fixed    Dec. 2021  

One Jackson Square    1    13,000    3.4 % (1)    Fixed    Dec. 2016  

350 West 42 nd  Street    1    11,365    3.4 %    Fixed    Aug. 2017  

1100 Kings Highway    1    20,200    3.4 % (1)    Fixed    Aug. 2017  

1623 Kings Highway    1    7,288    3.3 % (1)    Fixed    Nov. 2017  

256 West 38th Street    1    24,500    3.1 % (1)    Fixed    Dec. 2017  

229 West 36th Street    1    35,000    2.9 % (1)    Fixed    Dec. 2017  

     14    $ 172,242    3.6 % (2)            

(1)  Fixed through an interest rate swap agreement. 
(2)  Calculated on a weighted average basis for all mortgages outstanding as of December 31, 2014 . 
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PART II  

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.  

Our common stock is currently traded on the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") under the symbol "NYRT." Set forth below is a line 
graph comparing the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock, based on the market price of the common stock, with the FTSE 
National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts Equity Index ("NAREIT") and the New York Stock Exchange Index ("NYSE Index") for 
the period commencing April 15, 2014, the date on which we listed our shares on the NYSE and ending December 31, 2014. Reinvestment of 
dividends or distributions is not assumed as the DRIP was suspended as of March 31, 2014. The graph assumes an investment of $100 on April 
15, 2014.  

  

For each calendar quarter indicated, the following table reflects high and low sales prices for the common stock as reported by NYSE and 
the amounts paid to our stockholders in respect of these shares which we refer to as "dividends."  

Holders  

As of March 31, 2015 , we had 162.5 million shares of common stock outstanding held by a total of 1,663 stockholders of record.  

Dividends  

We have elected to qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes commencing with our taxable year ended December 31, 2010.  As a 
REIT, we are required to distribute at least 90% of our REIT taxable income to our stockholders annually.  The amount actually paid to our 
stockholders is determined by our board of directors and is dependent on a number of factors, including the amount of funds available, financial 
condition, capital expenditure requirements, the restricted payments covenant in our Credit Facility, as applicable, and annual distribution 
requirements needed to qualify and maintain our status as a REIT under the Code.  

On September 22, 2010, our board of directors approved, and we declared, a dividend rate equal to a $0.605 per share, commencing 
December 1, 2010.  The dividend was paid to stockholders of record each day during the applicable period at a rate of $0.00165753424 per day. 
In April 2014, our board of directors changed the annualized rate to $0.46 per share per annum, beginning with the April 2014 distribution. 
Beginning in April 2014, payments are made to stockholders of record at the close of business on the 8th day of each month, and payable on the 
15th day of such month. From a tax perspective, of the amounts paid to stockholders during the year ended December 31, 2014 , 100% , or $0.49 
per share per annum, represented a return of capital otherwise referred to herein as a "dividend." During the year ended December 31, 2013 , 
93.1% , or $0.563 per share per annum, and 6.9% , or $0.042 per share per annum, represented a return of capital and ordinary dividends, 
respectively.  
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     Second Quarter 2014    Third Quarter 2014    Fourth Quarter 2014  

High    $ 12.32    $ 11.05    $ 11.41  
Low    $ 9.51    $ 9.87    $ 10.22  
              

Amounts paid per share    $ 0.130    $ 0.115    $ 0.115  
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Payments to our stockholders in respect of their shares are dependent on the availability of funds. These payments are also dependent on our 
remaining in compliance with the restricted payments covenant in our Credit Facility. During the year ended December 31, 2014 , we were in 
compliance with this covenant. Our board of directors may reduce the amount of dividends or distributions paid or suspend payments at any 
time. The following table reflects distributions paid in cash and reinvested through the DRIP to common stockholders as well as dividends 
related to unvested restricted stock, participating LTIP units, OP units and Class B units during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 :  

During the year ended December 31, 2014 , cash used to pay our dividends or distributions was generated mainly from funds received from 
cash flows provided by operations, proceeds from common stock, proceeds from common stock issued under the DRIP, proceeds from our 
Credit Facility and distributions from Worldwide Plaza. As our portfolio of investments stabilizes, we expect that we will use funds received 
from operating activities to pay a greater proportion of our dividends or distributions and will be able to reduce and in the future eliminate the 
use of funds from financings to pay dividends or distributions . As the cash flows from operations become more significant our Advisor and 
Property Manager may discontinue their past practice of forgiving fees and providing contributions and may charge the full fee owed to it in 
accordance with our agreements. Our board of directors may reduce the amount of dividends or distributions paid or suspend dividend or 
distribution payments at any time and therefore these payments are not assured.  

Share-Based Compensation Plans  

We have a stock option plan (the "Plan") which authorizes the grant of non-qualified stock options to our independent directors, subject to 
the absolute discretion of the board of directors and the applicable limitations of the Plan. The exercise price for all stock options granted under 
the Plan to the independent directors is the fair market value of the award on the date of grant.  
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(In thousands)    
Cash Paid but Not 

Reinvested    
Amounts Reinvested 
Through the DRIP    

Total Amounts  
Paid    

Total Dividends 
Declared  

2014:                      

1st Quarter 2014    $ 11,866    $ 14,084    $ 25,950    $ 26,165  
2nd Quarter 2014    17,169    4,935    22,104    12,976  
3rd Quarter 2014    18,950    —   18,950    18,651  
4th Quarter 2014    19,031    —   19,031    18,650  

Total 2014    $ 67,016    $ 19,019    $ 86,035    $ 76,442  

                  

2013:                      

1st Quarter 2013    $ 1,605    $ 1,502    $ 3,107    $ 3,470  
2nd Quarter 2013    2,655    2,439    5,094    6,386  
3rd Quarter 2013    5,207    5,383    10,590    12,859  
4th Quarter 2013    8,472    9,528    18,000    21,676  

Total 2013    $ 17,939    $ 18,852    $ 36,791    $ 44,391  
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Notwithstanding any other provisions of our Plan to the contrary, no stock option issued pursuant thereto may be exercised if such exercise 
would jeopardize our status as a REIT under the Code. The following table sets forth information regarding securities authorized for issuance 
under our stock option plan and our restricted share plan (as described below) as of December 31, 2014 :  

__________________  

Restricted Share Plan  

We have an employee and director incentive restricted share plan (the "RSP") that, prior to the listing of our common stock on the NYSE 
(the "Listing"), provided for the automatic grant of 3,000 restricted shares of common stock to each of the independent directors, without any 
further action by our board of directors or the stockholders, on the date of initial election to the board of directors and on the date of each annual 
stockholder's meeting. Restricted stock issued to independent directors vested over a five-year period following the date of grant in increments of 
20% per annum. Subsequent to the Listing, we amended the RSP to, among other things, remove the fixed amount of shares that are 
automatically granted to the independent directors. Under the amended RSP, the annual amount granted is determined by the board of directors. 
Generally, such awards provide for accelerated vesting of (i) all unvested shares upon a "change in control" or a "termination without cause" (as 
described below) and (ii) the portion of the unvested shares scheduled to vest in the year of termination upon a voluntary termination or failure to 
be re-elected to the board. The RSP provides us with the ability to grant awards of restricted shares to our directors, officers and employees (if 
we ever have employees), employees of the Advisor and its affiliates, employees of entities that provide services to us, directors of the Advisor 
or of entities that provide services to us, certain consultants to us and the Advisor and its affiliates or to entities that provide services to us.   

For purposes of the RSP, “change in control” means: (i) any “person” as such term is used in Section 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act 
(other than the Company, any trustee or other fiduciary holding securities under any employee benefit plan of the Company or any corporation 
owned, directly or indirectly, by the stockholders of the Company in substantially the same proportion as their ownership of stock of the 
Company), is or becomes the “beneficial owner” (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of securities of the 
Company representing 50.1% or more of the combined voting power of the Company’s then outstanding voting securities; (ii) the stockholders 
of the Company approve a merger or consolidation of the Company with any other entity or approve the issuance of voting securities in 
connection with a merger or consolidation of the Company (or any direct or indirect subsidiary thereof) pursuant to applicable exchange 
requirements, other than (A) a merger or consolidation which would result in the voting securities of the Company outstanding immediately 
prior thereto continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the surviving or parent 
entity) at least 50.1% of the combined voting power of the voting securities of the Company or such surviving or parent entity outstanding 
immediately after such merger or consolidation or (B) a merger or consolidation effected to implement a recapitalization of the Company (or 
similar transaction) in which no “person” (as defined above) is or becomes the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of securities of the 
Company representing 50.1% or more of either of the then outstanding shares of Common Stock or the combined voting power of the 
Company’s then outstanding voting securities; or (iii) the consummation of the sale or disposition by the Company of all or substantially all of 
the Company’s assets (or any transaction or series of transactions within a period of 12 months ending on the date of the last sale or disposition 
having a similar effect).  
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Plan Category    

Number of Securities to  
be Issued Upon  

Exercise of Outstanding  
Options, Warrants  

and Rights    

Weighted-Average  
Exercise Price of  

Outstanding  
Options, Warrants  

and Rights    

Number of Securities  
Remaining Available  
For Future Issuance  

Under Equity  
Compensation Plans  

(Excluding  
Securities Reflected  

in Column (a)  

     (a)    (b)    (c)  

Equity Compensation Plans approved by security holders (1)    —   $ —   16,774,260  
Equity Compensation Plans not approved by security 

holders    —   —   — 

Total    —   $ —   16,774,260  

(1)  Includes the total number of shares of restricted stock that are available for future issuance as of December 31, 2014 , which is 
calculated as 10% of our outstanding shares of capital stock on a fully diluted basis.  
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For purposes of the RSP, a “termination without cause” is defined as a termination of the independent director’s directorship by the 
Company other than for Cause (as defined below) or as a result of the independent director’s death or disability. “Cause” shall mean (x) the 
independent director’s willful misconduct or gross negligence in the performance of his or her duties for the Company or any affiliate of the 
Company that is not cured by the independent director within 30 days after his or her receipt of written notice from the Company or such affiliate 
(as applicable); (y) the independent director’s conviction of, or plea of guilty or nolo contendere to, a crime relating to the Company or any 
affiliate of the Company, or any felony; or (z) a material breach by the independent director of the independent director’s agreement, offer letter 
or other offer arrangement with the Company (if any) or any other material written agreement entered into between the independent director and 
the Company or any affiliate thereof (if any) that is not cured by the independent director within 30 days after his or her receipt of written notice 
from the Company or such affiliate (as applicable).  

Prior to March 31, 2014, the total number of shares of common stock granted under the RSP could not exceed 5.0% of our outstanding 
shares on a fully diluted basis at any time, and in any event could not exceed 7.5 million shares (as such number may be adjusted for stock splits, 
stock dividends, combinations and similar events). On March 31, 2014, we adopted an amendment to our RSP to increase the number of shares 
of our capital stock, par value $0.01 per share, available for awards thereunder to 10% of our outstanding shares of capital stock on a fully 
diluted basis at any time. The amendment also eliminated the RSP limit of 7.5 million shares of capital stock.  

Restricted shares may not, in general, be sold or otherwise transferred until restrictions are removed and the shares have vested. Holders of 
restricted shares may receive cash dividends prior to the time that the restrictions on the restricted shares have lapsed. Any dividends payable in 
common shares shall be subject to the same restrictions as the underlying restricted shares. As of December 31, 2014 , we had 89,499 unvested 
restricted shares outstanding that were granted pursuant to the RSP.  

2014 Advisor Multi-Year Outperformance Agreement  

On April 15, 2014 (the "Effective Date") in connection with the Listing, we entered into the 2014 Advisor Multi-Year Outperformance 
Agreement (the "OPP") with the OP and the Advisor. Under the OPP, the Advisor was issued 8,880,579 long term incentive plan ("LTIP units") 
in the OP with a maximum award value on the issuance date equal to 5.0% of our market capitalization (the “OPP Cap”). The LTIP units are 
structured as profits interest in the OP.  

The Advisor will be eligible to earn a number of LTIP units with a value equal to a portion of the OPP Cap upon the first, second and third 
anniversaries of the Effective Date based on our achievement of certain levels of total return to our stockholders (“Total Return”), including both 
share price appreciation and common stock dividends, as measured against a peer group of companies, as set forth below, for the three-year 
performance period commencing on the Effective Date (the “Three-year Period”); each 12 -month period during the Three -Year Period (the 
“One-Year Periods”); and the initial 24 -month period of the Three -Year Period (the “Two-Year Period”), as follows:  

______________________   

*The “Peer Group” is comprised of the companies in the SNL US REIT Office Index.  

The potential outperformance award is calculated at the end of each One-Year Period, the Two-Year Period and the Three-Year Period. The 
award earned for the Three-Year Period is based on the formula in the table above less any awards earned for the Two-Year Period and One-
Year Periods, but not less than zero; the award earned for the Two-Year Period is based on the formula in the table above less any award earned 
for the first and second One-Year Period, but not less than zero. Any LTIP units that are unearned at the end of the Performance Period will be 
forfeited.  
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Performance 
Period    

Annual 
Period    

Interim 
Period  

Absolute Component: 4% of any excess Total Return attained above an absolute hurdle 
measured from the beginning of such period:    21%    7%    14%  

Relative Component: 4% of any excess Total Return attained above the Total Return for the 
performance period of the Peer Group*, subject to a ratable sliding scale factor as follows 
based on achievement of cumulative Total Return measured from the beginning of such 
period:                 

  •  100% will be earned if cumulative Total Return achieved is at least:    18%    6%    12%  

  •  50% will be earned if cumulative Total Return achieved is:    —%    —%    —%  

  •  0% will be earned if cumulative Total Return achieved is less than:    —%    —%    —%  

  •  
a percentage from 50% to 100% calculated by linear interpolation will be earned if the 
cumulative Total Return achieved is between:    0% - 18%    0% - 6%    0% - 12%  
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Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities  

The OP issued the following securities that were not registered under the Securities Act during the year ended December 31, 2014 :  

In accordance with the advisory agreement, the Advisor was issued 1,188,667 Class B units by the OP, which would vest, and no longer be 
subject to forfeiture upon the achievement of an economic hurdle and certain other performance conditions. On April 15, 2014, as a result of the 
Listing, the performance condition was achieved and the Class B units were no longer subject to forfeiture. On April 15, 2014, the Class B units 
were converted to OP units on a one-to-one basis.  

Upon occurrence of the Listing, the New York Recovery Special Limited Partnership, LLC (the "SLP") became entitled to begin receiving 
dividends of net sale proceeds pursuant to its special limited partner interest in the OP (the "SLP Interest") in an aggregate amount that is 
evidenced by the issuance of a note by the OP (the "Listing Note"). The principal amount of the Listing Note was determined based, in part, on 
the actual average market value of our outstanding common stock for the period 180 days to 210 days after the Listing. The final value of the 
Listing Note was determined to be $33.5 million . On November 21, 2014, at the request of the SLP, the Listing Note was converted into 
3,062,512 OP units.  

Additionally, the Advisor, as the holder of Class B units, had the right to make a capital contribution to the OP in exchange for OP units. 
Pursuant to a Contribution and Exchange Agreement entered into between the Advisor and the OP dated April 15, 2014, the Advisor contributed 
$0.8 million in cash to the OP in exchange for 83,333 OP units.  

A holder of OP units has the right to convert OP units for the cash value of a corresponding number of shares of our common stock or a 
corresponding number of shares of our common stock, at our option, in accordance with the limited partnership agreement of the OP. The 
remaining rights of the holders of OP units are limited, however, and do not include the ability to replace the general partner or to approve the 
sale, purchase or refinancing of the OP's assets.  

Use of Proceeds from Sales of Registered Securities  

In September 2010, we commenced our IPO on a "reasonable best efforts" basis of up to 150.0 million shares of common stock at a price of 
$10.00 per share, subject to certain volume and other discounts. Our IPO closed in December 2013. As of December 31, 2014 , we had 162.2 
million shares of common stock outstanding, including unvested restricted shares, converted preferred shares and shares issued under the DRIP. 
As of December 31, 2014 , we had received common stock proceeds of $1.6 billion , including DRIP and net of repurchases. We operated as a 
non-traded REIT through April 14, 2014. On April 15, 2014, we listed our common stock on the NYSE under the symbol NYRT.  

We used substantially all of the net proceeds from our IPO, net of cumulative offering costs of $175.0 million , to acquire income-producing 
commercial real estate in New York City, primarily office and retail properties in Manhattan. As of December 31, 2014 , we have used the net 
proceeds from our IPO, secured debt financing and Credit Facility to purchase 24 properties and real estate-related assets as reflected on our 
consolidated balance sheets.  

The following table reflects the offering costs associated with the issuance of common stock.  

__________________  
(1) The Advisor reimbursed our offering costs in excess of 15% of proceeds from the sale of common stock during the year ended December 31, 

2012.  
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     Year Ended December 31,  

(In thousands)    2014    2013    2012  

Selling commissions and dealer manager fees    $ 8    $ 134,972    $ 12,576  
Other offering costs    87    14,238    5,109  
Reimbursement from Advisor  (1)    —   —   (4,658 ) 

Total offering costs    $ 95    $ 149,210    $ 13,027  
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The Dealer Manager reallowed the selling commissions and a portion of the dealer manager fees to participating broker-dealers. The 
following table details the selling commissions incurred and reallowed related to the sale of shares of common stock.  

As of December 31, 2014 , we have incurred $175.0 million of cumulative offering costs in connection with the issuance and distribution of 
common stock. Net offering proceeds of $1.6 billion exceeded cumulative offering costs by $1.4 billion at December 31, 2014 .  

Cumulative offering costs include $152.0 million incurred from our Dealer Manager for dealer manager fees and commissions and $14.3 
million from our Advisor, net of the Advisor's reimbursement related to the 15% cap on total offering costs by the Advisor during the IPO.  

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers  

On March 31, 2014, the board of directors approved the termination of our SRP. We have processed all of the requests received under the 
SRP for the first quarter of 2014 and will not process further requests. The following table reflects the cumulative number of shares repurchased 
as of and through the termination of the SRP:  

The Tender Offer closed on May 12, 2014 and we purchased 14.2 million shares of our common stock at a price of $10.75 per share, for an 
aggregate of $152.3 million , excluding fees and expenses relating to the Tender Offer and including fractional shares repurchased thereafter. We 
funded the Tender Offer using cash on hand.   
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     Year Ended December 31,  

(In thousands)    2014    2013    2012  

Total commissions paid to the Dealer Manager    $ 8    $ 134,972    $ 12,576  
Less:               

  Commissions to participating brokers    (126 )   (86,497 )   (8,164 ) 

  Reallowance to participating broker dealers    (27 )   (14,770 )   (1,261 ) 

Net to the Dealer Manager    $ (145 )   $ 33,705    $ 3,151  

   
Number of 
Requests    

Number of Shares 
Repurchased    

Average Price per 
Share  

Prior repurchases  1    2,538    $ 9.85  
Year ended December 31, 2012  10    81,661    9.55  
Year ended December 31, 2013  24    195,395    9.65  
Repurchases in 2014 through termination of the SRP  1    5,000    10.00  

Cumulative repurchase requests through termination of SRP  36    284,594    $ 9.63  



Table of Contents  
 

Item 6. Selected Financial Data.  

The following selected financial data as of December 31, 2014 , 2013 , 2012 , 2011 and 2010 and for the years ended December 31, 2014 , 
2013 , 2012 , 2011 and 2010 should be read in conjunction with the accompanying consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto 
and "Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" below:  
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     December 31,  

Balance sheet data  (In thousands)    2014    2013    2012    2011    2010  

Total real estate investments, at cost    $ 1,888,366    $ 1,542,805    $ 360,857    $ 125,626    $ 67,615  
Total assets    2,120,835    2,048,305    367,850    136,964    69,906  
Mortgage notes payable    172,242    172,716    185,569    75,250    35,385  
Credit facility    635,000    305,000    19,995    —   — 
Notes payable    —   —   —   5,933    5,933  
Total liabilities    925,158    599,046    225,419    85,773    45,781  
Total equity    1,195,677    1,449,259    142,431    51,191    24,125  

     Year Ended December 31,  

Operating data   (In thousands, except share and per share 
data)    2014    2013    2012    2011    2010  

Total revenues    $ 155,567    $ 55,887    $ 15,422    $ 7,535    $ 2,377  
Operating expenses    227,540    65,105    16,787    6,888    3,179  
Operating income (loss)    (71,973 )    (9,218 )    (1,365 )    647    (802 )  

Total other expenses    (22,312 )    (10,093 )    (5,007 )    (3,912 )    (1,069 )  

Net loss    (94,285 )    (19,311 )    (6,372 )    (3,265 )    (1,871 )  

Net loss (income) attributable to non-controlling interests    1,257    32    33    (154 )    109  
Net loss attributable to stockholders    $ (93,028 )    $ (19,279 )    $ (6,339 )    $ (3,419 )    $ (1,762 )  

Other data:                           

Cash flows provided by (used in) operations    $ 6,535    $ 9,428    $ 3,030    $ 263    $ (1,234 )  

Cash flows used in investing activities    (327,835 )    (1,309,508 )    (145,753 )    (25,736 )    (30,729 )  

Cash flows provided by financing activities    110,435    1,528,103    137,855    35,346    32,312  
Per share data:                           

Net loss per common share - basic and diluted    $ (0.56 )    $ (0.26 )    $ (0.52 )    $ (2.31 )    $ (71.06 )  

Dividends/Distributions declared per common share    $ 0.490    $ 0.605    $ 0.605    $ 0.605    $ 0.605  
Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding, 

basic and diluted    166,959,316    73,074,872    12,187,623    2,070,184    36,108  
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.  

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements. The following information 
contains forward-looking statements, which are subject to risks and uncertainties. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, 
actual results may differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. Please see "Forward-Looking 
Statements" elsewhere in this report for a description of these risks and uncertainties.  

Significant Accounting Estimates and Critical Accounting Policies  

Set forth below is a summary of the significant accounting estimates and critical accounting policies that management believes are important 
to the preparation of our consolidated financial statements. Certain of our accounting estimates are particularly important for an understanding of 
our financial position and results of operations and require the application of significant judgment by our management. As a result, these 
estimates are subject to a degree of uncertainty. These significant accounting estimates and critical accounting policies include:  

Revenue Recognition  

Our revenues, which are derived primarily from rental income, include rents that each tenant pays in accordance with the terms of each lease 
reported on a straight-line basis over the initial term of the lease. Since many of our leases provide for rental increases at specified intervals, 
GAAP accounting requires us to record a receivable, and include in revenues on a straight-line basis, unbilled rent receivables that we will only 
receive if the tenant makes all rent payments required through the expiration of the initial term of the lease. We defer the revenue related to lease 
payments received from tenants in advance of their due dates. When we acquire a property, the terms of existing leases are considered to 
commence as of the acquisition date for the purposes of this calculation.  

Rental revenue recognition commences when the tenant takes possession or controls the physical use of the leased space. For the tenant to 
take possession, the leased space must be substantially ready for its intended use. To determine whether the leased space is substantially ready 
for its intended use, we evaluate whether we own or the tenant owns the tenant improvements. When we are the owner of tenant improvements, 
rental revenue recognition begins when the tenant takes possession of the finished space, which is when such improvements are substantially 
complete. When we conclude that we are not the owner (as the tenant is the owner) of tenant improvements, rental revenue recognition begins 
when the tenant takes possession of or controls the space.  

When we conclude that we are the owner of tenant improvements, we record the cost to construct the tenant improvements, including costs 
paid for or reimbursed by the tenants, as a capital asset. When we conclude that the tenant is the owner of tenant improvements for accounting 
purposes, we record our contribution towards those improvements as a lease incentive, which is included in deferred leasing costs, net on the 
consolidated balance sheets and amortized as a reduction to rental income on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.  

We will continually review receivables related to rent and unbilled rent receivables and determine collectability by taking into consideration 
the tenant's payment history, the financial condition of the tenant, business conditions in the industry in which the tenant operates and economic 
conditions in the area in which the property is located. In the event that the collectability of a receivable is in doubt, we will record an increase in 
our allowance for uncollectible accounts or record a direct write-off of the receivable in our consolidated statements of operations.  

Cost recoveries from tenants are included in operating expense reimbursement in the period the related costs are incurred, as applicable.  

Our hotel revenues are recognized as earned and are derived from room rentals and other sources such as charges to guests for telephone 
service, movie and vending commissions, meeting and banquet room revenue and laundry services.  

We may own certain properties with leases that include provisions for the tenant to pay contingent rental income based on a percent of the 
tenant's sales upon the achievement of certain sales thresholds or other targets which may be monthly, quarterly or annual targets. As the lessor 
to the aforementioned leases, we defer the recognition of contingent rental income until the specified target that triggered the contingent rental 
income is achieved, or until such sales upon which percentage rent is based are known. If we own certain properties with leases that include 
provisions for the tenant to pay contingent rental income, contingent rental income will be included in rental income on the consolidated 
statements of operations and comprehensive loss.  

Investments in Real Estate  

We evaluate the inputs, processes and outputs of each asset acquired to determine if the transaction is a business combination or asset 
acquisition. If an acquisition qualifies as a business combination, the related transaction costs are recorded as an expense in the consolidated 
statement of operations. If an acquisition qualifies as an asset acquisition, the related transaction costs are generally capitalized and subsequently 
amortized over the useful life of the acquired assets.  
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In business combinations, we allocate the purchase price of acquired properties to tangible and identifiable intangible assets or liabilities and 
noncontrolling interests based on their respective estimated fair values. Tangible assets may include land, land improvements, buildings, fixtures 
and tenant improvements. Intangible assets or liabilities may include the value of in-place leases, above and below market leases and other 
identifiable intangible assets or liabilities based on lease or property specific characteristics.  

The fair value of the tangible assets of an acquired property with an in-place operating lease is determined by valuing the property as if it 
were vacant, and the “as-if-vacant” value is then allocated to the tangible assets based on the fair value of the tangible assets. The fair value of 
in-place leases is determined by considering estimates of carrying costs during the expected lease-up periods, current market conditions, as well 
as costs to execute similar leases. The fair value of above-market or below-market leases is recorded based on the present value of the difference 
between the contractual amount to be paid pursuant to the in-place lease and our estimate of the comparable fair market lease rate, measured 
over the remaining term of the lease. The fair value of other intangible assets, such as real estate tax abatements, are recorded based on the 
present value of the expected benefit and amortized over the expected useful life including any below-market fixed rate renewal options for 
below-market leases.  

Fair values of assumed mortgages, if applicable, are recorded as debt premiums or discounts based on the present value of the estimated 
cash flows, which is calculated to account for either above- or below-market interest rates.  

Non-controlling interests in property owning entities are recorded based on the fair value of units issued at the date of acquisition, as 
determined by the terms of the applicable agreement.  

We utilize a number of sources in making our estimates of fair values for purposes of allocating purchase price including real estate 
valuations, prepared by independent valuation firms. We also consider information and other factors including: market conditions, the industry 
in which the tenant operates, characteristics of the real estate such as location, size, demographics, value and comparative rental rates, tenant 
credit profile and the importance of the location of the real estate to the operations of the tenant’s business.  

We present the operations related to properties that have been, or are intended to be, sold as discontinued operations in the consolidated 
statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) where the disposal of a component represents a strategic shift that has had or will 
have a major effect on our operations and financial results. Properties that are intended to be sold will be designated as "held for sale" on the 
consolidated balance sheets at the lesser of carrying amount or fair value less estimated selling costs for all periods presented when they meet 
specific criteria to be presented as held for sale. Properties are no longer depreciated when they are classified as held for sale.  

Depreciation and Amortization  

We are required to make subjective assessments as to the useful lives of the components of our real estate investments for purposes of 
determining the amount of depreciation to record on an annual basis. These assessments have a direct impact on our net income because if we 
were to shorten the expected useful lives of our real estate investments, we would depreciate these investments over fewer years, resulting in 
more depreciation expense and lower net income.  

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of up to 40 years for buildings, 15 years for land 
improvements, five years for fixtures and improvements, and the shorter of the useful life or the remaining lease term for tenant improvements 
and leasehold interests.  

Acquired above-market leases are amortized as a reduction of rental income over the remaining terms of the respective leases. Acquired 
below-market leases are amortized as an increase to rental income over the remaining terms of the respective leases and expected below-market 
renewal option periods.  

Acquired above-market ground leases are amortized as a reduction of property operating expense over the remaining term of the respective 
leases. Acquired below-market ground leases are amortized as an increase to property operating expense over the remaining term of the 
respective leases and expected below-market renewal option period.  

The value of in-place leases, exclusive of the value of above-market and below-market in-place leases, is amortized to depreciation and 
amortization expense over the remaining periods of the respective leases.  

Assumed mortgage premiums or discounts, if applicable, are amortized as a reduction or increase to interest expense over the remaining 
term of the respective mortgages.  
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Impairment of Long Lived Assets  

When circumstances indicate the carrying value of a property may not be recoverable, we review the asset for impairment. This review is 
based on an estimate of the future undiscounted cash flows, excluding interest charges, expected to result from the property’s use and eventual 
disposition. These estimates consider factors such as expected future operating income, market and other applicable trends and residual value, as 
well as the effects of leasing demand, competition and other factors. If such estimated cash flows are less than the carrying value of a property, 
an impairment loss is recorded to the extent that the carrying value exceeds the estimated fair value of the property for properties to be held and 
used. For properties held for sale, the impairment loss is based on the adjustment to fair value less estimated cost to dispose of the asset. These 
assessments have a direct impact on net income because recording an impairment loss results in an immediate negative adjustment to net 
income.  

Derivative Instruments  

We use derivative financial instruments to hedge the interest rate risk associated with a portion of our borrowings. The principal objective of 
such agreements is to minimize the risks and costs associated with our operating and financial structure as well as to hedge specific anticipated 
transactions.  

We record all derivatives on the balance sheet at fair value.  The accounting for changes in the fair value of derivatives depends on the 
intended use of the derivative, whether we have elected to designate a derivative in a hedging relationship and apply hedge accounting and 
whether the hedging relationship has satisfied the criteria necessary to apply hedge accounting. Derivatives designated and qualifying as a hedge 
of the exposure to changes in the fair value of an asset, liability, or firm commitment attributable to a particular risk, such as interest rate risk, are 
considered fair value hedges. Derivatives designated and qualifying as a hedge of the exposure to variability in expected future cash flows, or 
other types of forecasted transactions, are considered cash flow hedges. Derivatives also may be designated as hedges of the foreign currency 
exposure of a net investment in a foreign operation. Hedge accounting generally provides for the matching of the timing of gain or loss 
recognition on the hedging instrument with the recognition of the changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that is attributable to 
the hedged risk in a fair value hedge or the earnings effect of the hedged forecasted transactions in a cash flow hedge.  We may enter into 
derivative contracts that are intended to economically hedge certain of our risk, even though hedge accounting does not apply or we elect not to 
apply hedge accounting.  

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements  

In April 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") amended the requirements for reporting discontinued operations. Under 
the revised guidance, in addition to other disclosure requirements, a disposal of a component of an entity or a group of components of an entity is 
required to be reported in discontinued operations if the disposal represents a strategic shift that has (or will have) a major effect on an entity's 
operations and financial results when the component or group of components meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale, disposed of by 
sale or other than by sale. We have adopted the provisions of this guidance effective January 1, 2014, and has applied the provisions 
prospectively. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash 
flows.  

In May 2014, the FASB issued revised guidance relating to revenue recognition. Under the revised guidance, an entity is required to 
recognize revenue when it transfers promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity 
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The revised guidance is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those 
fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2016. Early adoption is not permitted under GAAP. The revised guidance allows entities to apply the 
full retrospective or modified retrospective transition method upon adoption. In April 2015, the FASB proposed a one-year delay of the revised 
guidance, although entities will be allowed to early adopt the guidance as of the original effective date. We have not yet selected a transition 
method and is currently evaluating the impact of the new guidance.  

In August 2014, the FASB issued guidance relating to disclosure of uncertainties about an entity's ability to continue as a going concern. In 
connection with preparing financial statements for each annual and interim reporting period, management should evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events that raise substantial doubt about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the 
financial statements are issued. If conditions or events raise substantial doubt about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern, the 
guidance requires management to disclose information that enables users of the financial statements to understand the conditions or events that 
raised the substantial doubt, management's evaluation of the significance of the conditions or events that led to the doubt and management's 
plans that are intended to mitigate the conditions or events that raised substantial doubt about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern. 
The guidance is effective for the annual period ending after December 15, 2016 and for annual and interim periods thereafter. We have elected to 
adopt the provisions of this guidance effective December 31, 2014, as early application is permitted. The adoption of this guidance had no 
material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.  
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In February 2015, the FASB amended the accounting for consolidation of certain legal entities. The amendments modify the evaluation of 
whether certain legal entities are variable interest entities ("VIEs") or voting interest entities, eliminate the presumption that a general partner 
should consolidate a limited partnership, affect the consolidation analysis of reporting entities that are involved with VIEs (particularly those that 
have fee arrangements and related party relationships) and provide a scope exception from consolidation guidance for reporting entities with 
interests in legal entities. The revised guidance is effective for fiscal years, and for interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after 
December 15, 2015. Early adoption is permitted, including adoption in an interim period. If we decide to early adopt the revised guidance in an 
interim period, any adjustments will be reflected as of the beginning of the fiscal year that includes the interim period. We have not yet selected a 
transition method and are currently evaluating the impact of the new guidance.  

In April 2015, the FASB amended the presentation of debt issuance costs on the balance sheet. The amendments require that debt issuance 
costs related to a recognized debt liability be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability. 
The revised guidance is effective for fiscal years, and for interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2015. Early 
adoption is permitted for financial statements that have not previously been issued. If we decide to early adopt the revised guidance in an interim 
period, any adjustments will be reflected as of the beginning of the fiscal year that includes the interim period. We are currently evaluating the 
impact of the new guidance.  

Results of Operations  

As of December 31, 2014 , we owned 24 properties and real estate-related assets. See Item 2. Properties for detail of the types of properties 
that we owned as of December 31, 2014 . As of January 1, 2013, we owned 16 properties (our "Same Store"). We acquired eight properties and 
real estate related assets from January 1, 2013 to December 31, 2014 (our "Acquisitions"). Accordingly, our results of operations for the year 
ended December 31, 2014 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 , reflect significant increases in most categories. For the year ended 
December 31, 2014 , net loss attributable to stockholders was $93.0 million compared to $19.3 million and $6.3 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2013 and 2012 , respectively.  

The following is a summary of our quarterly leasing activity for the year ended December 31, 2014 :  

_______________  
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       Q4 2014    Q3 2014    Q2 2014    Q1 2014    Total  

Leasing activity:                           

  Leases executed    2    6    3    2    13 

  Total square feet leased    21,868    67,437    45,019    8,379    142,703 

  Company's share of square feet leased    21,868    49,029    25,387    8,379    104,663 

       Initial rent    $ 58.31    $ 56.28    $ 54.65    $ 43.68    $ 55.30 

       Weighted average lease term (years)    7.7    10.7    9.6    7.3    8.9 

                        

       Replacement leases: (1)                           

            Replacement leases executed    1    2    2    2    7 

            Square feet    8,364    14,077    6,601    8,379    37,421 

                        

  Tenant improvements on replacement leases per square foot    $ 17.00    $ 21.85    $ 14.40    $ —   $ 14.56 

  Leasing commissions on replacement leases per square foot    $ 20.82    $ 14.57    $ 5.89    $ 18.28    $ 15.27 

(1) Replacement leases are for space that was leased during the period that was previously leased to another expired or terminated tenant at some 
time during the prior twelve months.  
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Comparison of Year Ended December 31, 2014 to Year Ended December 31, 2013  

Rental Income  

Rental income increased $67.7 million to $117.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 , from $49.5 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2013 . The increase in rental income was primarily driven by our Acquisitions, which resulted in an increase in rental income of 
$66.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 , compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 as well as lease termination fees of $1.6 
million related to a partial lease termination and modification at 229 West 36th Street. This was partially offset by a net decrease in rental 
income in our Same Store of $0.8 million primarily due to net leasing activity at 416 Washington Street as a result of damage caused by 
Hurricane Sandy. The terminated space at 416 Washington Street was re-leased in September 2014, resulting in a fully occupied property as of 
December 31, 2014. We also began self managing the garage at 416 Washington Street in December 2013 through a third-party national 
operator. Parking revenue associated with self management is higher than the rental income we would have received; however, this parking 
revenue is included in operating expense reimbursements and other revenue.  

Operating Expense Reimbursements and Other Revenue  

Operating expense reimbursements and other revenue increased $11.5 million to $15.6 million  for the year ended December 31, 2014 from 
$4.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 , primarily due to our Acquisitions, which resulted in an increase of $10.6 million . Operating 
expense reimbursements and other revenue at our Same Store increased $0.9 million , primarily related to parking revenue due to the switch to 
self managing the garage at 416 Washington Street in December 2013 and an increase in property operating expenses.  

Pursuant to many of our lease agreements, tenants are required to pay their pro rata share of certain property operating expenses, in addition 
to base rent, whereas under certain other lease agreements, the tenants are directly responsible for all operating costs of the respective properties. 
Therefore, operating expense reimbursements are directly affected by changes in property operating expenses.  

Property Operating Expenses  

Property operating expenses increased $24.6 million to $37.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 , from $12.5 million for the 
year ended December 31, 2013 .  The increase in property operating expenses primarily related to real estate taxes, utilities, maintenance and 
ground rent associated with our Acquisitions, which resulted in an increase of $24.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 . Property 
operating expenses increased $0.6 million in our Same Store, primarily related to increased real estate taxes, utilities, security and maintenance 
expenses. This increase was partially offset by absorption of certain property operating costs of $0.6 million by the Advisor during the year 
ended December 31, 2014 . The Advisor did not absorb any property operating expenses during the year ended December 31, 2013 .  

Hotel Revenue and Operating Expenses  

Hotel revenues increased $20.4 million to $22.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 , from $2.3 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2013 . Hotel operating expenses increased $21.3 million to $23.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 , from $2.4 
million for the year ended December 31, 2013 . The increase in hotel revenues and hotel operating expenses related to a full year of operations at 
the Viceroy Hotel, which we purchased in November 2013.  

Operating Fees to Affiliates  

Operating fees to affiliates were $8.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 . Operating fees to affiliates represent asset 
management fees earned by the Advisor. Prior to the Listing, we issued the Advisor restricted performance based Class B units for prior asset 
management services, which vested as of the Listing. As such, there were no operating fees to affiliates for the year ended December 31, 2013 .  

Our Property Manager is entitled to fees for the management of our properties. Property management fees increase in direct correlation with 
gross revenues. Our Property Manager elected to waive these fees for the year ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 .  For the year ended 
December 31, 2014 and 2013 , we would have incurred property management fees of $1.7 million and $0.8 million , respectively, had these fees 
not been waived.  

Acquisition and Transaction Related Expenses  

Acquisition and transaction related expenses of $16.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 include $4.4 million relating to our 
acquisition of 245-249 West 17th Street as well as Listing-related costs. Listing-related costs mainly consist of $8.9 million of investment 
banking, advisory and other services provided by the Dealer Manager and its affiliates, as well as $2.8 million of other third party fees and 
expenses.  

Acquisition and transaction related expense of $17.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 included $17.8 million for the purchase 
of seven properties during the period, partially offset by a reimbursement by the Advisor of $2.5 million for expenses and legal reimbursements 
paid on previous acquisitions.  
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Vesting of Asset Management Fees  

Vesting of asset management fees expense of $11.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 relates to the vesting of Class B units 
previously issued to the Advisor for asset management services. The performance condition related to these Class B units was satisfied upon 
completion of the Listing. On April 15, 2014, the Class B units were converted to OP units on a one-to-one basis.  

Value of Listing Promote  

Value of listing promote expense of $33.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 represents the final value of the Listing Note. See 
Note 9 - Subordinated Listing Distribution of the notes to our consolidated financial statements.  

General and Administrative Expenses  

General and administrative expenses increased $11.3 million to $12.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 from $1.0 million for 
the year ended December 31, 2013 , primarily related to an increase in equity-based compensation and professional fees to support our larger 
real estate portfolio and operations as a traded REIT subsequent to Listing. At the time the IPO ended in December 2013, we began to expense, 
as incurred, professional fees relating to stockholder services, because these costs no longer related to fulfilling subscriptions and offering costs. 
General and administrative expenses included equity-based compensation expense of $7.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 
consisting of the amortization of the fair value of the OPP, which was adopted in conjunction with the Listing and board member equity-based 
compensation. Prior to the Listing, board member equity-based compensation was $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 . 
Additionally, the Advisor elected to absorb $1.4 million and $1.5 million of general and administrative expenses for the year ended 
December 31, 2014 and 2013 , respectively.  

Depreciation and Amortization Expense  

Depreciation and amortization expense increased $53.0 million to $84.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 , compared to $31.8 
million for the year ended December 31, 2013 . The increase in depreciation and amortization expense related mainly to our Acquisitions, which 
resulted in additional expense of $55.1 million as well as $0.6 million related to the acceleration of depreciation on tenant improvements as a 
result of a partial lease termination and modification at 229 West 36th Street. The increase was partially offset by a $2.7 million decrease in 
depreciation and amortization expense relating to prior period tenant lease expirations and terminations, net of additional depreciation and 
amortization related to capital expenditures.  

Interest Expense  

Interest expense increased $13.0 million to $23.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 from $10.7 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2013 , as a result of a higher weighted average balance outstanding on our our unsecured credit facility (the “Credit Facility”) of 
$439.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2014 , compared to the $63.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2013 , as well as 
the associated increased amortization of deferred financing costs resulting from expanding our Credit Facility. Additionally, we expensed $3.6 
million of financing costs during the year ended December 31, 2014 as a result of amendments to our Credit Facility.  

Loss from Unconsolidated Joint Venture  

Loss from unconsolidated joint venture was $1.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 , which represents our preferred distribution, 
net of our pro-rata share of the net loss of Worldwide Plaza and the amortization of the difference in basis between our investment and the book 
value of Worldwide Plaza's net assets, which we acquired in October 2013. During our period of ownership from October 31, 2013 to 
December 31, 2013 , we had loss from unconsolidated joint venture of $0.1 million .  

Income from Preferred Equity Investment, Investment Securities and Interest  

Income from preferred equity investment, investment securities and interest increased $2.2 million to $2.9 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2014 from $0.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 , which primarily represents income earned on our preferred equity 
investment in 123 William Street, acquired in October 2013, and our investments in redeemable preferred stock and equity securities.  

Net Loss Attributable to Non-Controlling Interests  

The net loss attributable to non-controlling interests during the year ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 was $1.3 million and approximately 
$32,000 , respectively, which represents the net loss attributable to non-controlling interests for the period. The increase in net loss attributable to 
non-controlling interests was primarily driven by the increase in OP units resulting from the Listing, including the vesting of Class B units which 
were converted to OP units as well as the settlement of the Listing Note and subsequent conversion to OP units.  
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Comparison of Year Ended December 31, 2013 to Year Ended December 31, 2012  

Rental Income  

Rental income increased $35.0 million to $49.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 , from $14.5 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2012 . The increase in rental income was primarily driven by our acquisitions since January 1, 2013, as well as a full year of 
operations for those acquired during 2012, which resulted in an increase in rental income of $34.9 million for the year ended December 31, 
2013 , compared to the year ended December 31, 2012 . In addition, rental income increased $0.1 million due to new leasing activity at the 
Design Center and One Jackson Square, which was partially offset by the termination of our garage tenant at our 416 Washington Street 
property, resulting from hurricane damage.  

Operating Expense Reimbursements and Other Revenue  

Operating expense reimbursements and other revenue increased $3.2 million to $4.1 million  for the year ended December 31, 2013 from 
$0.9 million for year ended December 31, 2012 .  Operating expense reimbursements increased in relation to the increase in property operating 
expenses, as a result of our acquisitions since January 1, 2013, as well as a full year of operations for those acquired during 2012 and an increase 
in property operating expenses. Pursuant to many of our lease agreements, tenants are required to pay their pro rata share of certain property 
operating expenses, in addition to base rent, whereas under certain other lease agreements, the tenants are directly responsible for all operating 
costs of the respective properties.  

Property Operating Expenses  

Property operating expenses increased $10.1 million to $12.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 , from $2.4 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2012 .  The increase in property operating expenses related primarily to real estate taxes, maintenance and insurance costs 
associated with the properties that have been acquired since January 1, 2013, as well as a full year of operations for those acquired during 2012 , 
which resulted in an increase of $9.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 . In addition, property operating expenses increased $0.7 
million , primarily as a result of bad debt expense of $0.5 million related to the hurricane damage to our 416 Washington Street property and 
increased real estate taxes and maintenance expenses at the Design Center. Additionally, the Advisor elected to absorb $0.3 million of property 
operating expenses during the year ended December 31, 2012 . No such expenses were absorbed during the year ended December 31, 2013 .  

Hotel Revenue and Operating Expenses  

Hotel revenues and operating expenses were $2.3 million and $2.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 , respectively. We 
purchased the Viceroy Hotel in November 2013.  

Operating Fees to Affiliates  

Our affiliated Property Manager is entitled to fees for the management of our properties.  Property management fees increase in direct 
correlation with gross revenues. Our Property Manager elected to waive these fees for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 .  For the 
years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 , we would have incurred property management fees of $0.8 million and $0.5 million , respectively, 
had these fees not been waived.  

Effective July 1, 2012, the payment of asset management fees in cash, shares or restricted stock grants, or any combination thereof to the 
Advisor was eliminated. Instead we issued to our Advisor Class B units, which would have been forfeited unless certain conditions were met. 
Our Advisor elected to waive these fees prior to July 1, 2012. During the six months ended June 30, 2012, we would have incurred asset 
management fees of $0.5 million had these fees not been waived.  

Acquisition and Transaction Related Expenses  

Acquisition and transaction related expense of $17.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 primarily related to the acquisitions of 
seven properties and other real estate-related assets, resulting in $17.8 million of acquisition and transaction-related expense which was partially 
offset by the reimbursement from the Advisor of $2.5 million of acquisition expenses and legal reimbursements that had been incurred on 
previous acquisitions. Acquisition and transaction related costs for the year ended December 31, 2013 also included $2.1 million incurred from 
the Dealer Manager for services rendered in connection with transaction management, information agent and advisory services agreements 
related to the Listing. Acquisition and transaction related expense of $6.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 related to the purchases 
of seven properties during the period.  

General and Administrative Expenses  

General and administrative expenses increased $0.8 million to $1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 from $0.2 million for the 
year ended December 31, 2012 . This increase related primarily to $1.6 million of higher professional fees, including strategic advisory services 
from the Dealer Manager rendered during the IPO and other professional fees, as well as increased board member compensation. This increase 
was partially offset by the Advisor's election to absorb $1.5 million of general and administrative expenses during the year ended December 31, 
2013 , compared to $0.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2012 .  
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Depreciation and Amortization Expense  

Depreciation and amortization expense increased $23.7 million to $31.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 , compared to $8.1 
million for the year ended December 31, 2012 . The increase in depreciation and amortization expense related mainly to acquisitions since 
January 1, 2013, as well as a full year of depreciation for those acquired during 2012, which resulted in additional expense of $22.7 million . In 
addition, depreciation and amortization expense increased $1.0 million due to capitalized building and tenant improvement projects at the Design 
Center and the write-off of intangible lease assets due to the termination of two tenants at 416 Washington Street, as a result of hurricane 
damage.  

Interest Expense  

Interest expense increased by $5.7 million to $10.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 from $5.0 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2012 . Interest expense related to mortgage notes payable increased by $4.1 million as a result of a higher average balance 
outstanding of $197.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2013 , compared to the $97.7 million during the year ended December 31, 
2012 , as well as the associated increased amortization of deferred financing costs.  

In August 2013, we entered into a new credit facility agreement which increased the borrowings available from $40.0 million to $220.0 
million . In December 2013, we amended the facility to increase aggregate borrowings available to $390.0 million . Interest expense related to 
our credit facilities increased by $1.7 million as a result of a higher average balance outstanding of $63.7 million during the year ended 
December 31, 2013 , compared to the $9.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2012 , as well as the associated increased amortization of 
deferred financing costs resulting from implementing our expanded credit facility.  

These increases were partially offset by a reduction of $0.1 million in interest expense related to a note payable during the year ended 
December 31, 2012 , which was repaid in full in April 2012.  

Loss from Unconsolidated Joint Venture  

Loss from unconsolidated joint venture was $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 , which represents our preferred distribution, 
net of our pro-rata share of the net loss of Worldwide Plaza and the amortization of the difference in basis between our investment and the book 
value of Worldwide Plaza's net assets, which we acquired in October 2013.  

Income from Preferred Equity Investment, Investment Securities and Interest  

Income from preferred equity investment, investment securities and interest was $0.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 , which 
primarily represents income earned on our preferred equity investment in 123 William Street, acquired in October 2013, our investments in 
redeemable preferred stock and interest. We did not own any preferred equity investments or investment securities during the year ended 
December 31, 2012 . Interest income for the year ended December 31, 2012 was $1,000 .  

Net Loss Attributable to Non-Controlling Interests  

The net loss attributable to non-controlling interests of approximately $32,000 and $33,000 during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 
2012 , respectively, represents the net loss related to our Bleecker Street portfolio and the 163 Washington Avenue Apartments attributable to 
non-controlling interests, for the period these properties were owned. We fully redeemed the third party's non-controlling interest in Bleecker 
Street of $1.0 million in December 2013.  

Cash Flows for the Year Ended December 31, 2014  

For the year ended December 31, 2014 , net cash provided by operating activities was $6.5 million . The level of cash flows used in or 
provided by operating activities is affected by the volume of acquisition activity, the timing of interest payments and the amount of borrowings 
outstanding during the period, as well as the receipt of scheduled rent payments and the level of property operating expenses. Cash flows 
provided by operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2014 included $16.1 million of transaction costs relating to the Listing and 
the acquisition of 245-249 West 17th Street. Cash flows provided by operating activities included a net loss adjusted for non-cash items, 
resulting in a cash inflow of $43.4 million (net loss of $94.3 million adjusted for depreciation and amortization of tangible and intangible real 
estate assets and other non-cash charges of $137.7 million ) and an increase in accrued ground rent of $4.3 million , which resulted from 
recording rental expenses on a straight-line basis. These cash inflows were partially offset by an increase in unbilled rent receivables of $19.6 
million recorded in accordance with accounting for rental income on a straight-line basis, a decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses 
of $8.7 million , primarily due to payments of prior year accrued tenant improvements at our 50 Varick Street property and fees paid to our 
Dealer Manager for services rendered in 2013 related to exploring our liquidity event, an increase in prepaid expenses and other assets of $6.6 
million , primarily due to prepaid real estate taxes, insurance and deferred leasing costs, a decrease in deferred rent of $3.4 million and an 
increase in tenant and other receivables of $2.8 million , primarily due to amounts related to our preferred equity investment and other tenant 
receivables.  
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Net cash used in investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2014  of $327.8 million primarily related to $316.2 million for the 
acquisition of 245-249 W 17th Street, acquisition funds held in escrow of $4.7 million , $11.8 million of capital expenditures and $3.1 million in 
purchases of additional investment securities. These cash outflows were partially offset by distributions from our unconsolidated joint venture in 
Worldwide Plaza of $8.0 million .  

Net cash provided by financing activities of $110.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2014 primarily related to proceeds from our 
line of credit of $330.0 million , proceeds from the issuance of common stock of $11.3 million and a $0.8 million contribution from the Advisor 
for OP units. These inflows were partially offset by the Tender Offer and other repurchases of common stock, including associated fees and 
expenses of $154.3 million , dividends to stockholders of $66.1 million , deferred financing costs paid of $7.3 million to expand the credit 
facility, offering costs paid of $1.5 million , $0.8 million of distributions to OP unit holders, redemption of OP units of $0.7 million , principal 
payments related to mortgage notes payable of $0.5 million and increases to restricted cash of $0.5 million .  

Cash Flows for the Year Ended December 31, 2013  

For the year ended December 31, 2013 , net cash provided by operating activities was $9.4 million .  The level of cash flows used in or 
provided by operating activities is affected by the volume of acquisition activity, the timing of interest payments and the amount of borrowings 
outstanding during the period, as well as the receipt of scheduled rent payments. Cash flows provided by operating activities during the year 
ended December 31, 2013 included $17.4 million of acquisition and transaction costs. Cash flows provided by operating activities included a net 
loss adjusted for non-cash items, resulting in a cash inflow of $12.9 million (net loss of $19.3 million adjusted for depreciation and amortization 
of tangible and intangible real estate assets and other non-cash charges of $32.2 million ) and an increase in accounts payable and accrued 
expenses of $7.3 million primarily due to fees owed to our Dealer Manager of $2.1 million for services rendered related to exploring our 
liquidity event, operating costs associated with acquisitions and accrued tenant improvements, an increase in deferred rent of $7.1 million , an 
increase in accrued ground rent of $0.5 million , which results from recording rental expenses on a straight-line basis and a decrease in due from 
affiliated entities of $0.3 million . These cash inflows were partially offset by an increase in unbilled rent receivables of $9.0 million recorded in 
accordance with accounting for rental income on a straight-line basis, an increase in prepaid expenses and other assets of $8.6 million primarily 
due to prepaid real estate taxes, insurance and deferred leasing costs and an increase in tenant and other receivables of $1.2 million .  

Net cash used in investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2013  of $1.3 billion primarily related the acquisition of seven 
properties and real estate-related assets. Cash used in investing activities also included $12.1 million for capital expenditures and tenant 
improvements and $1.3 million for the purchase of investment securities. These cash outflows were partially offset by distributions from our 
unconsolidated joint venture in World Wide Plaza of $2.1 million .  

Net cash provided by financing activities of $1.5 billion during the year ended December 31, 2013 related to proceeds, net of receivables 
and repurchases, from the issuance of common stock of $1.5 billion and proceeds net of repayments on our credit facility of $285.0 million . 
These inflows were partially offset by payments related to offering costs of $148.2 million , repayments of mortgage notes payable of $72.9 
million , dividends to stockholders of $17.8 million , payments related to financing costs of $7.6 million , increases to restricted cash of $0.2 
million , payments to non-controlling interest holders of $1.0 million and payments of dividends to non-controlling interest holders of $0.1 
million .  

Cash Flows for the Year Ended December 31, 2012  

For the year ended December 31, 2012 , net cash provided by operating activities was $3.0 million .  The level of cash flows used in or 
provided by operating activities is affected by the volume of acquisition activity, the timing of interest payments and the amount of borrowings 
outstanding during the period, as well as the receipt of scheduled rent payments. Cash flows provided by operating activities during the year 
ended December 31, 2012 included $6.1 million of acquisition and transaction costs. Cash flows provided by operating activities included a net 
loss adjusted for non-cash items, resulting in a cash inflow of $2.5 million (net loss of $6.4 million adjusted for depreciation and amortization of 
tangible and intangible real estate assets and other non-cash charges of $8.8 million ) as well as a combined increase in accounts payable, 
accrued expenses and deferred rent of $3.9 million mainly due to an increase in accrued acquisition and transaction related costs as well as 
interest expense payable and tenant deposits. This cash inflow was partially offset by an increase in tenant and other receivables of $0.4 million , 
an increase in unbilled rent receivables of $1.6 million recorded in accordance with accounting for rental income on a straight-line basis, an 
increase in prepaid expenses and other assets of $1.3 million primarily due to prepaid real estate taxes.  

Net cash used in investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2012  of $145.8 million primarily related to $144.8 million for the 
acquisition of seven properties. Cash used in investing activities also related to $1.0 million for capital expenditures at the Design Center during 
the period.  
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Net cash provided by financing activities of $137.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2012 related to proceeds, net of receivables 
and repurchases, from the issuance of common stock of $127.5 million , proceeds net of repayments on our credit facility of $20.0 million and 
proceeds, net of repayments, from mortgage notes payable of $31.1 million . These inflows were partially offset by payments of $12.0 million to 
purchase our affiliate's non-controlling interest in our Bleecker Street subsidiary, payments related to offering costs of $13.6 million , payments 
on notes payable of $5.9 million , dividends to stockholders of $3.4 million , payments related to financing costs of $4.6 million , increases to 
restricted cash of $0.8 million and dividends to non-controlling members of $0.5 million .  

Liquidity and Capital Resources  

As of December 31, 2014 , we had cash and cash equivalents of $22.5 million . In the normal course of business, our principal demands for 
funds will continue to be for property acquisitions, either directly or through investment interests, for the payment of operating expenses, 
dividends to our investors and for the payment of principal and interest on our outstanding indebtedness. Future sources of capital include 
proceeds from secured or unsecured financings from banks or other lenders, proceeds from offerings, including issuances of equity or debt 
securities, proceeds from the sale of properties and undistributed funds from operations. We expect to increase the amount of cash flow 
generated from operating activities in future periods through future acquisitions and the stabilization of our current investment portfolio. 
Furthermore, we anticipate increased cash flow through future leasing activity and the contractual rent escalations included in a majority of our 
current leases during the primary term of the lease. Such increased cash flow will positively impact the amount of funds available for payments 
to our stockholders. Our principal sources and uses of funds are further described below.  

Principal Sources of Funds  

Availability of Funds from Credit Facility  

On April 14, 2014, we entered into our Credit Facility, which was an amendment and restatement of our existing credit facility with Capital 
One, National Association. The Credit Facility allows for total borrowings of up to $705.0 million with a $305.0 million term loan and a $400.0 
million revolving loan which mature on August 20, 2018 and August 20, 2016, respectively. The Credit Facility contains an "accordion feature" 
to allow us, under certain circumstances, to increase the aggregate loan borrowings to up to $1.0 billion of total borrowings. The availability of 
borrowings under our Credit Facility for any period is based on our borrowing base properties. As of December 31, 2014 , the outstanding 
balance of the term loan and revolving components of the Credit Facility was $305.0 million and $330.0 million , respectively, with a combined 
weighted average interest rate of 2.1% . The unused borrowing capacity, based on our borrowing base properties as of December 31, 2014 , was 
$6.0 million .  

The Credit Facility requires monthly interest payments for each Base Rate loan and periodic payments for each LIBOR loan, based upon the 
applicable LIBOR loan period, with all principal outstanding being due on the maturity date. The Credit Facility may be prepaid at any time, in 
whole or in part, without premium or penalty. In the event of a default, the lenders have the right to terminate their obligations under the Credit 
Facility and to accelerate the payment on any unpaid principal amount of all outstanding loans.  

We view a mix of secured and unsecured financing sources as an efficient and accretive means to acquire properties and manage working 
capital.  Our interest expense in future periods will vary based, in part, on our level of future borrowings, which will depend on the cost of 
borrowings and the opportunity to acquire real estate assets which meet our investment objectives.  

In connection with our financings, our Advisor previously received a financing coordination fee equal to 0.75% of the amount made 
available or outstanding under such financing, subject to certain limitations. On April 15, 2014, we entered into the Sixth Amended and Restated 
Advisory Agreement by and among us, the OP and the Advisor (the "Amended Advisory Agreement"), which, among other things, terminated 
the financing coordination fee 180 days after listing, or October 12, 2014 (the "Termination Date"). Prior to the Termination Date, the Advisor 
received financing coordination fees of $2.4 million , $6.6 million and $1.2 million during the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , 
respectively. See Note 14 — Related Party Transactions and Arrangements of the notes to our consolidated financial statements.  

Reimbursement of Advisor's Expenses  

We reimburse the Advisor for costs and expenses of providing services, subject to the limitations set forth in our charter and advisory 
agreement with the Advisor. No reimbursement was made to the Advisor or paid by us for providing administrative services for the years ended 
December 31, 2014 , 2013 or 2012 . The lack of reimbursement to the Advisor of its expenses improves our operating cash flows and our ability 
to fund dividends from operating cash flows. Additionally, the Advisor absorbed $2.0 million , $1.5 million and $1.0 million of our property 
operating and general and administrative expenses during the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , respectively.  
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Principal Use of Funds  

Acquisitions and Capital Expenditures  

As of December 31, 2014 , we owned 24 properties and real estate-related assets. Our Advisor is actively and continuously evaluating 
potential acquisitions of real estate and real estate-related assets and engages in negotiations with sellers and borrowers on our behalf.   

In connection with our acquisition of properties, our Advisor received an acquisition fee equal to 1.0% of the contract purchase price of each 
acquired property including debt assumed or borrowed in connection with the acquisition. The Amended Advisory Agreement terminated the 
acquisition fee at the Termination Date, except for fees with respect to properties under contract, letter of intent or under negotiation as of the 
Termination Date (See Note 14 — Related Party Transactions and Arrangements of the notes to our consolidated financial statements).  

In connection with the leasing of our properties, we have entered and will continue to enter into agreements with our tenants to provide 
allowances for tenant improvements. These allowances require us to fund capital expenditures up to amounts specified in our lease agreements. 
We intend to fund these allowances with cash on hand, cash flows from operations or proceeds from our credit facility. See Note 7 - Credit 
Facility in the notes to our consolidated financial statements.  

Tender Offer  

On April 15, 2014, we commenced the Tender Offer to purchase up to 23.3 million shares of our common stock at a price of $10.75 per 
share. The Tender Offer closed on May 12, 2014 and we purchased 14.2 million shares of our common stock at a price of $10.75 per share, for 
an aggregate of $152.3 million , excluding fees and expenses relating to the Tender Offer and including fractional shares repurchased thereafter. 
We funded the Tender Offer using cash on hand.  

Strategic Alternatives Fees  

In October 2014, we entered into separate transaction management agreements with Barclays Capital Inc. and RCS Capital, the investment 
banking and capital markets division of the Dealer Manager, as financial advisors to assist us and our board of directors in evaluating strategic 
options to enhance long-term shareholder value, including a business combination involving us or our sale. Pursuant to the agreement with RCS 
Capital, we will pay to RCS Capital a transaction fee upon the consummation of a transaction equal to 0.25% of the transaction value. Pursuant 
to the agreement with Barclays Capital Inc., we will pay to Barclays Capital Inc. a transaction fee based on the transaction value.  

Non-GAAP Financial Measures  

This section includes non-GAAP financial measures, including Funds from Operations, Core Funds from Operations, Adjusted Funds from 
Operations, Earnings before Interest, Taxes and Depreciation and Amortization, Net Operating Income and Cash Net Operating Income. A 
description of these non-GAAP measures and reconciliations to the most directly comparable GAAP measure, which is net income, is provided 
below.  

Funds from Operations, Core Funds from Operations and Adjusted Funds from Operations  

Due to certain unique operating characteristics of real estate companies, as discussed below, the National Association of Real Estate 
Investment Trusts (“NAREIT”), an industry trade group, has promulgated a measure known as funds from operations (“FFO”), which we believe 
to be an appropriate supplemental measure to reflect the operating performance of a REIT. The use of FFO is recommended by the REIT 
industry as a supplemental performance measure but is not equivalent to our net income or loss as determined under GAAP.  

We define FFO, a non-GAAP measure, consistent with the standards established by the White Paper on FFO approved by the Board of 
Governors of NAREIT, as revised in February 2004 (the “White Paper”). The White Paper defines FFO as net income or loss computed in 
accordance with GAAP, excluding gains or losses from sales of property but including asset impairment writedowns, plus depreciation and 
amortization, after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures. Adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint 
ventures are calculated to reflect FFO. Our FFO calculation complies with NAREIT’s definition.  
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The historical accounting convention used for real estate assets requires straight-line depreciation of buildings and improvements, which 
implies that the value of a real estate asset diminishes predictably over time, especially if not adequately maintained or repaired and renovated as 
required by relevant circumstances or as requested or required by lessees for operational purposes in order to maintain the value disclosed. We 
believe that, because real estate values historically rise and fall with market conditions, including inflation, interest rates, the business cycle, 
unemployment and consumer spending, presentations of operating results for a REIT using historical accounting for depreciation and certain 
other items may be less informative. Historical accounting for real estate involves the use of GAAP. Any other method of accounting for real 
estate such as the fair value method cannot be construed to be any more accurate or relevant than the comparable methodologies of real estate 
valuation found in GAAP. Nevertheless, we believe that the use of FFO, which excludes the impact of real estate related depreciation and 
amortization, among other things, provides a more complete understanding of our performance to investors and to management, and when 
compared year over year, reflects the impact on our operations from trends in occupancy rates, rental rates, operating costs, general and 
administrative expenses, and interest costs, which may not be immediately apparent from net income. However, FFO, core funds from 
operations ("Core FFO") and adjusted funds from operations (“AFFO”), as described below, should not be construed to be more relevant or 
accurate than the current GAAP methodology in calculating net income or in its applicability in evaluating our operating performance. In 
calculating FFO, Core FFO and AFFO, other REITs may not define FFO in accordance with the current NAREIT definition (as we do) or may 
interpret the current NAREIT definition differently than we do and/or calculate Core FFO and/or AFFO differently than we do. Consequently, 
our presentation of FFO, Core FFO and AFFO may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures presented by other REITs.  

We consider FFO, Core FFO and AFFO useful indicators of our performance. Because FFO calculations exclude such factors as depreciation 
and amortization of real estate assets and gains or losses from sales of operating real estate assets (which can vary among owners of identical 
assets in similar conditions based on historical cost accounting and useful-life estimates), FFO facilitates comparisons of operating performance 
between periods and between other REITs in our peer group.  

Changes in the accounting and reporting promulgations under GAAP (for acquisition fees and expenses from a capitalization/depreciation 
model to an expensed-as-incurred model) that were put into effect in 2009 and other changes to GAAP accounting for real estate subsequent to 
the establishment of NAREIT's definition of FFO have prompted an increase in cash-settled expenses, specifically acquisition fees and expenses 
for all industries as items that are expensed under GAAP, that are typically accounted for as operating expenses.  

Core FFO is FFO, excluding acquisition and transaction related costs, other costs that are considered to be non-recurring, such as charges 
relating to the Listing Note, non-recurring revenue, such as lease termination or modification fees, and other non-recurring expenses. The 
purchase of properties, and the corresponding expenses associated with that process, is a key operational feature of our business plan to generate 
operational income and cash flows in order to pay dividends or other amounts to our stockholders. In evaluating investments in real estate, we 
differentiate the costs to acquire the investment from the operations derived from the investment. By excluding expensed acquisition and 
transaction related costs as well as non-recurring revenues and expenses, we believe Core FFO provides useful supplemental information that is 
comparable for each type of real estate investment and is consistent with management's analysis of the investing and operating performance of 
our properties.  
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We exclude certain income or expense items from AFFO that we consider more reflective of investing activities, other non-cash income and 
expense items and the income and expense effects of other activities that are not a fundamental attribute of our business plan. These items 
include unrealized gains and losses, which may not ultimately be realized, such as gains or losses on derivative instruments, gains or losses on 
contingent valuation rights, gains and losses on investments and early extinguishment of debt. We also exclude dividends on Class B units as the 
related shares are assumed to have converted to common stock in our calculation of fully diluted weighted average shares of common stock. In 
addition, by excluding non-cash income and expense items such as amortization of above-market and below-market lease intangibles, 
amortization of deferred financing costs, straight-line rent and equity-based compensation from AFFO, we believe we provide useful information 
regarding income and expense items which have no cash impact and do not provide liquidity to the company or require capital resources of the 
company. Similarly, we include items such as free rent credits paid by sellers in our calculation of AFFO because these funds are paid to us 
during the free rent period and therefore improve our liquidity. By providing AFFO, we believe we are presenting useful information that assists 
investors and analysts to better assess the sustainability of our ongoing operating performance without the impacts of transactions that are not 
related to the ongoing profitability of our portfolio of properties. We also believe that AFFO is a recognized measure of sustainable operating 
performance by the REIT industry. Further, we believe AFFO is useful in comparing the sustainability of our operating performance with the 
sustainability of the operating performance of other real estate companies that are not making a significant number of acquisitions. Investors are 
cautioned that AFFO should only be used to assess the sustainability of our operating performance excluding these activities, as it excludes 
certain costs that have a negative effect on our operating performance during the periods in which these costs are incurred.  

In calculating AFFO, we exclude certain expenses, which under GAAP are characterized as operating expenses in determining operating net 
income. These expenses are paid in cash by us, and therefore such funds will not be available to distribute to investors. All paid and accrued 
merger, acquisition and transaction related fees and certain other expenses negatively impact our operating performance during the period in 
which expenses are incurred or properties are acquired will also have negative effects on returns to investors, the ability to fund dividends or 
distributions in the future, and cash flows generated by us, unless earnings from operations or net sales proceeds from the disposition of other 
properties are generated to cover the purchase price of the property and certain other expenses. AFFO that excludes such costs and expenses 
would only be comparable to companies that did not have such activities. Further, under GAAP, certain contemplated non-cash fair value and 
other non-cash adjustments are considered operating non-cash adjustments to net income in determining cash flow from operating activities. In 
addition, we view fair value adjustments as items which are unrealized and may not ultimately be realized. We view both gains and losses from 
fair value adjustments as items which are not reflective of ongoing operations and are therefore typically adjusted for when assessing operating 
performance. Excluding income and expense items detailed above from our calculation of AFFO provides information consistent with 
management's analysis of the operating performance of the properties. Additionally, fair value adjustments, which are based on the impact of 
current market fluctuations and underlying assessments of general market conditions, but can also result from operational factors such as rental 
and occupancy rates, may not be directly related or attributable to our current operating performance. By excluding such changes that may reflect 
anticipated and unrealized gains or losses, we believe AFFO provides useful supplemental information.  

As a result, we believe that the use of FFO, Core FFO and AFFO, together with the required GAAP presentations, provide a more complete 
understanding of our performance relative to our peers and a more informed and appropriate basis on which to make decisions involving 
operating, financing, and investing activities.  
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The table below reflects the items deducted from or added to net income (loss) in our calculation of FFO, Core FFO and AFFO during the 
periods presented.  Items are presented net of non-controlling interest portions where applicable.  

___________________________  
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     Three Months Ended    Year Ended  

(In thousands)    
March 31,  

2014    
June 30,  

2014    
September 30,  

2014    
December 31,  

2014    
December 31,  

2014  

Net income (loss) (in accordance with 
GAAP)    $ (8,155 )   $ (67,748 )   $ 9,522    $ (27,904 )   $ (94,285 ) 

Depreciation and amortization, net of 
adjustments related to joint ventures    21,003    20,213    21,649    21,899    84,764  

Depreciation and amortization related to 
unconsolidated joint venture (1)    6,354    6,302    6,302    6,384    25,342  

FFO    19,202    (41,233 )   37,473    379    15,821  
Acquisition and transaction-related fees 

and expenses    69    11,577    4,436    1    16,083  
Vesting of asset management fees    —   11,500    —   —   11,500  
Value of listing promote    —   38,100    (24,700 )   20,079    33,479  

    Non-recurring revenue    —   —   (855 )   (702 )   (1,557 ) 

    Non-recurring non-cash compensation 
expense    —   —   332    1,160    1,492  

    Non-recurring deferred financing costs    —   —   3,108    492    3,600  
Core FFO    19,271    19,944    19,794    21,409    80,418  
Plus:                           

Non-cash compensation expense    16    1,882    2,143    2,042    6,083  
Deferred financing costs    726    1,424    1,275    1,159    4,584  
Seller free rent credit    —   —   2,277    3,679    5,956  
Class B dividends    88    19    —   —   107  

Minus:                           

Amortization of market lease intangibles    (2,454 )   (2,267 )   (2,296 )   (2,724 )   (9,741 ) 

Mark-to-market adjustments on derivatives   —   (1 )   —   —   (1 ) 

Straight-line rent    (3,517 )   (2,533 )   (5,926 )   (7,616 )   (19,592 ) 

Straight-line ground rent    1,087    1,087    1,087    1,087    4,348  
Recurring capital expenditures    (1,216 )   (608 )   (363 )   (212 )   (2,399 ) 

Proportionate share of adjustments related 
to unconsolidated joint venture    (560 )   (758 )   (680 )   (796 )   (2,794 ) 

AFFO    $ 13,441    $ 18,189    $ 17,311    $ 18,028    $ 66,969  

(1)  Proportionate share of depreciation and amortization related to unconsolidated joint venture and amortization of difference in basis. 
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Adjusted Earnings before Interest, Taxes and Depreciation and Amortization, Net Operating Income, Cash Net Operating Income and Adjusted 
Cash Net Operating Income.  

We believe that earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization adjusted for acquisition and transaction-related expenses, other 
non-cash items and including our pro-rata share from unconsolidated joint ventures ("Adjusted EBITDA") is an appropriate measure of our 
ability to incur and service debt. Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered as an alternative to cash flows from operating activities, as a 
measure of our liquidity or as an alternative to net income as an indicator of our operating activities. Other REITs may calculate Adjusted 
EBITDA differently and our calculation should not be compared to that of other REITs.  

Net operating income ("NOI") is a non-GAAP financial measure equal to net income (loss), the most directly comparable GAAP financial 
measure, less discontinued operations, interest, other income and income from preferred equity investments and investments securities, plus 
corporate general and administrative expense, acquisition and transaction-related expenses, depreciation and amortization, other non-cash 
expenses and interest expense. NOI is adjusted to include our pro-rata share of NOI from unconsolidated joint ventures. We use NOI internally 
as a performance measure and believe NOI provides useful information to investors regarding our financial condition and results of operations 
because it reflects only those income and expense items that are incurred at the property level. Therefore, we believe NOI is a useful measure for 
evaluating the operating performance of our real estate assets and to make decisions about resource allocations. Further, we believe NOI is useful 
to investors as a performance measure because, when compared across periods, NOI reflects the impact on operations from trends in occupancy 
rates, rental rates, operating costs and acquisition activity on an unleveraged basis, providing perspective not immediately apparent from net 
income. NOI excludes certain components from net income in order to provide results that are more closely related to a property's results of 
operations. For example, interest expense is not necessarily linked to the operating performance of a real estate asset and is often incurred at the 
corporate level as opposed to the property level. In addition, depreciation and amortization, because of historical cost accounting and useful life 
estimates, may distort operating performance at the property level. NOI presented by us may not be comparable to NOI reported by other REITs 
that define NOI differently. We believe that in order to facilitate a clear understanding of our operating results, NOI should be examined in 
conjunction with net income as presented in our consolidated financial statements. NOI should not be considered as an alternative to net income 
as an indication of our performance or to cash flows as a measure of our liquidity.  

Cash NOI is NOI presented on a cash basis, which is NOI after eliminating the effects of straight-lining of rent and the amortization of 
above and below market leases.  

Adjusted Cash NOI is Cash NOI after eliminating the effects of free rent.  
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The tables below reflect the reconciliation of net loss to Adjusted EBITDA, NOI, Cash NOI and Adjusted Cash NOI. 

_________________  

Dividends  

We are required to distribute at least 90% of our annual REIT taxable income. On September 22, 2010, our board of directors approved, and 
we declared, a dividend rate equal to $0.605 per share, a 6.05% annualized rate based on the common share price of $10.00 commencing 
December 1, 2010.  The dividend was paid to stockholders of record each day during the applicable period at a rate of $0.00165753424 per day. 
In April 2014, our board of directors changed the annualized rate to $0.46 per share per annum, beginning with the April 2014 dividend. 
Beginning in April 2014, payments are made to stockholders of record at the close of business on the 8th day of each month, and payable on the 
15th day of such month. Payments are dependent on the availability of funds. Our board of directors may reduce the amount of dividends or 
distributions paid or suspend dividend payments at any time and therefore dividend payments are not assured.  

Effective March 31, 2014, the board of directors approved the suspension of the DRIP.  
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     Three Months Ended    Year Ended  

(In thousands)    
March 31,  

2014    
June 30,  

2014    
September 30,  

2014    
December 31,  

2014    December 31, 2014 

Net income (loss) (in accordance with 
GAAP)    $ (8,155 )   $ (67,748 )   $ 9,522    $ (27,904 )   $ (94,285 ) 

Acquisition and transaction related    69    11,577    4,436    1    16,083  
Vesting of asset management fees    —   11,500    —   —   11,500  
Depreciation and amortization    21,013    20,222    21,657    21,907    84,799  
Interest expense    3,939    4,813    8,407    6,561    23,720  
Gain on derivative instruments    —   (1 )   —   —   (1 ) 

Fair value of listing promote    —   38,100    (24,700 )   20,079    33,479  
Adjustments related to 

unconsolidated joint venture (1)    11,187    11,189    11,242    11,323    44,941  
Adjusted EBITDA    28,053    29,652    30,564    31,967    120,236  

General and administrative    1,361    2,758    3,339    4,879    12,337  
Asset management fee to affiliate    —   2,274    2,980    3,143    8,397  
Income from preferred equity 

investment, investment securities 
and interest    (624 )   (677 )   (769 )   (836 )   (2,906 ) 

Preferred return on unconsolidated 
joint venture    (3,851 )   (3,894 )   (3,936 )   (3,936 )   (15,617 ) 

Proportionate share of other 
adjustments related to 
unconsolidated joint venture    3,135    652    1,924    1,925    7,636  

NOI    28,074    30,765    34,102    37,142    130,083  
Amortization of above/below market 

lease assets and liabilities    (2,454 )   (2,267 )   (2,296 )   (2,724 )   (9,741 ) 

Straight-line rent    (3,517 )   (2,533 )   (5,926 )   (7,616 )   (19,592 ) 

Straight-line ground rent    1,087    1,087    1,087    1,087    4,348  
Proportionate share of adjustments 

related to unconsolidated joint 
venture    (560 )   (758 )   (680 )   (796 )   (2,794 ) 

Cash NOI    22,630    26,294    26,287    27,093    102,304  
Free rent    1,650    1,861    4,217    6,269    13,997  

Adjusted Cash NOI    $ 24,280    $ 28,155    $ 30,504    $ 33,362    $ 116,301  

(1)  Proportionate share of adjustments related to unconsolidated joint venture and amortization of difference in basis. 
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During the year ended December 31, 2014 , dividends paid totaled $86.0 million , including $19.0 million of dividends that were reinvested 
through the DRIP and $0.9 million of dividends paid on unvested restricted shares and distributions paid on participating LTIP units and OP 
units.  During the year ended December 31, 2014 , cash used to pay our dividends was primarily generated from cash flows provided by 
operations, proceeds from common stock issued under the DRIP, issuances of common stock from prior periods, proceeds from financings and 
proceeds from Worldwide Plaza.  

The following table shows the sources for the payment of dividends for the periods presented:  

__________________  

(1) Includes payments related to unvested restricted stock, participating LTIP units, Class B units and OP units.  
(2) Cash flows provided by operations for the year ended December 31, 2014 include cash-related acquisition and transaction related expenses of 

$16.1 million .  
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     Three Months Ended    Year Ended  

     March 31, 2014    June 30, 2014    September 30, 2014    December 31, 2014    December 31, 2014  

(In thousands)         

Percentage  
of  

Dividends         

Percentage  
of  

Dividends         

Percentage   
of  

Dividends         

Percentage   
of  

Dividends         

Percentage  
of  

Dividends  

Dividends:                                                    

Dividends paid in cash    $ 11,774         $ 17,050         $ 18,626         $ 18,629         $ 66,079       

Dividends reinvested    14,084         4,935         —        —        19,019       

Other (1)    92         119         324         402         937       

Total dividends    $ 25,950         $ 22,104         $ 18,950         $ 19,031         $ 86,035       

Source of dividend coverage:                                                    
Cash flows provided by (used 

in) operations      $ 4,565    17.6 %   $ (2,413 )    (10.9 )%   $ (1,088 )    (5.7 )%   $ 5,471    28.7 %   $ 6,535    7.6 % 

Common stock issued under 
the DRIP / offering 
proceeds    14,084    54.3 %   4,935    22.3  %    —   — %    —   —%   19,019    22.1 % 

Proceeds from previously 
issued common stock    3,365    12.9 %   18,341    83.0  %    —   — %    —   —%   21,706    25.2 % 

Proceeds from financings    —   —%   —   — %    20,038    105.7  %    10,690    56.2 %   30,728    35.7 % 

Proceeds from Worldwide 
Plaza    3,936    15.2 %   1,241    5.6  %    —   — %    2,870    15.1 %   8,047    9.4 % 

Total sources of dividends    $ 25,950    100.0 %   $ 22,104    100.0  %    $ 18,950    100.0  %    $ 19,031    100.0 %   $ 86,035    100.0 % 

Cash flows provided by (used 
in) operations (GAAP 
basis) (2)    $ 4,565         $ (2,413 )         $ (1,088 )         $ 5,471         $ 6,535       

Net income (loss) attributable 
to stockholders (in 
accordance with GAAP)    $ (8,156 )         $ (67,237 )         $ 9,695         $ (28,072 )         $ (93,770 )       
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The following table compares cumulative amounts paid to our stockholders, irrespective of their treatment as dividends or distributions for 
tax purposes, to cumulative net loss (in accordance with GAAP) for the period from October 6, 2009 (date of inception) through December 31, 
2014 :  

__________________________________  

Dilution  

Our net tangible book value per share is a mechanical calculation using amounts from our balance sheet, and is calculated by (1) total book 
value of our assets less the net value of intangible assets, (2) minus total liabilities less the net value of intangible liabilities, (3) divided by the 
total number of common and preferred stock outstanding. It assumes that the value of real estate, and real estate related assets and liabilities 
diminish predictably over time as shown through the depreciation and amortization of real estate investments. Real estate values have 
historically risen and fallen with market conditions. Net tangible book value is used generally as a conservative measure of net worth and we do 
not believe it reflects our estimated value per share. It is not intended to reflect the value of our assets upon an orderly liquidation in accordance 
with our investment objectives. Our net tangible book value reflects dilution in the value of our fully diluted common and preferred stock from 
the issue price as a result of (i) operating losses, which reflect accumulated depreciation and amortization of real estate investments, (ii) the 
funding of dividends from sources other than cash flows from operations, and (iii) fees paid in connection with our IPO, including commissions, 
dealer manager fees and other offering costs. As of December 31, 2014 our tangible book value per share was $6.92 .  
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For the Period from  
October 6, 2009  

(date of inception) to  

(In thousands)    December 31, 2014  

Amounts paid:       

Preferred stockholders    $ 2,158  
Common stockholders in cash    87,865  
Common stockholders reinvested in DRIP / offering proceeds    41,548  
Other (1)    1,086  

Total amounts paid    $ 132,657  

        
Reconciliation of net loss:       

Revenues    $ 236,788  
Acquisition and transaction-related expenses    (42,576 ) 

Fair value of listing promote    (33,479 ) 

Vesting of asset management fees    (11,500 ) 

Depreciation and amortization    (129,730 ) 

Other operating expenses    (102,215 ) 

Other non-operating expenses    (43,135 ) 

Net income attributable to non-controlling interests    1,277  

Net loss (in accordance with GAAP) (2)    $ (124,570 ) 

      

   Cash flows provided by operations    $ 18,021  

      

   FFO    $ 33,733  

(1)  Includes amounts paid related to unvested restricted shares, participating LTIP units, Class B units and OP units. 

(2)  Net loss as defined by GAAP includes the non-cash impact of depreciation and amortization expense, valuations of derivatives as well as 
acquisition and transaction related costs.  
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Loan Obligations  

As of December 31, 2014 , we had consolidated mortgage notes payable of $172.2 million , excluding our 48.9% pro rata share of 
unconsolidated mortgage debt relating to Worldwide Plaza of $427.9 million . As of December 31, 2014 , the consolidated mortgage notes 
payable had a weighted average interest rate of 3.6% and our pro-rata share of unconsolidated mortgage debt relating to Worldwide Plaza had a 
weighted average interest rate of 4.6% .  

The payment terms of our loan obligations require principal and interest amounts payable monthly with all unpaid principal and interest due 
at maturity. Our loan agreements requires us to comply with specific reporting covenants. As of December 31, 2014 , we were in compliance 
with the debt covenants under our loan agreements.  

Incurring mortgage debt increases the risk of loss because defaults on indebtedness secured by a property may result in lenders initiating 
foreclosure actions. In that case, we could lose the property securing the loan that is in default and cause us to recognize taxable income on 
foreclosure for federal income tax purposes even though we do not receive any cash proceeds. In such event, we may be unable to pay the 
amount of dividends required in order to maintain our REIT status.  

Our mortgage loan securing the three buildings in our Bleecker Street portfolio in the amount of $21.3 million will mature in December 
2015. The Company intends to refinance this obligation utilizing a mortgage loan or unused proceeds from our credit facility. See Note 7 - 
Credit Facility of the notes to our consolidated financial statements.  

Contractual Obligations  

Debt Obligations  

The following is a summary of our contractual debt obligations as of December 31, 2014 :  

Lease Obligations  

We entered into lease agreements primarily related to certain acquisitions under leasehold interest arrangements. The following table reflects 
the minimum base rental cash payments due from us over the next five years and thereafter under these arrangements. These amounts exclude 
contingent rent payments, as applicable, that may be payable based on provisions related to increases in annual rent based on exceeding certain 
economic indexes among other items.  
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          Years Ended December 31,       

(In thousands)    Total    2015    2016 — 2017    2018 — 2019    Thereafter  

Principal payments due:                           

Mortgage notes payable    $ 172,242    $ 21,794    $ 130,897    $ 9,350    $ 10,201  
Credit facility    635,000    —   330,000    305,000    — 

     $ 807,242    $ 21,794    $ 460,897    $ 314,350    $ 10,201  

Interest payments due:                      

Mortgage notes payable    $ 16,744    $ 6,122    $ 8,825    $ 1,324    $ 473  
Credit facility    33,952    12,652    17,092    4,208    — 

     $ 50,696    $ 18,774    $ 25,917    $ 5,532    $ 473  

          Years Ended December 31,       

(In thousands)    Total    2015    2016 — 2017    2018 — 2019    Thereafter  

Capital lease obligations    $ 3,920    $ 86    $ 172    $ 172    $ 3,490  
Operating lease obligations    276,456    4,531    9,863    10,435    251,627  

Total lease obligations    $ 280,376    $ 4,617    $ 10,035    $ 10,607    $ 255,117  
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Election as a REIT  

We elected to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, commencing with our 
taxable year ended December 31, 2010. If we continue to qualify for taxation as a REIT, we generally will not be subject to federal corporate 
income tax to the extent we distribute 100% of our REIT taxable income to our stockholders. REITs are subject to a number of other 
organizational and operational requirements. Even if we qualify for taxation as a REIT, we may be subject to certain state and local taxes on our 
income and property, and federal income and excise taxes on our undistributed income. In order to maintain our status as a REIT, we must 
distribute annually at least 90% of our REIT taxable income. We believe we are organized and operated in such a manner as to continue to 
qualify to be taxed as a REIT.  

Inflation  

Some of our leases contain provisions designed to mitigate the adverse impact of inflation. These provisions generally increase rental rates 
during the terms of the leases either at fixed rates or indexed escalations (based on the Consumer Price Index or other measures). We may be 
adversely impacted by inflation on the leases that do not contain indexed escalation provisions. In addition, our net leases require the tenant to 
pay its allocable share of operating expenses, which may include common area maintenance costs, real estate taxes and insurance. This may 
reduce our exposure to increases in costs and operating expenses resulting from inflation.  

Related-Party Transactions and Agreements  

We have entered into agreements with affiliates of our Sponsor, whereby we have paid or may in the future pay certain fees or 
reimbursements to our Advisor, its affiliates and entities under common ownership with our Advisor in connection with acquisition and 
financing activities, sales and maintenance of common stock under our offering, transfer agency services, asset and property management 
services and reimbursement of operating and offering related costs. See Note 14 — Related Party Transactions and Arrangements to our 
financial statements included in this report for a discussion of the various related party transactions, agreements and fees.  

Off-Balance - Sheet Arrangements  

We have no off-balance-sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on our financial condition, 
changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that are material to 
investors.  

Subsequent Events  

On February 4, 2015, Cache, Inc. ("Cache"), one of our tenants at 256 W. 38th Street, sought bankruptcy protection from its creditors, 
including us. Cache has ceased making rental payments and has announced its intention to vacate its spaces in May 2015. We believe that 
Cache's bankruptcy is an opportunity to re-lease the currently below-market space at market rates later in 2015. The termination of Cache's lease 
is not expected to have a material impact on our financial position, cash flows or results of operations.  

On March 27, 2015, the owner of 123 William Street, the property in which we held our $35.1 million preferred equity investment, sold the 
property to American Realty Capital New York City REIT, Inc., which is sponsored and advised by entities under common control with our 
Sponsor and our Advisor. On such date, we received our entire principal balance plus accrued income receivable. Cash received from the sale of 
our preferred equity investment has increased our liquidity and the funds are available for dividends to our stockholders and other working 
capital requirements.  

Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.  

The market risk associated with financial instruments and derivative financial instruments is the risk of loss from adverse changes in market 
prices or interest rates. Our long-term debt, which consists of secured financings and our credit facility, bears interest at fixed rates and variable 
rates. Our interest rate risk management objectives are to limit the impact of interest rate changes on earnings and cash flows and to lower our 
overall borrowing costs. From time to time, we may enter into interest rate hedge contracts such as swaps, collars, and treasury lock agreements 
in order to mitigate our interest rate risk with respect to various debt instruments. We do not hold or issue these derivative contracts for trading 
or speculative purposes. We do not have any foreign operations and thus we are not exposed to foreign currency fluctuations.  
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As of December 31, 2014 , our debt consisted of both fixed and variable-rate debt. We had fixed-rate secured mortgage notes payable and 
fixed-rate loans under our credit facility, with an aggregate carrying value of $252.2 million and a fair value of $254.5 million . Changes in 
market interest rates on our fixed-rate debt impact the fair value of the notes, but it has no impact on interest due on the notes. For instance, if 
interest rates rise 100 basis points and our fixed rate debt balance remains constant, we expect the fair value of our obligation to decrease, the 
same way the price of a bond declines as interest rates rise. The sensitivity analysis related to our fixed–rate debt assumes an immediate 100 
basis point move in interest rates from their December 31, 2014 levels, with all other variables held constant.  A 100 basis point increase in 
market interest rates would result in a decrease in the fair value of our fixed-rate debt by $3.0 million . A 100 basis point decrease in market 
interest rates would result in an increase in the fair value of our fixed-rate debt by $2.9 million .   

As of December 31, 2014 , our variable-rate portion of the credit facility had a carrying and fair value of $555.0 million . Interest rate 
volatility associated with this variable-rate credit facility affects interest expense incurred and cash flow. The sensitivity analysis related to our 
variable-rate debt assumes an immediate 100 basis point move in interest rates from their December 31, 2014 levels, with all other variables held 
constant. A 100 basis point increase or decrease in variable interest rates on our variable-rate credit facility would increase or decrease our 
interest expense by $5.6 million annually.  

These amounts were determined by considering the impact of hypothetical interest rates changes on our borrowing costs, and assuming no 
other changes in our capital structure. As the information presented above includes only those exposures that existed as of December 31, 2014 , 
it does not consider exposures or positions arising after that date. The information represented herein has limited predictive value. Future actual 
realized gains or losses with respect to interest rate fluctuations will depend on cumulative exposures, hedging strategies employed and the 
magnitude of the fluctuations.  

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.  

The information required by this Item 8 is hereby incorporated by reference to our Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on page  F-
1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.  

None.  

Item 9A.    Controls and Procedures.  

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures  

As required by Rule 13a-15 promulgated under the Exchange Act, the Company is required to establish and maintain disclosure controls and 
procedures as defined in subparagraph (e) of that rule. Management is required to evaluate, with the participation of its Chief Executive Officer 
and Chief Financial Officer, the effectiveness of its disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of each fiscal quarter. As described below, 
management has identified material weaknesses in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting and management, including each of 
the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were not 
effective as of December 31, 2014 due to these material weaknesses. Management believes the consolidated financial statements contained 
herein present fairly, in all material respects, our financial position as of the specified dates and our results of operations and cash flows for the 
specified periods.  

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting  

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in 
Rule 13a-15(f) promulgated under the Exchange Act and as set forth below. Under Rule 13a-15(c), management must evaluate, with the 
participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the effectiveness, as of the end of each calendar year, of the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting. The term internal control over financial reporting is defined as a process designed by, or under the 
supervision of, the issuer's principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the 
issuer's board of directors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and includes those 
policies and procedures that:  

 

1)  Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets 
of the issuer;  

2)  Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the issuer are being made only in accordance with 
authorizations of management and directors of the issuer; and  

3)  Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the issuer's 
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.  
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of any 
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that 
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  

In the course of preparing this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the consolidated financial statements included herein, our management 
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014 using the criteria issued by 
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in the  Internal Control-Integrated Framework 
(2013) . Based on that evaluation, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of December 31, 
2014 due to the material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting, as described below.  

A material weakness is defined as a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there 
is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the Company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected 
on a timely basis.  

As part of our evaluation of internal control over financial reporting as described above, management concluded that the Company did not:  

These deficiencies in internal controls did not result in any misstatements in the Company's consolidated financial statements for the current 
period, however, the ineffectiveness of the design, implementation, and operation of the controls create a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement to the consolidated financial statements would not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Accordingly, our management 
concluded that the deficiencies represent material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014 .  

KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, was engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements included in 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K and their audit report is included on Page  F-2  of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. KPMG LLP was also 
engaged to audit the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014 and issued an adverse 
audit report regarding their assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which is included on page F-4 in 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.  

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rule 13a-15
(d) that occurred during our most recent fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to affect, our internal control over 
financial reporting.  
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•  Maintain an effective control environment and risk assessment process, specifically: 

◦  Maintain sufficient written policies and procedures regarding the Company's business and financial reporting processes, including 
establishing sufficient appropriate management authorities and responsibilities; and  

◦  Design and conduct an effective risk assessment process to identify and analyze risks impacting financial reporting, and implement 
business process level controls and monitoring activities that are responsive to those risks.  

•  Maintain effective information technology access controls over its financial reporting system and accounts payable application; 

•  Establish appropriate segregation of duties within the purchasing, accounts payable and cash disbursements process; 

•  Design and maintain appropriate controls, including general IT controls, over the use of significant Excel spreadsheets supporting the 
financial reporting process; and  

•  Design and maintain appropriate controls over the authorization, completeness, existence and accuracy of manual journal entries. 
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Remediation Plan  

Management, and our Board of Directors, is focused on improving the Company’s processes and internal controls. Management, with the 
concurrence of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company has directed management to proceed with a remediation plan. 
Accordingly, management is in the process of developing and implementing a plan to remediate the deficiencies in internal control referenced 
above. Specifically:  

We intend to execute our remediation plan as soon as feasible. We will test the ongoing effectiveness of the new controls and will consider 
the material weakness remediated after the new controls operate effectively for a sufficient period of time. There is no assurance, however, that 
these measures will remediate the material weakness or ensure that our internal controls over financial reporting will be effective in the future. If 
we are unable to remediate this material weakness, we may not timely file our periodic reports with the SEC which will have a material adverse 
effect on our ability to access the capital markets and affect our ability to provide accurate financial information.  

Item 9B. Other Information.  

None.  

PART III  

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.  

We have adopted a Code of Ethics that applies to all of our executive officers and directors, including but not limited to, our principal 
executive officer and principal financial officer and Corporate Governance Guidelines for our directors. A copy of our Code of Ethics and 
Corporate Governance Guidelines may be obtained, free of charge, by sending a written request to our executive office – 405 Park Avenue – 14 
th Floor, New York, NY 10022, attention Chief Financial Officer.  

The other information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement on Schedule 14A filed with the 
SEC on April 30, 2015 (the "Proxy Statement").  

Item 11. Executive Compensation.  

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement.  

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.  

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement.  

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.  

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement.  

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.  

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement.  

PART IV  
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•  Management will continue to evaluate and revise its business process review to ensure that information systems, processes, internal 
controls, monitoring activities and personnel are fully aligned with our financial reporting objectives.  

•  Management has begun to establish appropriate and more restrictive access controls with respect to the general ledger IT application 
and supporting systems and to establish appropriate segregation of duties within the accounts payable and cash disbursements process. 
Additional staffing will be added to manage system administration.  

•  Excel tools and sub-ledgers will be removed from the enterprise-wide shared drives, and appropriate computing and access controls will 
be implemented.  

•  Management will improve the documentation of the Company’s system of internal control over financial reporting, specifically its 
control environment, business processes and control activities responsive to the risks of misstatement, operating policies and 
procedures, and monitoring activities.  

•  Management will design and maintain appropriate controls over the authorization, completeness, existence and accuracy of manual 
journal entries.  
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Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.  

(a) Financial Statement Schedules  

See the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements at page F-1 of this report.  

The following financial statement schedule is included herein at page F-45 of this report:  

Schedule III – Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation  

(b) Exhibits  
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EXHIBIT INDEX  

The following exhibits are included, or incorporated by reference, in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 
2014 (and are numbered in accordance with Item 601 of Regulation S-K):  

______________________________________  

 

 

Exhibit No.     Description  

 3.1  (1)     Amended and Restated Charter of American Realty Capital New York Recovery REIT, Inc. dated June 13, 2014  

3.2 (2)     Amended and Restated Bylaws of American Realty Capital New York Recovery REIT, Inc. dated April 15, 2014  

4.1 (2)    Fourth Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of New York Recovery Operating Partnership, L.P. dated as of April 15, 2014  

4.2*    First Amendment to Fourth Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of New York Recovery Operating Partnership, L.P., dated as of April 15, 2015  

10.1 (2)  
   

Sixth Amended and Restated Advisory Agreement by and among New York REIT, Inc., New York Recovery Operating Partnership, L.P. and New York Recovery Advisors, LLC dated as 
of April 15, 2014  

10.2 (3)  
   

Amended and Restated Management Agreement, among American Realty Capital New York Recovery REIT, Inc., New York Recovery Operating Partnership, L.P. and New York 
Recovery Properties, LLC, dated as of September 2, 2010  

10.3 (1)     First Amendment to the Distribution Reinvestment Plan of American Realty Capital New York Recovery REIT, Inc., dated as of March 31, 2014  

10.4 (4)    Employee and Director Incentive Restricted Share Plan adopted as of September 22, 2010  

10.5 (2)    First Amendment to Employee and Director Incentive Restricted Share Plan of American Realty Capital New York Recovery REIT, Inc. dated as of March 31, 2014  

10.6 (5)     Second Amendment to Employee and Director Incentive Restricted Share Plan of American Realty Capital New York Recovery REIT, Inc. dated as of April 29, 2014  

10.7 (4)     2010 Stock Option Plan Adopted as of September 22, 2010  

10.8 (2)  
   

2014 Advisor Multi-Year Outperformance Agreement by and among New York REIT, Inc., New York Recovery Operating Partnership, L.P. and New York Recovery Advisors, LLC made 
as of April 15, 2014  

10.9 (2)    Contribution and Exchange Agreement dated as of April 15, 2014  

10.10 (2)    Listing Note Agreement dated as of April 15, 2014  

10.11 (1)  
  

Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated April 14, 2014 by and among New York Recovery Operating Partnership, L.P., as borrower, New York REIT, Inc. as the REIT and 
guarantor, the lenders party thereto and Capital One, National Association, as administrative agent  

10.12 (6)  
  

Assignment, Assumption and Allocation Agreement between American Realty Capital New York Recovery REIT, Inc. and New York Recovery Operating Partnership, L.P., dated as of 
November 12, 2012  

10.13 (7)    Sale-Purchase Agreement, dated June 28, 2013, by and among 333W34 SLG OWNER LLC and ARC NY333W3401, LLC  

10.14 (8)    Contribution and Admission Agreement, dated as of October 8, 2013, between WWP Sponsor, LLC and ARC NYWWPJV001, LLC  

10.15 (8)    Sale-Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 21, 2013, by and between 1440 Broadway Owner, LLC and ARC NY1440BWY1, LLC  

10.16 (9)    Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of WWP Holdings, LLC, dated October 31, 2013, by and among NYWWPJV001, LLC and WWP Sponsor, LLC  

10.17 (10)  
  

Agreement of Purchase and Sale, dated as of July 29, 2014, by and between 245 West 17 th  Street Property Investors II, LLC, 249 West 17 th  Street Property Investors II, LLC and New 
York Recovery Operating Partnership, L.P.  

10.18 (10)  
  

First Amendment to Agreement of Purchase and Sale, dated as of August 22, 2014, by and between 245 West 17 th  Street Property Investors II, LLC, 249 West 17 th  Street Property 
Investors II, LLC and New York Recovery Operating Partnership, L.P.  

10.19 *  

  

Indemnification Agreement between New York REIT, Inc. and each of Nicholas S. Schorsch, Michael A. Happel, Gregory W. Sullivan, Edward M. Weil, Jr., William M. Kahane, Randolph 
C. Read, Robert H. Burns, P. Sue Perrotty, Scott J. Bowman, William G. Stanley, New York Recovery Advisors, LLC, AR Capital, LLC and RCS Capital Corp, dated as of December 
31, 2014  

14 (11)    Amended and Restated Code of Business Conduct and Ethics  

16.1 (12)    Letter from Grant Thornton LLP to the Securities and Exchange Commission dated January 28, 2015  

21.1 *      Subsidiaries of New York REIT, Inc.  

23.1*    Consent of KPMG LLP  

23.2*    Consent of Grant Thornton LLP  

31.1 *     Certification of the Principal Executive Officer of the Company pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley 
Act of 2002  

31.2 *     Certification of the Principal Financial Officer of the Company pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley 
Act of 2002  

32 *     Written statements of the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer of the Company pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  

101 *  

  

XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language). The following materials from New York REIT, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014, formatted in 
XBRL: (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss, (iii) the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, (iv) the 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and (v) the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. As provided in Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, this information in furnished and not 
filed for purpose of Sections 11 and 12 of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934  

*  Filed herewith 

(1)  Filed as an exhibit to New York REIT, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-197362) filed with the SEC on July 11, 2014. 
(2)  Filed as an exhibit to New York REIT, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 15, 2014. 
(3)  Filed as an exhibit to the Pre-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Post-Effective Amendment No. 3 to New York REIT Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form S-11 (Registration 

No. 333-163069) filed with the SEC on July 26, 2011.  
(4)  Filed as an exhibit to the Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to New York REIT, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form S-11 (Registration No. 333-163069) filed with the 

SEC on March 2, 2011.  
(5)  Filed as an exhibit to New York REIT, Inc.'s Amendment No. 1 to Schedule TO filed with the SEC on May 5, 2014. 
(6)  Filed as an exhibit to New York REIT, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on November 13, 2012. 
(7)  Filed as an exhibit to New York REIT, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on August 13, 2013. 
(8)  Filed as an exhibit to New York REIT, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on November 13, 2013. 
(9)  Filed as an exhibit to New York REIT, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed with the SEC on November 27, 2013. 
(10)  Filed as an exhibit to New York REIT, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on November 4, 2014. 
(11)  Filed as an exhibit to New York REIT, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 13, 2014. 
(12)  Filed as an exhibit to New York REIT, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 28, 2015. 
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SIGNATURES  

 
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, this 11th day of May, 2015 .  

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this annual report on Form 10-K has been signed below 
by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.  
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   NEW YORK REIT, INC.  

   By:  /s/ MICHAEL A. HAPPEL  

      MICHAEL A. HAPPEL  

      CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND PRESIDENT  

Name    Capacity    Date  

          

/s/ Michael A. Happel    Chief Executive Officer and President  
(and Principal Executive Officer)  

  May 11, 2015  

Michael A. Happel         

          

/s/ Gregory W. Sullivan    Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and 
Secretary (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting 
Officer)  

  May 11, 2015  

Gregory W. Sullivan         

          

/s/ William M. Kahane    Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors    May 11, 2015  

William M. Kahane            

          

/s/ P. Sue Perrotty    Independent Director, Audit Committee Chair    May 11, 2015  

P. Sue Perrotty            

          

/s/ Randolph C. Read    Independent Director    May 11, 2015  

Randolph C. Read            

          

/s/ Robert H. Burns    Independent Director    May 11, 2015  

Robert H. Burns            
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The Board of Directors and Stockholders  

New York REIT, Inc.:  

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of New York REIT, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 
2014 , and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), changes in equity and cash flows for the year then 
ended. In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, we also have audited the accompanying financial statement 
schedule III, real estate and accumulated depreciation. These consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule are the 
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and 
financial statement schedule based on our audit.  

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit 
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 
position of New York REIT, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the year 
ended December 31, 2014 , in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial 
statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material 
respects, the information set forth therein.  

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), New York 
REIT, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014 , based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated 
Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated May 11, 
2015 expressed an adverse opinion on the effectiveness of New York REIT, Inc. and subsidiaries' internal control over financial reporting.  

 

/s/ KPMG LLP  

New York, New York  

May 11, 2015  
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The Board of Directors and Stockholders  

New York REIT, Inc.:  

 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of New York REIT, Inc. (a Maryland Corporation) and subsidiaries (the 
"Company") as of December 31, 2013 and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, changes in equity and cash 
flows for each of the two years ended December 31, 2013. Our audits of the basic consolidated financial statements included the financial 
statement schedule listed in the index appearing under Item 15(a). These financial statements and financial statement schedule are the 
responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and financial statement 
schedule based on our audits.  

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. 
Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. 
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of New 
York REIT, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the two years ended 
December 31, 2013, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, the 
related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, 
in all material respects, the information set forth therein.  

 

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP  

 

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania  

February 28, 2014  
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The Board of Directors and Stockholders  

New York REIT, Inc.:  

We have audited New York REIT, Inc.’s (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014 , based on criteria 
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO). New York REIT, Inc.'s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and 
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report 
on Internal Control over Financial Reporting . Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial 
reporting based on our audit.  

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial 
reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, 
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on 
the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that 
our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 
A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, 
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and 
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.  

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of 
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or 
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a 
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a 
timely basis. The following material weaknesses have been identified and included in management’s assessment. The Company did not:  

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 
consolidated balance sheet of New York REIT, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014 and the related consolidated statements of 
operations and comprehensive income (loss), changes in equity and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2014 , and the related schedule 
III, real estate and accumulated depreciation. These material weaknesses were considered in determining the nature, timing, and extent of audit 
tests applied in our audit of the 2014 consolidated financial statements, and this report does not affect our report dated May 11, 2015 , which 
expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule.  
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•  Maintain an effective control environment and risk assessment process, specifically: 

•  Maintain sufficient written policies and procedures regarding the Company’s business and financial reporting processes, including 
establishing sufficient appropriate management authorities and responsibilities  

•  Design and conduct an effective risk assessment process to identify and analyze risks impacting financial reporting, and implement 
business process level controls and monitoring activities that are responsive to those risks  

•  Maintain effective information technology access controls over its financial reporting system and accounts payable application; 

•  Establish appropriate segregation of duties within the purchasing, accounts payable, and cash disbursements process; 

•  Design and maintain appropriate controls, including general IT controls, over the use of significant Excel spreadsheets supporting the 
financial reporting process; and  

•  Design and maintain appropriate controls over the authorization, completeness, existence and accuracy of manual journal entries. 
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In our opinion, because of the effect of the aforementioned material weaknesses on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, 
New York REIT Inc. has not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014 , based on criteria 
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO).  

We do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance on management’s statements referring to corrective actions taken after 
December 31, 2014 , relative to the aforementioned material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting.  

 

/s/ KPMG LLP  

New York, New York  

May 11, 2015  
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  

(In thousands, except share and per share data)  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements  
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     December 31,  

     2014    2013  

ASSETS            

Real estate investments, at cost:            

Land    $ 494,065    $ 425,814  
Buildings, fixtures and improvements    1,235,918    989,145  
Acquired intangible assets    158,383    127,846  

Total real estate investments, at cost    1,888,366    1,542,805  
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization    (124,178 )   (41,183 ) 

Total real estate investments, net    1,764,188    1,501,622  
Cash and cash equivalents    22,512    233,377  
Restricted cash    6,347    1,122  
Investment securities, at fair value    4,659    1,048  
Investments in unconsolidated joint venture    225,501    234,774  
Preferred equity investment    35,100    30,000  
Derivatives, at fair value    205    490  
Receivable for sale of common stock    —   11,127  
Tenant and other receivables    4,833    2,230  
Unbilled rent receivables    30,866    11,276  
Prepaid expenses and other assets    13,195    7,898  
Deferred costs, net    13,429    13,341  

Total assets    $ 2,120,835    $ 2,048,305  

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY            
Mortgage notes payable    $ 172,242    $ 172,716  
Credit facility    635,000    305,000  
Market lease intangibles, net    84,220    73,029  
Derivatives, at fair value    1,276    875  
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities (including amounts due to affiliates of $575 

and $1,273 as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively)    27,850    30,703  
Deferred rent    4,550    7,997  
Dividends payable    20    8,726  

Total liabilities    925,158    599,046  
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 40,866,376 shares authorized, none issued and outstanding    —   — 
Convertible preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 9,133,624 shares authorized, none issued and 

outstanding    —   — 
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 300,000,000 shares authorized, 162,181,939 and 174,120,408 

shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively    1,622    1,741  
Additional paid-in capital    1,401,619    1,533,698  
Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (816 )   (613 ) 

Accumulated deficit    (255,478 )   (86,008 ) 

Total stockholders' equity    1,146,947    1,448,818  
Non-controlling interests    48,730    441  

Total equity    1,195,677    1,449,259  

Total liabilities and equity    $ 2,120,835    $ 2,048,305  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHEN SIVE INCOME (LOSS)  

(In thousands, except per share data)  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements  
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     Year Ended December 31,  

     2014    2013    2012  

Revenues:                 

Rental income    $ 117,221    $ 49,532    $ 14,519  
Hotel revenue    22,742    2,254    — 
Operating expense reimbursements and other revenue    15,604    4,101    903  

Total revenues    155,567    55,887    15,422  
Operating expenses:                 

Property operating    37,209    12,546    2,398  
Hotel operating    23,736    2,372    — 
Operating fees to affiliates    8,397    —   — 
Acquisition and transaction related    16,083    17,417    6,066  
Vesting of asset management fees    11,500    —   — 
Value of listing promote    33,479    —   — 
General and administrative    12,337    1,019    226  
Depreciation and amortization    84,799    31,751    8,097  

Total operating expenses    227,540    65,105    16,787  
Operating loss    (71,973 )   (9,218 )   (1,365 ) 

Other income (expenses):                 

Interest expense    (23,720 )   (10,673 )   (4,994 ) 

Loss from unconsolidated joint venture    (1,499 )   (95 )   — 
Income from preferred equity investment, investment securities and interest    2,906    670    1  
Gain (loss) on derivative instruments    1    5    (14 ) 

Total other expenses    (22,312 )   (10,093 )   (5,007 ) 

Net loss    (94,285 )   (19,311 )   (6,372 ) 

Net loss attributable to non-controlling interests    1,257    32    33  

Net loss attributable to stockholders    $ (93,028 )   $ (19,279 )   $ (6,339 ) 

              

Other comprehensive income (loss):                 

Change in unrealized gain (loss) on derivatives    (687 )   1,320    (1,492 ) 

Unrealized gain (loss) on investment securities    484    (240 )   — 
Total other comprehensive income (loss)    (203 )   1,080    (1,492 ) 

Comprehensive loss attributable to stockholders    $ (93,231 )   $ (18,199 )   $ (7,831 ) 

              

Basic and diluted net loss per share available to stockholders    $ (0.56 )   $ (0.26 )   $ (0.52 ) 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  

(In thousands, except share data)  
 
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements  
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     Common Stock         
Accumulated 

Other 
Comprehensive 
Income (Loss)  

                    

     

Number  
of  

Shares    
Par  

Value    

Additional  
Paid-In  
Capital      

Accumulated  
Deficit    

Stockholders'  
Equity    

Non-  
controlling  
Interests    

Total  
Equity  

Balance, December 31, 2011    6,658,903    $ 67    $ 47,786    $ (201 )    $ (8,597 )    $ 39,055    $ 12,136    $ 51,191  
Issuances of common stock    12,985,794    130    128,747    —   —   128,877    —   128,877  
Common stock offering costs, commissions and dealer 

manager fees, net of reimbursements    —   —   (13,027 )    —   —   (13,027 )    —   (13,027 )  

Common stock issued though distribution reinvestment plan    343,069    3    3,255    —   —   3,258    —   3,258  
Common stock repurchases    (81,661 )    (1 )    (780 )    —   —   (781 )    —   (781 )  

Equity-based compensation    24,667    —   180    —   —   180    —   180  
Increase in interest in Bleecker Street    —   —   (1,189 )    —   —   (1,189 )    (10,811 )    (12,000 )  

Non-controlling interests issued    —   —   —   —   —   —   480    480  
Dividends to non-controlling interest holders    —   —   —   —   —   —   (481 )    (481 )  

Dividends declared    —   —   —   —   (7,402 )    (7,402 )    —   (7,402 )  

Net loss    —   —   —   —   (6,339 )    (6,339 )    (33 )    (6,372 )  

Other comprehensive loss    —   —   —   (1,492 )    —   (1,492 )    —   (1,492 )  

Balance, December 31, 2012    19,930,772    199    164,972    (1,693 )    (22,338 )    141,140    1,291    142,431  
Issuances of common stock    152,371,933    1,524    1,501,003    —   —   1,502,527    —   1,502,527  
Common stock offering costs, commissions and dealer 

manager fees    —   —   (149,210 )    —   —   (149,210 )    —   (149,210 )  

Common stock issued through distribution reinvestment plan    1,984,370    20    18,832    —   —   18,852    —   18,852  
Common stock repurchases    (195,395 )    (2 )    (1,884 )    —   —   (1,886 )    —   (1,886 )  

Equity-based compensation    28,728    —   232    —   —   232    —   232  
Increase in interest in Bleecker Street    —   —   (247 )    —   —   (247 )    (753 )    (1,000 )  

Dividends to non-controlling interest holders    —   —   —   —   —   —   (65 )    (65 )  

Dividends declared    —   —   —   —   (44,391 )    (44,391 )    —   (44,391 )  

Net loss    —   —   —   —   (19,279 )    (19,279 )    (32 )    (19,311 )  

Other comprehensive income    —   —   —   1,080    —   1,080    —   1,080  
Balance, December 31, 2013    174,120,408    1,741    1,533,698    (613 )    (86,008 )    1,448,818    441    1,449,259  
Issuances of common stock    18,908    —   184    —   —   184    —   184  
Common stock offering costs, commissions and dealer 

manager fees    —   —   (95 )    —   —   (95 )    —   (95 )  

Common stock issued though distribution reinvestment plan    2,002,008    20    18,999    —   —   19,019    —   19,019  
Common stock repurchases, inclusive of fees and expenses    (14,175,115 )    (141 )    (153,622 )    —   —   (153,763 )    —   (153,763 )  

Contributions from non-controlling interest holders of 
affiliates    —   —   —   —   —   —   750    750  

Issuance of OP units to affiliates    —   —   —   —   —   —   44,979    44,979  
Redemption of OP units by affiliates    —   —   —   —   —   —   (698 )    (698 )  

Equity-based compensation    215,730    2    2,455    —   —   2,457    5,295    7,752  
Dividends to non-controlling interest holders    —   —   —   —   —   —   (780 )    (780 )  

Dividends declared    —   —   —   —   (76,442 )    (76,442 )    —   (76,442 )  

Net loss    —   —   —   —   (93,028 )    (93,028 )    (1,257 )    (94,285 )  

Other comprehensive loss    —   —   —   (203 )    —   (203 )    —   (203 )  

Balance, December 31, 2014    162,181,939    $ 1,622    $ 1,401,619    $ (816 )    $ (255,478 )    $ 1,146,947    $ 48,730    $ 1,195,677  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

(In thousands)  
 

     Year Ended December 31,  

     2014    2013    2012  

Cash flows from operating activities:                 

Net loss    $ (94,285 )    $ (19,311 )    $ (6,372 )  

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:                 
Depreciation    63,349    23,405    6,368  
Amortization of intangibles    21,450    8,346    1,729  
Amortization of deferred financing costs    8,184    2,369    889  

Accretion of below- and amortization of above-market lease liabilities and assets, net    (9,738 )    (2,681 )    (433 )  

Vesting of asset management fees and final value of listing note    44,979    —   — 
Loss from unconsolidated joint venture    1,499    95    — 
Bad debt expense    220    481    — 
Share-based compensation    7,752    232    180  
Loss (gain) on derivative instruments    (1 )    (5 )    14  

Non-controlling interest issued    —   —   100  
Changes in assets and liabilities:                 

Tenant and other receivables    (2,823 )    (1,215 )    (404 )  

Unbilled rent receivables    (19,590 )    (8,968 )    (1,573 )  

Prepaid expenses, other assets and deferred costs    (6,632 )    (8,566 )    (1,343 )  

Accrued unbilled ground rent    4,348    476    — 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses    (8,730 )    7,314    3,236  
Due from affiliated entities    —   325    — 
Deferred rent and other liabilities    (3,447 )    7,131    639  

Net cash provided by operating activities    6,535    9,428    3,030  
Cash flows from investing activities:                 

Investment in real estate and other assets    (316,206 )    (1,298,228 )    (144,750 )  

Acquisition funds held in escrow    (4,748 )    —   — 
Capital expenditures    (11,801 )    (12,089 )    (1,003 )  

Purchase of investment securities    (3,127 )    (1,288 )    — 
Distributions from unconsolidated joint venture    8,047    2,097    — 

Net cash used in investing activities    (327,835 )    (1,309,508 )    (145,753 )  

Cash flows from financing activities:                 

Payments on notes payable    —   —   (5,933 )  

Proceeds from mortgage notes payable    —   —   31,565  
Payments on mortgage notes payable    (474 )    (72,853 )    (434 )  

Proceeds from credit facility    330,000    305,000    48,495  
Payments on credit facility    —   (19,995 )    (28,500 )  

Proceeds from issuance of common stock    11,311    1,492,523    127,962  
Proceeds from issuance of operating partnership units    750    —   — 
Repurchases of common stock, inclusive of fees and expenses    (154,269 )    (1,763 )    (424 )  

Payments of offering costs and fees related to stock issuances    (1,506 )    (148,223 )    (13,618 )  

Payments of financing costs    (7,293 )    (7,562 )    (4,582 )  

Dividends paid    (66,129 )    (17,799 )    (3,445 )  

Payments to affiliate    —   —   33  
Dividends to non-controlling interest holders    (780 )    (65 )    (481 )  

Redemptions of OP units    (698 )    (1,000 )    (12,000 )  

Restricted cash    (477 )    (160 )    (783 )  

Net cash provided by financing activities    110,435    1,528,103    137,855  
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    (210,865 )    228,023    (4,868 )  
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Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period    233,377    5,354    10,222  
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period    $ 22,512    $ 233,377    $ 5,354  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

(In thousands)  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements  
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     Year Ended December 31,  

     2014    2013    2012  

Supplemental Disclosures:                 

Cash paid for interest    $ 15,467    $ 7,946    $ 4,016  
Accrued capital expenditures    3,555    —   — 
Mortgage notes payable used to acquire investments in real estate    —   60,000    79,188  
Liabilities assumed in acquisition of real estate    —   12,206    4,760  
Non-controlling interest issued to seller    —   —   380  
Accrued offering costs    —   1,411    424  
Accrued repurchase requests    —   506    383  
Common stock issued through distribution reinvestment plan    19,019    18,852    3,258  
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012  
 
 
 

Note 1 — Organization  

New York REIT, Inc. (the "Company") focuses on acquiring and owning income-producing commercial real estate in New York City, 
primarily office and retail properties located in Manhattan. To add diversity to the portfolio, the Company may also acquire multifamily, 
industrial, hotel and other types of real properties as well as originate or acquire first mortgage loans, mezzanine loans, or preferred equity 
interests related to New York City real estate. The Company purchased its first property and commenced active operations in June 2010. As of 
December 31, 2014 , the Company owned 24 properties and real estate-related assets.  

In September 2010, the Company commenced its initial public offering (the "IPO") on a "reasonable best efforts" basis of up to 150.0 
million shares of common stock at a price of $10.00 per share, subject to certain volume and other discounts. The Company's IPO closed in 
December 2013. The Company operated as a non-traded real estate investment trust ("REIT") through April 14, 2014. On April 15, 2014, the 
Company listed its common stock on the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") under the symbol NYRT (the "Listing"). Concurrent with the 
Listing, the Company offered to purchase up to 23.3 million shares of its common stock at a price of $10.75 per share (the “Tender Offer”). As a 
result of the Tender Offer, on May 12, 2014, the Company purchased 14.2 million shares of its common stock at a price of $10.75 per share, for 
an aggregate of $152.3 million , excluding fees and expenses relating to the Tender Offer and including fractional shares repurchased thereafter.  

The Company, incorporated on October 6, 2009, is a Maryland corporation that qualified as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes 
beginning with its taxable year ended December 31, 2010.  Substantially all of the Company's business is conducted through New York 
Recovery Operating Partnership, L.P. (the "OP"), a Delaware limited partnership. The Company has no direct employees.  The Company has 
retained New York Recovery Advisors, LLC (the "Advisor") to manage its affairs on a day-to-day basis. New York Recovery Properties, LLC 
(the "Property Manager") serves as the Company's property manager, unless services are performed by a third party for specific properties.  
Realty Capital Securities, LLC (the "Dealer Manager") served as the dealer manager of the IPO and continues to provide the Company with 
various services.  The Advisor, Property Manager and Dealer Manager are under common control with the parent of the Company's sponsor, 
American Realty Capital III, LLC (the "Sponsor"), as a result of which, they are related parties and receive compensation, fees and expense 
reimbursements for services related to the investment and management of the Company's assets.  

Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

Basis of Accounting  

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Company are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP").  

Reclassifications  

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year presentation.  

Principles of Consolidation  

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, its wholly owned subsidiaries and consolidated joint venture 
arrangements in which the Company has controlling financial interests, either through voting or similar rights or by means other than voting 
rights if the Company is the primary beneficiary of a variable interest entity ("VIE"). The portions of the consolidated joint venture arrangements 
not owned by the Company are presented as noncontrolling interests. All inter-company accounts and transactions have been eliminated in 
consolidation.  

The Company evaluates its relationships and investments to determine if it has variable interests in a VIE. A variable interest is an 
investment or other interest that will absorb portions of an entity’s expected losses or receive portions of the entity’s expected residual returns. If 
the Company determines that it has a variable interest in an entity, it evaluates whether such entity is a VIE. A VIE is broadly defined as an 
entity where either (1) the equity investors as a group, if any, lack the power through voting or similar rights to direct the activities of an entity 
that most significantly impact the entity’s economic performance or (2) the equity investment at risk is insufficient to finance that entity’s 
activities without additional subordinated financial support. The Company consolidates any VIEs when it is determined to be the primary 
beneficiary of the VIE’s operations.  

A variable interest holder is considered to be the primary beneficiary of a VIE if it has the power to direct the activities of a VIE that most 
significantly impact the entity’s economic performance and has the obligation to absorb losses of, or the right to receive benefits from, the entity 
that could potentially be significant to the VIE.  

 
F-11  





Table of Contents  
NEW YORK REIT, INC.  

 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012  
 
 

The Company continually evaluates the need to consolidate its joint ventures. In determining whether the Company has a controlling interest 
in a joint venture and the requirement to consolidate the accounts of that entity, management considers factors such as ownership interest, power 
to make decisions and contractual and substantive participating rights of the partners or members as well as whether the entity is a VIE for which 
the Company is the primary beneficiary.  

Use of Estimates  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Management makes significant 
estimates regarding revenue recognition, purchase price allocations to record investments in real estate, derivative financial instruments and 
hedging activities and fair value measurements, as applicable.  

Investments in Real Estate  

The Company evaluates the inputs, processes and outputs of each asset acquired to determine if the transaction is a business combination or 
asset acquisition. If an acquisition qualifies as a business combination, the related transaction costs are recorded as an expense in the 
consolidated statement of operations. If an acquisition qualifies as an asset acquisition, the related transaction costs are generally capitalized and 
subsequently amortized over the useful life of the acquired assets.  

In business combinations, the Company allocates the purchase price of acquired properties to tangible and identifiable intangible assets or 
liabilities and non-controlling interests based on their respective estimated fair values. Tangible assets may include land, land improvements, 
buildings, fixtures and tenant improvements. Intangible assets or liabilities may include the value of in-place leases, above- and below-market 
leases and other identifiable intangible assets or liabilities based on lease or property specific characteristics.  

The fair value of the tangible assets of an acquired property with an in-place operating lease is determined by valuing the property as if it 
were vacant, and the “as-if-vacant” value is then allocated to the tangible assets based on the fair value of the tangible assets. The fair value of 
in-place leases is determined by considering estimates of carrying costs during the expected lease-up periods, current market conditions, as well 
as costs to execute similar leases. The fair value of above-market or below-market leases and ground leases is recorded based on the present 
value of the difference between the contractual amount to be paid pursuant to the in-place lease and the Company's estimate of the comparable 
fair market lease rate, measured over the remaining term of the lease, including any below-market fixed rate renewal options for below-market 
leases. The fair value of other intangible assets, such as real estate tax abatements, are recorded based on the present value of the expected 
benefit and amortized over the expected useful life.  

Fair values of assumed mortgages, if applicable, are recorded as debt premiums or discounts based on the present value of the estimated 
cash flows, which is calculated to account for either above- or below-market interest rates.  

Non-controlling interests in property owning entities are recorded based on its fair value at the date of acquisition, as determined by the 
terms of the applicable agreement.  

The Company utilizes a number of sources in making its estimates of fair values for purposes of allocating purchase price including real 
estate valuations prepared by independent valuation firms. The Company also considers information and other factors including: market 
conditions, the industry in which the tenant operates, characteristics of the real estate such as location, size, demographics, value and 
comparative rental rates, tenant credit profile and the importance of the location of the real estate to the operations of the tenant’s business.  

The Company presents the operations related to properties that have been, or are intended to be, sold as discontinued operations in the 
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for all periods presented where the disposal of a component represents a 
strategic shift that has had or will have a major effect on the Company's operations and financial results. Properties that are intended to be sold 
will be designated as "held for sale" on the consolidated balance sheets at the lesser of carrying amount or fair value less estimated selling costs 
when they meet specific criteria to be presented as held for sale. Properties are no longer depreciated when they are classified as held for sale. 
The Company did not have any properties held for sale as of December 31, 2014 or 2013 .  
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Intangible assets and acquired lease liabilities consist of the following as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 .  

Depreciation and Amortization  

The Company is required to make subjective assessments as to the useful lives of the components of the Company’s real estate investments 
for purposes of determining the amount of depreciation to record on an annual basis. These assessments have a direct impact on the Company’s 
net income because if the Company were to shorten the expected useful lives of the Company’s real estate investments, the Company would 
depreciate these investments over fewer years, resulting in more depreciation expense and lower net income.  

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of up to 40 years for buildings, 15 years for land 
improvements, five years for fixtures and improvements, and the shorter of the useful life or the remaining lease term for tenant improvements 
and leasehold interests.  

Acquired above-market leases are amortized as a reduction of rental income over the remaining terms of the respective leases. Acquired 
below-market leases are amortized as an increase to rental income over the remaining terms of the respective leases and expected below-market 
renewal option periods.  

Acquired above-market ground leases are amortized as a reduction of property operating expense over the remaining term of the respective 
leases. Acquired below-market ground lease values are amortized as an increase to property operating expense over the remaining terms of the 
respective leases and expected below-market renewal option period.  

The value of in-place leases, exclusive of the value of above-market and below-market in-place leases, is amortized to depreciation and 
amortization expense over the remaining periods of the respective leases.  

Assumed mortgage premiums or discounts, if applicable, are amortized as a reduction or increase to interest expense over the remaining 
term of the respective mortgages.  

 

     December 31, 2014  

(In thousands)    
Gross Carrying 

Amount    
Accumulated 
Amortization    Net Carrying Amount  

Intangible assets:                 

In-place leases    $ 131,518    $ 27,450    $ 104,068  
Other intangible    3,804    107    3,697  
Above-market leases    23,061    3,605    19,456  

Total acquired intangible assets    $ 158,383    $ 31,162    $ 127,221  

Intangible lease liabilities:                 
Below-market leases    $ 81,708    $ 14,953    $ 66,755  
Above-market ground lease liability    17,968    503    17,465  

Total market lease intangibles    $ 99,676    $ 15,456    $ 84,220  

     December 31, 2013  

(In thousands)    
Gross Carrying 

Amount    
Accumulated 
Amortization    Net Carrying Amount  

Intangible assets:                 

In-place leases    $ 108,229    $ 8,344    $ 99,885  
Above-market leases    19,617    1,124    18,493  

Total acquired intangible assets    $ 127,846    $ 9,468    $ 118,378  

Intangible lease liabilities:                 
Below-market leases    $ 59,544    $ 4,429    $ 55,115  
Above-market ground lease liability    17,968    54    17,914  

Total market lease intangibles    $ 77,512    $ 4,483    $ 73,029  
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The following table provides the weighted-average remaining amortization and accretion periods as of December 31, 2014 , for intangible 
assets and liabilities and the projected amortization expense and adjustments to revenues for the next five years:  

For the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , amortization of in-place leases and other intangibles of $21.5 million , $8.3 
million and $1.7 million , respectively, is included in depreciation and amortization on the consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive income (loss). For the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , net amortization of above- and below-market lease 
intangibles of $9.3 million , $2.6 million and $0.4 million , respectively, is included in rental income on the consolidated statements of 
operations and comprehensive income (loss). For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 , amortization of above-market ground lease 
liability of $0.4 million and $0.1 million , respectively, is included in property operating expense on the consolidated statements of operations 
and comprehensive income (loss). There was no amortization related to the above-market ground lease for the year ended December 31, 2012 as 
the related property was acquired in 2013.  

Impairment of Long Lived Assets  

When circumstances indicate the carrying value of a property may not be recoverable, the Company reviews the asset for impairment. This 
review is based on an estimate of the future undiscounted cash flows, excluding interest charges, expected to result from the property’s use and 
eventual disposition. These estimates consider factors such as expected future operating income, market and other applicable trends and residual 
value, as well as the effects of leasing demand, competition and other factors. If such estimated cash flows are less than the the carrying value of 
a property, an impairment loss is recorded to the extent that the carrying value exceeds the estimated fair value of the property for properties to 
be held and used. For properties held for sale, the impairment loss is based on the adjustment to fair value less estimated cost to dispose of the 
asset. These assessments result in the immediate recognition of an impairment loss, resulting in a reduction of net income. The Company did not 
recognize any impairment charges for the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 or 2012 .  

Impairment of Equity Method Investments  

The Company monitors the value of its equity method investments for indicators of impairment. An impairment charge is recognized when 
the Company determines that a decline in the fair value of the investment below its carrying value is other-than-temporary. The assessment of 
impairment is subjective and involves the application of significant assumptions and judgments about the Company's intent and ability to recover 
its investment given the nature and operations of the underlying investment.  

Cash and Cash Equivalents  

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in bank accounts as well as investments in highly-liquid money market funds with original 
maturities of three months or less at time of purchase. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013 , $0.3 million was held in money market funds with 
the Company's financial institutions.  
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(Dollar amounts in thousands)    

Weighted-  
Average 

Remaining  
Amortization  

Period (in years)    2015    2016    2017    2018    2019  

In-place leases    9.0    $ 18,314    $ 11,088    $ 10,019    $ 9,067    $ 8,683  
Other intangible    11.5    321    321    321    321    321  
Total to be included in depreciation and 

amortization expense         $ 18,635    $ 11,409    $ 10,340    $ 9,388    $ 9,004  

                          

Above-market lease assets    12.5    $ (2,771 )   $ (1,428 )   $ (1,420 )   $ (1,420 )   $ (1,420 ) 

Below-market lease liabilities    9.6    9,824    7,566    6,780    5,995    5,611  

Total to be included in rental income        $ 7,053    $ 6,138    $ 5,360    $ 4,575    $ 4,191  

                          

Above-market ground lease liability to be 
deducted from property operating expenses    36.6    $ (449 )   $ (449 )   $ (449 )   $ (449 )   $ (449 ) 



Table of Contents  
NEW YORK REIT, INC.  

 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012  
 
 

The Company deposits cash with high-quality financial institutions. These deposits are guaranteed by the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Company (the "FDIC") up to an insurance limit. At December 31, 2014 and 2013 , the Company had deposits of $22.5 million and $233.4 
million , respectively, of which $18.9 million and $228.8 million , respectively, were in excess of the amount insured by the FDIC. Although the 
Company bears risk to amounts in excess of those insured by the FDIC, it does not anticipate any losses as a result.  

Restricted Cash  

Restricted cash primarily consists of funds held in escrow related to real estate acquisitions and reserves related to lease expirations as well 
as maintenance, real estate, structural, and debt service reserves.  

Investment Securities  

The Company classifies its investments in debt or equity securities into one of three classes: held-to-maturity, available-for-sale or trading, 
as applicable.  Investments in debt securities that the Company has the positive intent and ability to hold until maturity are classified as held-to-
maturity and are reported at amortized cost.  Debt and equity securities that are bought and held principally for the purposes of selling them in 
the near future are classified as trading securities.  Debt and equity securities not classified as trading securities or as held-to-maturity securities 
are classified as available-for-sale securities and are reported at fair value, with unrealized holding gains and losses reported as a component of 
equity within accumulated other comprehensive income or loss. Gains or losses on securities sold are based on the specific identification 
method.  

The Company evaluates its investments in securities for impairment or other-than-temporary impairment on a quarterly basis.  The 
Company reviews each investment individually and assesses factors that may include (i) if the carrying amount of an investment exceeds its fair 
value, (ii) if there has been any change in the market as a whole or in the investee’s market, (iii) if there are any plans to sell the investment in 
question or if the Company believes it may be forced to sell its investment, and (iv) if there have been any other factors that would indicate the 
possibility of the existence of an other-than-temporary impairment. The fair value of the Company’s investments in available-for-sale securities 
generally rise and fall based on current market conditions. If, after reviewing relevant factors surrounding an impaired security, the Company 
determines that it will not recover its full investment in an impaired security, the Company recognizes an other-than-temporary impairment 
charge in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss in the period in which the other-than-temporary impairment is 
discovered, regardless of whether or not the Company plans to sell or believes it will be forced to sell the security in question.  The Company did 
not recognize any other-than-temporary impairment charges for the years ended  December 31, 2014 , 2013 or 2012 .  

Investments in Unconsolidated Joint Venture  

The Company accounts for investments in unconsolidated joint ventures under the equity method of accounting in cases where the Company 
exercises significant influence over, but does not control, the entities and is not considered to be the primary beneficiary. These investments are 
recorded initially at cost and subsequently adjusted for equity in net income (loss) and cash contributions and distributions. Any difference 
between the carrying amount of these investments and the underlying equity in net assets is depreciated and amortized over the estimated useful 
lives of the assets and liabilities with a corresponding adjustment to the equity income (loss) from unconsolidated joint ventures in the 
accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). Equity income (loss) from unconsolidated joint ventures 
is allocated based on the Company's ownership or economic interest in each joint venture. A loss in the value of a joint venture investment that is 
determined to be other than temporary is recognized in the period in which the loss occurs. See Note 4 - Investment in Unconsolidated Joint 
Venture.  

Listing Note Distribution  

Concurrently with the Listing, the Company caused the OP to issue the Listing Note (see Note 9 - Subordinated Listing Distribution). The 
Listing Note value was determined, in part, based on the average market value of the Company's outstanding common stock for the period from 
180 days to 210 days after the Listing. Until the principal amount of the Listing Note was determined, the Listing Note was treated as a 
derivative and the Company estimated the contingent consideration using a valuation model and recorded the fair value of the Listing Note on 
the consolidated balance sheets. The initial fair value and subsequent changes in fair value were recorded in the consolidated statements of 
operations and comprehensive income (loss). The final principal value of the Listing Note was determined in November 2014 and converted into 
OP units. See Note 9 - Subordinated Listing Distribution.  
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2014 Advisor Multi-Year Outperformance Agreement  

On April 15, 2014 (the "Effective Date"), in connection with the Listing, the Company entered into the 2014 Advisor Multi-Year 
Outperformance Agreement (the "OPP") with the OP and the Advisor. See Note 16 - Share-Based Compensation.  

Tender Offer  

The Company recognized the excess cost of the tendered shares over its par value as a reduction to additional paid-in capital.  

Deferred Costs, Net  

Deferred costs, net consists of deferred financing costs and leasing costs. Deferred financing costs represent commitment fees, legal fees, 
and other costs associated with obtaining commitments for financing. These costs are amortized over the terms of the respective financing 
agreements using the effective interest method. Unamortized deferred financing costs are expensed when the associated debt is refinanced or 
repaid before maturity.  Costs incurred in seeking financial transactions that do not close are expensed in the period in which it is determined that 
the financing will not close. Deferred leasing costs, consisting primarily of lease commissions and professional fees incurred, are deferred and 
amortized over the term of the lease.  

Share Repurchase Program  

The Company's board of directors had adopted a Share Repurchase Program ("SRP") that enabled stockholders to sell their shares to the 
Company in limited circumstances.  The SRP permitted investors to sell their shares back to the Company after they had held them for at least 
one year, subject to the significant conditions and limitations described below.  

Prior to the Listing, the purchase price per share was dependent on the length of time investors had held such shares as follows: after one 
year from the purchase date — the lower of $9.25 or 92.5% of the amount they actually paid for each share; after two years from the purchase 
date —the lower of $9.50 or 95.0% of the amount they actually paid for each share; after three years from the purchase date — the lower of 
$9.75 or 97.5% of the amount they actually paid for each share; and after four years from the purchase date — the lower of $10.00 or 100% of 
the amount they actually paid for each share (in each case, as adjusted for any stock dividends, combinations, splits and recapitalizations).  

The Company was only authorized to repurchase shares pursuant to the SRP up to the value of the shares issued under the Distribution 
Reinvestment Plan ("DRIP") and limited the amount spent to repurchase shares in a given quarter to the value of the shares issued under the 
DRIP in that same quarter. In addition, the board of directors reserved the right to reject a request for redemption, at any time. Due to these 
limitations, the Company did not guarantee that it would be able to accommodate all repurchase requests. Purchases under the SRP by the 
Company were limited in any calendar year to 5% of the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the prior year (or 1.25% per 
calendar quarter).  

When a stockholder requested repurchases and the repurchases were approved by the Company's board of directors, it reclassified such 
obligation from equity to a liability based on the settlement value of the obligation. On March 31, 2014, the Company's board of directors 
approved the termination of the Company’s SRP. See Note 12 - Common Stock.  

Distribution Reinvestment Plan  

Pursuant to the DRIP, stockholders were able to elect to reinvest dividends by purchasing shares of common stock in lieu of receiving cash. 
No dealer manager fees or selling commissions were paid with respect to shares purchased pursuant to the DRIP.  Shares purchased pursuant to 
the DRIP have the same rights and were treated in the same manner as if such shares were issued pursuant to the IPO. The board of directors 
reserved the right to designate that certain cash or other dividends be excluded from the DRIP.  The Company had the right to amend any aspect 
of the DRIP or terminate the DRIP with ten days' notice to participants.  On March 31, 2014, the Company provided notices to its stockholders 
that, pursuant to the terms of the DRIP, the Company's board of directors approved an amendment to suspend the DRIP, effective March 31, 
2014. The final issuance of shares of common stock pursuant to the DRIP in connection with the Company's March 2014 dividend was paid in 
April 2014. Shares issued under the DRIP were recorded to equity in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet in the period dividends were 
declared.   

Derivative Instruments  

The Company may use derivative financial instruments to hedge all or a portion of the interest rate risk associated with its borrowings. 
Certain of the techniques used to hedge exposure to interest rate fluctuations may also be used to protect against declines in the market value of 
assets that result from general trends in debt markets. The principal objective of such agreements is to minimize the risks and/or costs associated 
with the Company's operating and financial structure as well as to hedge specific anticipated transactions.  
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The Company records all derivatives on the balance sheet at fair value.  The accounting for changes in the fair value of derivatives depends 
on the intended use of the derivative, whether the Company has elected to designate a derivative in a hedging relationship and apply hedge 
accounting and whether the hedging relationship has satisfied the criteria necessary to apply hedge accounting. Derivatives designated and 
qualifying as a hedge of the exposure to changes in the fair value of an asset, liability, or firm commitment attributable to a particular risk, such 
as interest rate risk, are considered fair value hedges. Derivatives designated and qualifying as a hedge of the exposure to variability in expected 
future cash flows, or other types of forecasted transactions, are considered cash flow hedges. Derivatives may also be designated as hedges of the 
foreign currency exposure of a net investment in a foreign operation. Hedge accounting generally provides for the matching of the timing of gain 
or loss recognition on the hedging instrument with the recognition of the changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are 
attributable to the hedged risk in a fair value hedge or the earnings effect of the hedged forecasted transactions in a cash flow hedge.  The 
Company may enter into derivative contracts that are intended to economically hedge certain of its risk, even though hedge accounting does not 
apply or the Company elects not to apply hedge accounting.  

The accounting for subsequent changes in the fair value of these derivatives depends on whether each has been designed and qualifies for 
hedge accounting treatment. If the Company elects not to apply hedge accounting treatment, any changes in the fair value of these derivative 
instruments is recognized immediately in gains (losses) on derivative instruments in the consolidated statement of operations. If the derivative is 
designated and qualifies for hedge accounting treatment the change in the estimated fair value of the derivative is recorded in other 
comprehensive income (loss) to the extent that it is effective. Any ineffective portion of a derivative's change in fair value will be immediately 
recognized in earnings.  

Revenue Recognition  

The Company's revenues, which are derived primarily from rental income, include rents that each tenant pays in accordance with the terms 
of each lease reported on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Since many of the Company's leases provide for rental increases at 
specified intervals, GAAP requires the Company to record a receivable, and include in revenues on a straight-line basis, unbilled rent receivables 
that the Company will only receive if the tenant makes all rent payments required through the expiration of the initial term of the lease. The 
Company defers the revenue related to lease payments received from tenants in advance of their due dates. When the Company acquires a 
property, the terms of existing leases are considered to commence as of the acquisition date for the purposes of this calculation.  

Rental revenue recognition commences when the tenant takes possession or controls the physical use of the leased space. For the tenant to 
take possession, the leased space must be substantially ready for its intended use. To determine whether the leased space is substantially ready 
for its intended use, we evaluate whether the Company owns or the tenant owns the tenant improvements. When the Company is the owner of 
tenant improvements, rental revenue recognition begins when the tenant takes possession of the finished space, which is when such 
improvements are substantially complete. When the Company concludes that the Company is not the owner (as the tenant is the owner) of tenant 
improvements, rental revenue recognition begins when the tenant takes possession of or controls the space.  

When the Company concludes that the Company is the owner of tenant improvements, the Company records the cost to construct the tenant 
improvements, including costs paid for or reimbursed by the tenants, as a capital asset. When the Company concludes that the tenant is the 
owner of tenant improvements for accounting purposes, the Company records its contribution towards those improvements as a lease incentive, 
which is included in deferred leasing costs, net on the consolidated balance sheets and amortized as a reduction to rental income on a straight-
line basis over the term of the lease.  

The Company continually reviews receivables related to rent and unbilled rent receivables and determines collectability by taking into 
consideration the tenant's payment history, the financial condition of the tenant, business conditions in the industry in which the tenant operates 
and economic conditions in the area in which the property is located. In the event that the collectability of a receivable is in doubt, the Company 
will record an allowance for uncollectible accounts or directly write-off of the receivable in the Company's consolidated statements of operations 
and comprehensive income (loss).  

The Company's leases generally provide for tenant reimbursement of a portion of common area maintenance expenses and other other 
operating expenses to the extent that a tenant's pro rata share of the expenses exceeds a base year level set in the lease or to the extent that the 
tenant has a lease on a triple net basis. Such cost recoveries from tenants are included in operating expense reimbursement in the period the 
related costs are incurred, as applicable.  

The Company’s hotel revenues are recognized as earned and are derived from room rentals and other sources such as charges to guests for 
telephone service, movie and vending commissions, meeting and banquet room revenue and laundry services.  
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The Company owns certain properties with leases that include provisions for the tenant to pay contingent rental income based on a percent 
of the tenant's sales upon the achievement of certain thresholds or other targets, which may be monthly, quarterly or annual targets. The 
Company defers the recognition of contingent rental income until the specified target that triggered the contingent rental income is achieved, or 
until such sales upon which percentage rent is based are known. Contingent rental income will be included in rental income on the Company's 
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). The Company did not recognize any revenue or deferred revenue 
related to contingent rental income during the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 or 2012 .  

Share-Based Compensation  

The Company has a stock-based incentive award plan for its directors, which is accounted for under the guidance for employee share based 
payments.  The cost of services received in exchange for a stock award is measured at the grant date fair value of the award and the expense for 
such awards is included in general and administrative expenses and is recognized over the vesting period or when the requirements for exercise 
of the award have been met. See Note 16 — Share-Based Compensation.  

Income Taxes  

The Company elected to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code commencing with its taxable 
year ended December 31, 2010. If the Company continues to qualify for taxation as a REIT, it generally will not be subject to federal corporate 
income tax to the extent it distributes all its REIT taxable income to its stockholders. REITs are subject to a number of organizational and 
operational requirements, including a requirement that the Company distribute annually at least 90% of the Company’s REIT taxable income to 
the Company’s stockholders. If the Company fails to continue to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year and does not qualify for certain statutory 
relief provisions, the Company will be subject to U.S. federal and state income taxes at regular corporate rates (including any applicable 
alternative minimum tax) beginning with the year in which it fails to qualify and may be precluded from being able to elect to be treated as a 
REIT for the Company’s four subsequent taxable years. The Company distributed to its shareholders 100% of its ordinary taxable income for 
each of the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 . Accordingly, no provision for federal or state income taxes related to such 
ordinary taxable income was recorded on the Company’s financial statements. Even if the Company qualifies for taxation as a REIT, it may be 
subject to certain state and local taxes on its income and property, and federal income and excise taxes on its undistributed income.  

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company purchased a hotel, which is owned by a subsidiary of the OP and leased to a 
taxable REIT subsidiary ("TRS"), that is owned by the OP. A TRS is subject to federal, state and local income taxes. The TRS is a tax paying 
component for purposes of classifying deferred tax assets and liabilities. The Company records net deferred tax assets to the extent the Company 
believes these assets will more likely than not be realized. In making such determination, the Company considers all available positive and 
negative evidence, including future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, projected future taxable income, tax planning strategies 
and recent financial operations. In the event the Company determines that it would not be able to realize the deferred income tax assets in the 
future in excess of the net recorded amount, the Company establishes a valuation allowance which offsets the previously recognized income tax 
benefit. Deferred income taxes result from temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities of the TRSs for financial 
reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. The Company had deferred tax assets and a corresponding valuation 
allowance of $1.7 million and $0.2 million as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 , respectively. The TRS had federal and state net operating loss 
carry forwards as of December 31, 2014 of $3.7 million , which will expire through 2035. The Company estimates income tax relating to its TRS 
using a combined federal and state rate of approximately 42% for the year ended December 31, 2014 . The Company has concluded that it is 
more likely than not that the net operating loss carry forwards will not be utilized during the carry forward period and as such the Company has 
established a valuation allowance against these deferred tax assets. The Company had immaterial current and deferred federal and state income 
tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 .  

As of December 31, 2014 , the Company had no material uncertain income tax positions. The tax years subsequent to and including the year 
ended December 31, 2011 remain open to examination by the major taxing jurisdictions to which the Company is subject.  
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Per Share Data  

The Company calculates basic income (loss) per share of common stock by dividing net income (loss) for the period by the weighted-
average shares of its common stock outstanding for a respective period. Diluted income per share takes into account the effect of dilutive 
instruments such as unvested restricted stock, Long-term Incentive Plan ("LTIP") units and OP units, based on the average share price for the 
period in determining the number of incremental shares that are to be added to the weighted-average number of shares outstanding. See Note 18 
- Net Loss Per Share.  

Reportable Segments  

The Company has determined that it has one reportable segment, with activities related to investing in real estate. The Company's 
investments in real estate generate rental revenue and other income through the leasing and management of properties. Management evaluates 
the operating performance of the Company's investments in real estate at the individual property level.  

Recent Accounting Pronouncements  

In April 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") amended the requirements for reporting discontinued operations. Under 
the revised guidance, in addition to other disclosure requirements, a disposal of a component of an entity or a group of components of an entity is 
required to be reported in discontinued operations if the disposal represents a strategic shift that has (or will have) a major effect on an entity's 
operations and financial results when the component or group of components meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale, disposed of by 
sale or other than by sale. The Company has adopted the provisions of this guidance effective January 1, 2014, and has applied the provisions 
prospectively. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial position, results of 
operations or cash flows.  

In May 2014, the FASB issued revised guidance relating to revenue recognition. Under the revised guidance, an entity is required to 
recognize revenue when it transfers promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity 
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The revised guidance is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those 
fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2016. Early adoption is not permitted under GAAP. The revised guidance allows entities to apply the 
full retrospective or modified retrospective transition method upon adoption. In April 2015, the FASB proposed a one-year delay of the revised 
guidance, although entities will be allowed to early adopt the guidance as of the original effective date. The Company has not yet selected a 
transition method and is currently evaluating the impact of the new guidance.  

In August 2014, the FASB issued guidance relating to disclosure of uncertainties about an entity's ability to continue as a going concern. In 
connection with preparing financial statements for each annual and interim reporting period, management should evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events that raise substantial doubt about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the 
financial statements are issued. If conditions or events raise substantial doubt about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern, the 
guidance requires management to disclose information that enables users of the financial statements to understand the conditions or events that 
raised the substantial doubt, management's evaluation of the significance of the conditions or events that led to the doubt and management's 
plans that are intended to mitigate the conditions or events that raised substantial doubt about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern. 
The guidance is effective for the annual period ending after December 15, 2016 and for annual and interim periods thereafter. The Company has 
elected to adopt the provisions of this guidance effective December 31, 2014, as early application is permitted. The adoption of this guidance had 
no material impact on the Company's consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.  

In February 2015, the FASB amended the accounting for consolidation of certain legal entities. The amendments modify the evaluation of 
whether certain legal entities are VIEs or voting interest entities, eliminate the presumption that a general partner should consolidate a limited 
partnership, affect the consolidation analysis of reporting entities that are involved with VIEs (particularly those that have fee arrangements and 
related party relationships) and provide a scope exception from consolidation guidance for reporting entities with interests in legal entities. The 
revised guidance is effective for fiscal years, and for interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2015. Early 
adoption is permitted, including adoption in an interim period. If the Company decides to early adopt the revised guidance in an interim period, 
any adjustments will be reflected as of the beginning of the fiscal year that includes the interim period. The Company has not yet selected a 
transition method and is currently evaluating the impact of the new guidance.  
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In April 2015, the FASB amended the presentation of debt issuance costs on the balance sheet. The amendments require that debt issuance 
costs related to a recognized debt liability be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability. 
The revised guidance is effective for fiscal years, and for interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2015. Early 
adoption is permitted for financial statements that have not previously been issued. If the Company decides to early adopt the revised guidance in 
an interim period, any adjustments will be reflected as of the beginning of the fiscal year that includes the interim period. The Company is 
currently evaluating the impact of the new guidance.  

Note 3 — Real Estate Investments  

On August 22, 2014, the Company, through a wholly owned subsidiary of the OP, completed the acquisition of the fee simple interest in two 
contiguous institutional-quality office buildings located at 245-249 West 17th Street (the "Twitter Building") in the Chelsea neighborhood of 
Manhattan. The sellers of the Twitter Building were 245 West 17th Street Property Investors II, LLC and 249 West 17th Street Property 
Investors II, LLC, which had no preexisting relationship with the Company or the Advisor and its affiliates. The purchase price of the Twitter 
Building was $310.8 million , exclusive of closing costs and net of purchase price adjustments, and was funded with proceeds from the 
Company's credit facility (See Note 7 - Credit Facility). The Company accounted for the purchase of the Twitter Building as a business 
combination, and incurred acquisition related costs of $4.4 million , which are reflected in the acquisition and transaction related line item of the 
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss).  
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The following table presents the allocation of the real estate assets acquired and liabilities assumed during the year s ended December 31, 
2014 , 2013 , and 2012 :  

The following table presents unaudited pro forma information as if the acquisitions during the year ended December 31, 2014 had been 
consummated on January 1, 2013. Additionally, the unaudited pro forma net loss attributable to stockholders was adjusted to reclassify 
acquisition and transaction related expense of $4.4 million from the year ended December 31, 2014 to the year ended December 31, 2013 .  
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     Year Ended December 31,  

(Dollar amounts in thousands)    2014    2013    2012  

Real estate investments, at cost:                 

Land    $ 68,251    $ 333,166    $ 74,209  
Buildings, fixtures and improvements    233,607    749,127    131,958  

Total tangible assets    301,858    1,082,293    206,167  
Acquired intangibles:                 

In-place leases    25,169    81,376    18,867  
Other intangible    3,804    —   — 
Above-market lease assets    3,707    10,389    9,194  
Below-market lease liabilities    (23,705 )   (70,589 )   (5,150 ) 

Total acquired intangibles    8,975    21,176    22,911  
Total assets acquired, net    310,833    1,103,469    229,078  

Investment in unconsolidated joint venture    273    236,965    — 
Preferred equity investment    5,100    30,000    — 
Mortgage notes payable used to acquire investments in real estate    —   (60,000 )   (79,188 ) 

Other assets acquired (liabilities assumed)    —   (12,206 )   (4,760 ) 

Non-controlling interest retained by seller    —   —   (380 ) 

Cash paid for acquired real estate investments and other assets    $ 316,206    $ 1,298,228    $ 144,750  

Number of properties and other investments purchased    1    7    7  

     Year Ended December 31,  

(In thousands)    2014    2013  

Pro forma revenues (1)    $ 171,189    $ 80,359  

Pro forma net income (loss) attributable to stockholders (1)    $ (57,525 )   $ (9,174 ) 

(1)  For the year ended December 31, 2014 , aggregate revenues and net income derived from the Company's acquisition (for the Company's 
period of ownership) were $8.8 million and $4.6 million , respectively.  
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The following table presents future minimum base cash rental payments due to the Company, excluding future minimum base cash rental 
payments related to unconsolidated joint ventures, subsequent to December 31, 2014 .  These amounts exclude contingent rental payments, as 
applicable, that may be collected from certain tenants based on provisions related to sales thresholds and increases in annual rent based on 
exceeding certain economic indexes among other items.  

The following table lists the tenants whose annualized cash rent represented greater than 10% of total annualized cash rent as of 
December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 :  

__________________________  
* Tenant's annualized cash rent was not greater than 10% of total annualized cash rent for all portfolio properties as of the period specified.  

The termination, delinquency or non-renewal of any of the above tenants may have a material adverse effect on revenues. No other tenant 
represents more than 10% of annualized cash rent as of December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 .  

Note 4 — Investment in Unconsolidated Joint Venture  

On October 30, 2013, the Company purchased a 48.9% equity interest in WWP Holdings, LLC ("Worldwide Plaza") for a contract purchase 
price of $220.1 million , based on the property value for Worldwide Plaza of $1,325.0 million less $875.0 million of debt on the property. As of 
December 31, 2014 , the Company's pro rata portion of debt on Worldwide Plaza was $427.9 million . The debt on the property has a weighted 
average interest rate of 4.6% and matures in March 2023. The Company accounts for the investment in Worldwide Plaza using the equity 
method of accounting because the Company exercises significant influence over but does not control the entity.  

Pursuant to the terms of the membership agreement governing the Company’s purchase of the 48.9% equity interest in Worldwide Plaza, the 
Company retains an option to purchase the balance of the equity interest in Worldwide Plaza beginning 38 months following the closing of the 
acquisition, or December 2016, at an agreed-upon property value of $1.4 billion , subject to certain adjustments, including, but not limited to, 
adjustments for certain loans that are outstanding at the time of any exercise, adjustments for the percentage equity interest being acquired and 
any of the Company's preferred return in arrears. If the Company were to not exercise its purchase option, it would be subject to a fee in the 
amount of $25.0 million .  
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(In thousands)    
Future Minimum  

Base Cash Rental Payments 

2015    $ 107,195  
2016    96,230  
2017    93,784  
2018    91,832  
2019    90,551  
Thereafter    591,315  

     $ 1,070,907  

          December 31,  

Property Portfolio    Tenant    2014    2013    2012  

Worldwide Plaza    Cravath, Swaine & Moore, LLP    16%    18%    *  

Worldwide Plaza    Nomura Holdings America, Inc.    11%    12%    *  

229 West 36th Street    American Language Communication Center, Inc.    *    *    14%  
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At acquisition, the Company's investment in Worldwide Plaza exceeded the Company's share of the book value of the net assets of 
Worldwide Plaza by $260.6 million . This basis difference resulted from the excess of the Company's purchase price for its equity interest in 
Worldwide Plaza over the book value of Worldwide Plaza's net assets. Substantially all of this basis difference was allocated to the fair values of 
Worldwide Plaza's assets and liabilities. The Company amortizes the basis difference over the anticipated useful lives of the underlying tangible 
and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The basis difference related to the land will be recognized upon disposition of the 
Company's investment. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013 , the carrying value of the Company's investment in Worldwide Plaza was $225.5 
million and $234.8 million , respectively.  

During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 , the Company recorded $1.5 million and $0.1 million , respectively, of loss related to 
its investment in Worldwide Plaza, which includes $15.6 million and $2.7 million of preferred distributions earned, respectively, net of the 
Company's pro rata share of Worldwide Plaza's net loss during the same period and $12.2 million and $2.2 million of depreciation and 
amortization expense, respectively, related to the amortization of the basis difference. The income (loss) related to the Company's investment in 
Worldwide Plaza is included in other income (expenses) on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss).  

The amounts reflected in the following tables (except for the Company’s share of equity and income) are based on the financial information 
of Worldwide Plaza. The Company does not record losses of the joint venture in excess of its investment balance because the Company is not 
liable for the obligations of the joint venture or is otherwise committed to provide financial support to the joint venture.  

The condensed balance sheets as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 for Worldwide Plaza is as follows:  
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     December 31,  

(In thousands)    2014    2013  

Real estate assets, at cost    $ 704,143    $ 696,342  
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization    (97,181 )   (77,919 ) 

Total real estate assets, net    606,962    618,423  
Other assets    255,784    248,048  

Total assets    $ 862,746    $ 866,471  

          

Debt    $ 875,000    $ 875,000  
Other liabilities    12,442    9,923  
Total liabilities    887,442    884,923  

Deficit    (24,696 )   (18,452 ) 

Total liabilities and deficit    $ 862,746    $ 866,471  

          

Company's basis    $ 225,501    $ 234,774  
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The condensed statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2014 and the period from October 31, 2013 (date of acquisition) to 
December 31, 2013 for Worldwide Plaza is as follows:  

Note 5 — Preferred Equity Investment  

The preferred equity investment represents a five year, cumulative preferred interest in a class A office building located at 123 William 
Street in the Financial District of downtown Manhattan. The preferred equity investment matures in October 2018 and carries a 6.0% current pay 
rate and a 2.0% accrual rate (increasing to 2.25% , 2.75% and 3.25% after years two, three and four, respectively). The preferred equity 
agreement includes a capital call provision requiring additional investment not to exceed $40.0 million . Income from the preferred equity 
investment in 123 William Street is included in income from preferred equity investments, investment securities and interest in the 
accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss).  

The preferred equity investment had a fixed return based on contributed capital, no participation in profits or losses of the real estate 
activities, and property foreclosure rights in the event of default. As such, the Company recorded returns earned in income from preferred equity 
investment, investment securities and interest income on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). The 
Company assessed the investment for impairment on a periodic basis.  

On March 27, 2015, the owner of 123 William Street sold the property and settled the Company's preferred equity investment in cash. See 
Note 21 - Subsequent Events.  

Note 6 — Investment Securities  

The Company's investment securities are comprised of investments in redeemable preferred stock and equity securities with an aggregate 
fair value of $4.7 million and $1.0 million , respectively. The equity securities consist of a real estate income fund that is managed by an affiliate 
of the Sponsor (see Note 14 — Related Party Transactions and Arrangements ). The Company's preferred stock investments are redeemable at 
the respective issuer's option after five years from issuance.  
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          Period from  

          October 31, 2013  

     Year Ended    (date of acquisition) to  

(In thousands)    December 31, 2014    December 31, 2013  

Rental income    $ 113,498    $ 18,736  
Other revenue    4,932    837  

Total revenue    118,430    19,573  
Operating expenses:            

Operating expense    45,911    7,288  
Depreciation and amortization    26,835    4,025  

Total operating expenses    72,746    11,313  
Operating income    45,684    8,260  
Interest expense    (40,077 )   (6,808 ) 

Net income    5,607    1,452  
Company's preferred distribution    (15,617 )   (2,653 ) 

Net loss to members    $ (10,010 )   $ (1,201 ) 

          

Company's preferred distribution    $ 15,617    $ 2,653  
Company's share of net loss from Worldwide Plaza    (4,895 )   (587 ) 

Amortization of difference in basis    (12,221 )   (2,161 ) 

Company's loss from Worldwide Plaza    $ (1,499 )   $ (95 ) 
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The following table details the unrealized gains and losses on investment securities as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 :  

The following table presents the fair value and gross unrealized losses of investments aggregated by investment type, the length of time and 
the number of securities that have been in a continuous unrealized loss position as of the periods indicated:  

Redeemable preferred stock in a continuous unrealized loss position do not reflect any deterioration of the credit worthiness of the issuing 
entities. The unrealized losses on these temporarily impaired securities are primarily the result of changes in current market conditions. Because 
we do not currently intend to sell our redeemable preferred stock, and because it is not more-likely-than-not that we would be required to sell the 
securities prior to recovery, the impairment is considered to be temporary.  

Note 7 — Credit Facility  

On March 30, 2012, the Company entered into a senior unsecured revolving credit facility with Capital One, National Association ("Capital 
One") in the amount of $40.0 million . On August 20, 2013, the Company entered into a $220.0 million credit facility with Capital One, which 
provided for aggregate revolving loan borrowings of up to $ 110.0 million and aggregate term loan borrowings of up to $110.0 million . The 
credit facility contained an "accordion" feature to allow the Company, under certain circumstances, to increase the aggregate commitments under 
the credit facility to a maximum of $325.0 million . On December 23, 2013, the Company amended the credit facility to decrease the aggregate 
revolving loan borrowings to $50.0 million and increase the aggregate term loan borrowings to $340.0 million .  

On April 14, 2014, the Company entered into an amendment to the credit facility with Capital One ("Amended Facility"). The Amended 
Facility allows for total borrowings of up to $705.0 million with a $305.0 million term loan and a $400.0 million revolving loan. The term loan 
component of the Amended Facility matures in August 2018 and the revolving loan component matures in August 2016. The Amended Facility 
contains an "accordion feature" to allow the Company, under certain circumstances, to increase the aggregate loan borrowings to up to $1.0 
billion of total borrowings.  

During the year ended December 31, 2014 , the Company expensed $3.6 million of previously deferred financing costs in interest expense 
on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) as a result of the credit facility amendments.  
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(In thousands)    Cost    Gross Unrealized Gains   
Gross Unrealized 

Losses    Fair Value  

December 31, 2014                      

Redeemable preferred stock    $ 1,288    $ 21    $ (12 )   $ 1,297  
Equity securities    3,127    235    —   3,362  

Total    $ 4,415    $ 256    $ (12 )   $ 4,659  

December 31, 2013                      

Redeemable preferred stock    $ 1,288    $ —   $ (240 )   $ 1,048  

     Less than 12 months    More than 12 months    Total  

(Dollars in thousands)    Fair Value    
Unrealized 

Losses    Fair Value    
Unrealized 

Losses    Fair Value    
Unrealized 

Losses  

December 31, 2014                                

Redeemable preferred stock    $ —   $ —   $ 711    $ (12 )   $ 711    $ (12 ) 

Number of securities    —        2         2       

December 31, 2013                                

Redeemable preferred stock    $ 1,048    $ (240 )   $ —   $ —   $ 1,048    $ (240 ) 

Number of securities    4         —        4       
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The Company has the option, based upon its corporate leverage, to have the Amended Facility priced at either: (a) LIBOR, plus an 
applicable margin that ranges from 1.50% to 2.25% ; or (b) the Base Rate plus an applicable margin that ranges from 0.50% to 1.25% . Base 
Rate is defined in the Amended Facility as the greater of (i) the fluctuating annual rate of interest announced from time to time by the lender as 
its “prime rate,” (ii) 0.50% above the federal funds effective rate and (iii) 1.00% above the applicable one-month LIBOR. The outstanding 
balance of the term and revolving portions of the Amended Facility as of December 31, 2014 was $305.0 million and $330.0 million , 
respectively. The balance of the term portion of the facility at December 31, 2013 was $305.0 million . There were no borrowings outstanding on 
the revolving portion of the facility at December 31, 2013 . The facility had a combined weighted average interest rate of 2.08% and 2.19% as of 
December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 , respectively, a portion of which is fixed with an interest rate swap. The Amended Facility includes 
an unused commitment fee per annum of (a) 0.15% if the unused balance of the facility is equal to or less than 50% of the available facility and 
(b) 0.25% if the unused balance of the facility exceeds 50% of the available facility. The unused borrowing capacity, based on the borrowing 
base properties as of December 31, 2014 , was $6.0 million . Availability of borrowings is based on a pool of eligible unencumbered real estate 
assets.  

The Amended Facility provides for monthly interest payments for each Base Rate loan and periodic payments for each LIBOR loan, based 
upon the applicable LIBOR loan period, with all principal outstanding being due on the maturity date. The Amended Facility may be prepaid at 
any time, in whole or in part, without premium or penalty. In the event of a default, the lenders have the right to terminate their obligations under 
the Amended Facility and to accelerate the payment on any unpaid principal amount of all outstanding loans.  

The Amended Facility requires the Company to meet certain financial covenants, including the maintenance of certain financial ratios (such 
as specified debt to equity and debt service coverage ratios) as well as the maintenance of a minimum net worth. As of December 31, 2014 , the 
Company was in compliance with the debt covenants under the Amended Facility agreement, as modified by a waiver received for a late filing 
of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

Note 8 — Mortgage Notes Payable  

The Company's mortgage notes payable as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 consist of the following:  

______________________   
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          Outstanding Loan Amount                  

Portfolio    
Encumbered  
Properties    

December 31,  
2014    

December 31,  
2013    

Effective  
Interest Rate     Interest Rate    Maturity  

          (In thousands)    (In thousands)                  

Design Center    1    $ 20,198    $ 20,582    4.4 %    Fixed    Dec. 2021  

Bleecker Street    3    21,300    21,300    4.3 %    Fixed    Dec. 2015  

Foot Locker    1    3,250    3,250    4.6 %    Fixed    Jun. 2016  

Regal Parking Garage    1    3,000    3,000    4.5 %    Fixed    Jul. 2016  

Duane Reade    1    8,400    8,400    3.6 %    Fixed    Nov. 2016  

Washington Street Portfolio    1    4,741    4,831    4.4 %    Fixed    Dec. 2021  

One Jackson Square    1    13,000    13,000    3.4 % (1)    Fixed    Dec. 2016  

350 West 42nd Street    1    11,365    11,365    3.4 %    Fixed    Aug. 2017  

1100 Kings Highway    1    20,200    20,200    3.4 % (1)    Fixed    Aug. 2017  

1623 Kings Highway    1    7,288    7,288    3.3 % (1)    Fixed    Nov. 2017  

256 West 38th Street    1    24,500    24,500    3.1 % (1)    Fixed    Dec. 2017  

229 West 36th Street    1    35,000    35,000    2.9 % (1)    Fixed    Dec. 2017  

     14    $ 172,242    $ 172,716    3.6 % (2)            

(1)  Fixed through an interest rate swap agreement. 
(2)  Calculated on a weighted average basis for all mortgages outstanding as of December 31, 2014 . 
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Real estate investments of $317.0 million , at cost, at December 31, 2014 have been pledged as collateral to their respective mortgages and 
are not available to satisfy our corporate debts and obligations unless first satisfying the mortgage note payable on the properties.  

The following table summarizes the scheduled aggregate principal repayments subsequent to December 31, 2014 :  

Some of the Company's mortgage note agreements require compliance with certain property-level financial covenants including debt service 
coverage ratios. As of December 31, 2014 , the Company was in compliance with the financial covenants under its mortgage note agreements.  

Note 9 — Subordinated Listing Distribution  

Upon occurrence of the Listing, the New York Recovery Special Limited Partnership, LLC (the "SLP"), a wholly owned subsidiary of the 
Sponsor, became entitled to begin receiving distributions of net sale proceeds pursuant to its special limited partner interest in the OP (the "SLP 
Interest") in an aggregate amount that was evidenced by the issuance of a note by the OP (the "Listing Note"). The Listing Note was equal to 
15.0% of the amount, if any, by which (a) the average market value of the Company’s outstanding common stock for the period 180 days to 210 
days after Listing, plus distributions paid by the Company prior to Listing, exceeded (b) the sum of the total amount of capital raised from 
stockholders during the Company’s prior offering and the amount of cash flow necessary to generate a 6.0% annual cumulative, non-
compounded return to such stockholders. Concurrently with the Listing, the Company, as general partner of the OP, caused the OP to enter into 
the Listing Note Agreement dated April 15, 2014 by and between the OP and the SLP, and caused the OP to issue the Listing Note. The Listing 
Note was evidence of the SLP's right to receive distributions of net sales proceeds from the sale of the Company's real estate and real estate-
related assets up to an aggregate amount equal to the principal balance of the Listing Note. Pursuant to the terms of the Partnership Agreement, 
the SLP had the right, but not the obligation, to convert all or a portion of the SLP interest into OP units which are convertible into shares of the 
Company's common stock.  

The Listing Note principal amount of $33.5 million was determined based on an economic hurdle, returns to shareholders above such hurdle 
and the actual average market value of the Company’s outstanding common stock for the period 180 days to 210 days after the Listing and was 
recorded as an expense in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). On November 21, 2014, at the request of 
the SLP, the Listing Note was converted into 3,062,512 OP units and the value of the Listing Note was reclassified to non-controlling interest on 
the consolidated balance sheets.  
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(In thousands)    
Future Minimum Principal 

Payments  

2015    $ 21,794  
2016    28,167  
2017    102,730  
2018    4,573  
2019    4,777  
Thereafter    10,201  

Total    $ 172,242  
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Note 10 — Fair Value of Financial Instruments  

The Company determines fair value based on quoted prices when available or through the use of alternative approaches, such as discounting 
the expected cash flows using market interest rates commensurate with the credit quality and duration of the instrument. This alternative 
approach also reflects the contractual terms of the instruments, as applicable, including the period to maturity, and may use observable market-
based inputs, including interest rate curves and implied volatilities, and unobservable inputs, such as expected volatility. The guidance defines 
three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:  

Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities that the reporting entity has the ability to access at the 
measurement date.  

Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset and liability or can be corroborated with 
observable market data for substantially the entire contractual term of the asset or liability.  

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that reflect the entity's own assumptions that market participants would use in the pricing of the asset or 
liability and are consequently not based on market activity, but rather through particular valuation techniques.  

The determination of where an asset or liability falls in the hierarchy requires significant judgment and considers factors specific to the asset 
or liability. In instances where the determination of the fair value measurement is based on inputs from different levels of the fair value 
hierarchy, the level in the fair value hierarchy within which the entire fair value measurement falls is based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. The Company evaluates its hierarchy disclosures each quarter and depending on various 
factors, it is possible that an asset or liability may be classified differently from quarter to quarter. However, the Company expects that changes 
in classifications between levels will be rare.  

Although the Company has determined that the majority of the inputs used to value its interest rate swaps fall within Level 2 of the fair 
value hierarchy, the credit valuation adjustments associated with those interest rate swaps utilize Level 3 inputs, such as estimates of current 
credit spreads to evaluate the likelihood of default by the Company and its counterparties. However, as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 , the 
Company has assessed the significance of the impact of the credit valuation adjustments on the overall valuation of its interest rate swap 
positions and has determined that the credit valuation adjustments are not significant to the overall valuation of the Company's interest rate 
swaps. As a result, the Company has determined that its interest rate swap valuations in their entirety are classified in Level 2 of the fair value 
hierarchy. See Note 11 - Interest Rate Derivatives and Hedging Activities.  

The valuation of interest rate swaps is determined using a discounted cash flow analysis on the expected cash flows. This analysis reflects 
the contractual terms of the interest rate swaps, including the period to maturity, as well as observable market-based inputs, including interest 
rate curves and implied volatilities. In addition, credit valuation adjustments are incorporated into the fair values to account for the Company's 
potential nonperformance risk and the performance risk of the counterparties.  

The Company has investments in redeemable preferred stock and equity securities that are traded in active markets and therefore, due to the 
availability of quoted market prices in active markets, the Company classified these investments as Level 1 in the fair value hierarchy.  

The following table presents information about the Company's assets and liabilities (including derivatives that are presented net) measured 
at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 , aggregated by the level in the fair value hierarchy within 
which those instruments fall:  
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(In thousands)    

Quoted Prices in Active 
Markets  
Level 1    

Significant Other 
Observable Inputs  

Level 2    

Significant Unobservable 
Inputs  
Level 3    Total  

December 31, 2014                      

Interest rate swaps, net    $ —   $ (1,071 )   $ —   $ (1,071 ) 

Investment securities    $ 4,659    $ —   $ —   $ 4,659  

December 31, 2013                      

Interest rate swaps, net    $ —   $ (385 )   $ —   $ (385 ) 

Investment securities    $ 1,048    $ —   $ —   $ 1,048  
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A review of the fair value hierarchy classification is conducted on a quarterly basis. Changes in the type of inputs may result in a 
reclassification for certain assets. There were no transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy during the years ended December 31, 2014 
or 2013 .  

Financial instruments not carried at fair value  

The Company is required to disclose the fair value of financial instruments for which it is practicable to estimate the value. The fair value of 
short-term financial instruments such as cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, prepaid expenses and other assets, due from affiliates, notes 
payable, accounts payable and dividends payable approximates their carrying value on the consolidated balance sheet due to their short-term 
nature. The fair values of the Company's financial instruments that are not reported at fair value on the consolidated balance sheet are reported 
below.  

The fair value of mortgage notes payable, the fixed-rate portions of term loans on the credit facility, and the preferred equity investment are 
estimated using a discounted cash flow analysis based on similar types of arrangements. Advances under the credit facility with variable interest 
rates and advances under the revolving portion of the credit facility are considered to be reported at fair value.  

Note 11 — Interest Rate Derivatives and Hedging Activities  

Risk Management Objective of Using Derivatives  

The Company may use derivative financial instruments, including interest rate swaps, caps, collars, options, floors and other interest rate 
derivative contracts, to hedge all or a portion of the interest rate risk associated with its borrowings. The principal objective of such arrangements 
is to minimize the risks and costs associated with the Company's operating and financial structure as well as to hedge specific anticipated 
transactions. The Company does not utilize derivatives for speculative or purposes other than interest rate risk management. The use of 
derivative financial instruments carries certain risks, including the risk that the counterparties to these contractual arrangements will not be able 
to perform under the agreements. To mitigate this risk, the Company only enters into derivative financial instruments with counterparties with 
high credit ratings and with major financial institutions with which the Company and its affiliates may also have other financial relationships.  

Cash Flow Hedges of Interest Rate Risk  

The Company's objectives in using interest rate derivatives are to add stability to interest expense and to manage its exposure to interest rate 
movements. To accomplish this objective, the Company primarily uses interest rate swaps and collars as part of its interest rate risk management 
strategy. Interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges involve the receipt of variable-rate amounts from a counterparty in exchange for the 
Company making fixed-rate payments over the life of the agreements without exchange of the underlying notional amount. Interest rate collars 
designated as cash flow hedges involve the receipt of variable-rate amounts if interest rates rise above the cap strike rate on the contract and 
payments of variable-rate amounts if interest rates fall below the floor strike rate on the contract.  

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives designated and that qualify as cash flow hedges is recorded in accumulated 
other comprehensive income and is subsequently reclassified into earnings in the period that the hedged forecasted transaction affects earnings. 
The Company uses such derivatives to hedge the variable cash flows associated with variable-rate debt.  

Amounts reported in accumulated other comprehensive income related to derivatives will be reclassified to interest expense as interest 
payments are made on the Company's variable-rate debt. During the next 12 months , the Company estimates that an additional $1.8 million will 
be reclassified from other comprehensive income as an increase to interest expense.  
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Carrying  

Amount at    Fair Value at    
Carrying  

Amount at    Fair Value at  

(In thousands)    Level    December 31, 2014    December 31, 2014    December 31, 2013    December 31, 2013  

Mortgage notes payable    3    $ 172,242    $ 174,468    $ 172,716    $ 173,427  

Credit facility    3    $ 635,000    $ 651,579    $ 305,000    $ 305,000  

Preferred equity investment    3    $ 35,100    $ 34,800    $ 30,000    $ 30,000  
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As of December 31, 2014 and 2013 , the Company had the following outstanding interest rate derivatives that were designated as cash flow 
hedges of interest rate risk.  

The table below presents the fair value of the Company's derivative financial instruments as well as their classification on the consolidated 
balance sheets as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 :  

Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging Relationships  

The table below details the location in the financial statements of the income or loss recognized on interest rate derivatives designated as 
cash flow hedges for the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 :  

Offsetting Derivatives  

The table below presents a gross presentation, the effects of offsetting, and a net presentation of the Company's derivatives as of 
December 31, 2014 and 2013 . The net amounts of derivative assets or liabilities can be reconciled to the tabular disclosure of fair value. The 
tabular disclosure of fair value provides the location that derivative assets and liabilities are presented on the accompanying balance sheets.  

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedges  

Derivatives not designated as hedges are not speculative. These derivatives are used to manage the Company's exposure to interest rate 
movements and other identified risks but do not meet the strict hedge accounting requirements to be classified as hedging instruments. The 
Company does not have any hedging instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting.  

 

     December 31, 2014    December 31, 2013  

Interest Rate Derivative    
Number of  
Instruments    Notional Amount    

Number of  
Instruments    Notional Amount  

          (In thousands)         (In thousands)  

Interest rate swaps    6    $ 179,988    6    $ 179,988  

          December 31,  

(In thousands)    Balance Sheet Location    2014    2013  

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:            

Interest rate swaps    Derivative assets, at fair value    $ 205    $ 490  

Interest rate swaps    Derivative liabilities, at fair value    $ (1,276 )   $ (875 ) 

     Year Ended December 31,  

(In thousands)    2014    2013    2012  

Amount of loss recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 
from interest rate derivatives (effective portion)    $ (2,847 )   $ (16 )   $ (1,722 ) 

Amount of loss reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income 
(loss) into income as interest expense (effective portion)    $ (2,160 )   $ (1,336 )   $ (230 ) 

Amount of income (loss) recognized in gain (loss) on derivative instruments 
(ineffective portion and amount excluded from effectiveness testing)    $ 1    $ 5    $ (14 ) 

                    
Gross Amounts Not Offset on 

the Balance Sheet       

Derivatives  (In thousands)    

Gross Amounts 
of Recognized 

Assets    

Gross 
Amounts of 
Recognized 
Liabilities    

Net Amounts of Assets 
(Liabilities) presented 
on the Balance Sheet    

Financial 
Instruments    

Cash 
Collateral 

Posted    Net Amount  

December 31, 2014    $ 205    $ (1,276 )   $ (1,071 )   $ —   $ —   $ (1,071 ) 

December 31, 2013    $ 490    $ (875 )   $ (385 )   $ —   $ —   $ (385 ) 
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Credit-risk-related Contingent Features  

The Company has agreements with its derivative counterparties that contain a provision whereby if the Company either defaults or is 
capable of being declared in default on any of its indebtedness, then the Company could also be declared in default on its derivative obligations.  

As of December 31, 2014 , the fair value of derivatives in a net liability position including accrued interest but excluding any adjustment for 
nonperformance risk related to these agreements was $1.4 million . As of December 31, 2014 , the Company has not posted any collateral related 
to its agreements and was not in breach of any agreement provisions. If the Company had breached any of these provisions, it could have been 
required to settle its obligations under the agreements at the aggregate termination value of $1.4 million at December 31, 2014 .  

Note 12 — Common Stock  

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013 , the Company had 162.2 million and 174.1 million shares of common stock outstanding, respectively, 
including unvested restricted stock, converted preferred shares and shares issued under the distribution reinvestment plan (the "DRIP").  

On April 15, 2014, the Company commenced the Tender Offer. The Tender Offer was completed on May 12, 2014 with the Company 
purchasing 14.2 million shares of its common stock at a price of $10.75 per share, for an aggregate of $152.3 million , excluding fees and 
expenses relating to the Tender Offer and including fractional shares repurchased thereafter. The Company funded the Tender Offer using cash 
on hand.  

In September 2010, the Company's board of directors authorized, and the Company declared, dividends at a dividend rate equal to $0.605 
per annum per share of common stock, commencing December 1, 2010.  The dividends were paid by the fifth day following each month end to 
stockholders of record at the close of business each day during the prior month at a per share rate of 0.0016575342 per day. In April 2014, the 
Company's board of directors authorized, and the Company declared, dividends at an annualized rate equal to $0.46 per share per annum 
beginning with the April 2014 dividend. Beginning in April 2014, dividends are paid to stockholders of record on the close of business on the 
8th day of each month, payable on the 15th day of such month. The Company's board of directors may reduce the amount of dividends paid or 
suspend dividend payments at any time and therefore dividend payments are not assured. For purposes of the presentation of information herein, 
the Company may refer to distributions by the operating partnership on OP units, Class B units and LTIP units as dividends.  

On March 31, 2014, the Company's board of directors approved the termination of the Company's SRP. The Company processed all of the 
requests received under the SRP in the first quarter of 2014 and will not process further requests.  

The following table reflects the number of shares of common stock repurchased through the termination of the SRP:  
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Number of 
Requests    

Number of Shares 
Repurchased    

Average Price per 
Share  

Prior repurchases  1    2,538    $ 9.85  
Year ended December 31, 2012  10    81,661    9.55  
Year ended December 31, 2013  24    195,395    9.65  
Repurchases in 2014 through termination of the SRP  1    5,000    10.00  

Cumulative repurchases through termination of the SRP  36    284,594    $ 9.63  
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Note 13 — Commitments and Contingencies  

Future Minimum Lease Payments  

The Company entered into operating and capital lease agreements primarily related to certain acquisitions under leasehold interest 
arrangements. The following table reflects the minimum base cash payments due from the Company over the next five years and thereafter under 
these arrangements, including the present value of the net minimum payment due under capital leases. These amounts exclude contingent rent 
payments, as applicable, that may be payable based on provisions related to increases in annual rent based on exceeding certain economic 
indexes among other items.  

Total rental expense related to operating leases was $7.7 million and $0.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 , 
respectively. During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 , interest expense related to capital leases was $0.1 million . There were no 
such expenses for the year ended December 31, 2012 . The following table discloses assets recorded under capital leases and the accumulated 
amortization thereon as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 .  

Litigation and Regulatory Matters  

In the ordinary course of business, the Company may become subject to litigation, claims and regulatory matters. There are no material legal 
or regulatory proceedings pending or known to be contemplated against the Company:  

The Company received a favorable ruling in a suit initiated against the Company by RXR Realty (“RXR”). RXR alleged that it suffered 
“lost profits” in connection with the Company’s purchase of Worldwide Plaza in October 2013. On August 12, 2014, the Supreme Court of the 
State of New York dismissed all of RXR’s claims against the seller of Worldwide Plaza and dismissed RXR’s disgorgement claims against the 
Company, permitting only a limited, immaterial claim against the Company for RXR’s cost of producing due diligence-related material to 
proceed. RXR is currently appealing the ruling. The Company has not recognized a liability with respect to RXR's claim because the Company 
does not believe that it is probable that it will incur a related material loss.  

Environmental Matters  

In connection with the ownership and operation of real estate, the Company may potentially be liable for costs and damages related to 
environmental matters. The Company maintains environmental insurance for its properties that provides coverage for potential environmental 
liabilities, subject to the policy's coverage conditions and limitations. The Company has not been notified by any governmental authority of any 
non-compliance, liability or other claim, and is not aware of any other environmental condition that it believes will have a material adverse effect 
on the consolidated results of operations.  
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     Future Minimum Base Rent Payments  

(In thousands)    Operating Leases    Capital Leases  

2015    $ 4,531    $ 86  
2016    4,958    86  
2017    4,905    86  
2018    5,089    86  
2019    5,346    86  
Thereafter    251,627    3,490  

Total minimum lease payments    $ 276,456    $ 3,920  
Less: amounts representing interest         (1,785 ) 

Total present value of minimum lease payments         $ 2,135  

     December 31,  

(In thousands)    2014    2013  

Buildings, fixtures and improvements    $ 11,783    $ 11,783  
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization    (1,137 )   (568 ) 

Total real estate investments, net    $ 10,646    $ 11,215  
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Note 14 — Related Party Transactions and Arrangements  

The SLP, an entity controlled by the Company's Sponsor, held 20,000 shares of the Company's outstanding common stock as of 
December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 .  

As of December 31, 2014 , the Company had $3.4 million invested in a real estate income fund managed by an affiliate of the Sponsor (see 
Note 6 — Investment Securities). There is no obligation to purchase any additional shares and the shares can be sold at any time.  

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013 , the Company had receivables from related parties of approximately $23,000 and $10,000 , 
respectively, related to room rentals at the Viceroy Hotel. For the year ended December 31, 2014 and for the period from November 18, 2013, 
the date on which the Company acquired the Viceroy Hotel, to December 31, 2013 , the Company had revenues from related parties of $0.3 
million and approximately $39,000 , respectively, related to room rentals at the Viceroy Hotel.  

Fees Paid in Connection with the IPO  

The Dealer Manager and the Sponsor were paid fees and compensation in connection with the sale of the Company's common stock in the 
IPO. The Dealer Manager received a selling commission of up to 7.0% of gross offering proceeds before reallowance of commissions earned by 
participating broker-dealers. In addition, the Dealer Manager was permitted to re-allow a portion of its dealer manager fee to such participating 
broker-dealers, based on such factors as the volume of shares sold by respective participating broker-dealers and marketing support provided as 
compared to other participating broker-dealers. The following table details total selling commissions and dealer manager fees incurred and 
payable to the Dealer Manager related to the sale of common stock as of and for the periods presented:  

 The Advisor and its affiliates received compensation and reimbursement for services provided in connection with the IPO. Effective March 
1, 2013, the Company began utilizing transfer agent services provided by an affiliate of the Dealer Manager. All offering costs related to the IPO 
incurred by the Company, or its affiliated entities, on behalf of the Company were charged to additional paid-in capital on the accompanying 
consolidated balance sheets. The following table details offering costs reimbursements incurred and payable to the Advisor and Dealer Manager 
related to the IPO as of and for the periods presented:  

______________  

Fees Paid in Connection With the Operations of the Company  

The Advisor receives an acquisition fee of 1.0% of the contract purchase price of each acquired property and 1.0% of the amount advanced 
for a loan or other investment. Additionally, the Company reimburses the Advisor for expenses incurred for services provided by third parties 
and incurs acquisition expenses directly from third parties. The Company expects third-party acquisition expenses to be approximately 0.5% of 
the purchase price of each property and 0.5% of the amount advanced for a loan or other investment. The total of all acquisition fees, acquisition 
expenses and any financing coordination fees (as described below) with respect to the Company's portfolio of investments or reinvestments did 
not exceed 4.5% of the contract purchase price of the Company's portfolio as measured at the close of the acquisition phase. On April 15, 2014, 
in conjunction with the Listing, the Company entered into the Sixth Amended and Restated Advisory Agreement (the "Amended Advisory 
Agreement") by and among the Company, the OP and the Advisor, which, among other things, terminated the acquisition fee 180 days after the 
Listing, or October 12, 2014 (the "Termination Date"), except for fees with respect to properties under contract, letter of intent or under 
negotiation as of the Termination Date.  
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     Year Ended December 31,    Payable as of December 31,  

(In thousands)    2014    2013    2012    2014    2013  

Total commissions and fees from Dealer Manager    $ 8    $ 134,972    $ 12,576    $ —   $ 857  

     Year Ended December 31,    Payable as of December 31,  

(In thousands)    2014    2013    2012    2014    2013  

Fees and expense reimbursements from the Advisor and Dealer 
Manager (1)    $ —   $ 11,561    $ (1,240 )   $ —   $ 416  

(1)  The Advisor reimbursed offering costs in excess of 15% of proceeds from the sale of common stock. The cash reimbursement of $4.7 
million was received during the year ended December 31, 2012.  
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Until the Listing, the Company paid the Advisor an asset management subordinated participation by causing the OP to issue (subject to 
periodic approval by the board of directors) to the Advisor a number of performance-based restricted, forfeitable partnership units of the OP 
designated as "Class B units" equal to 0.75% per annum of the cost of the Company's assets (cost includes the purchase price, acquisition 
expenses, capital expenditures and other customarily capitalized costs, but excludes acquisition fees) plus costs and expenses incurred by the 
Advisor in providing asset management services; provided, however, that the asset management subordinated participation was reduced by any 
amounts payable to the Property Manager as an oversight fee, such that the aggregate of the asset management subordinated participation and the 
oversight fee did not exceed 0.75% per annum of the cost of the Company's assets plus costs and expenses incurred by the Advisor in providing 
asset management services. The Class B units were intended to be profits interests and would vest, and no longer be subject to forfeiture, at such 
time as: (x) the value of the OP's assets plus all distributions made equals or exceeds the total amount of capital contributed by investors plus a 
6.0% cumulative, pre-tax, non-compounded annual return thereon (the "economic hurdle"); (y) any one of the following occurs: (1) the 
termination of the advisory agreement by an affirmative vote of a majority of the Company's independent directors without cause; (2) a listing; 
or (3) another liquidity event; and (z) the Advisor is still providing advisory services to the Company (the "performance condition"). The value 
of issued Class B units was determined and expensed when the Company deemed the achievement of the performance condition was probable, 
which occurred as of the Listing. As of April 15, 2014, in aggregate, the board of directors had approved the issuance of 1,188,667 Class B units 
to the Advisor in connection with this arrangement. The Advisor received distributions on unvested Class B units equal to the dividend rate 
received on the Company's common stock. Such distributions on issued Class B units are included in general and administrative expenses in the 
consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss). The performance condition related to these Class B units was satisfied 
upon completion of the Listing, which resulted in $11.5 million of expense on April 15, 2014, which is included in vesting of asset management 
fees expense in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss) and in non-controlling interests on the consolidated 
balance sheets. On April 15, 2014, the Class B units were converted to OP units on a one-to-one basis.  

In accordance with the Amended Advisory Agreement, the asset management subordinated participation was no longer issued as of the 
Listing and instead an asset management fee became payable to the Advisor equal to 0.50% per annum of the cost of assets up to $3.0 billion and 
0.40% per annum of the cost of assets above $3.0 billion . The Amended Advisory Agreement also permits the asset management fee to be paid 
in the form of cash, OP units, and shares of restricted common stock of the Company, or a combination thereof, at the Advisor’s election.  

Unless the Company contracts with a third party, the Company pays the Property Manager a property management fee equal to: (i) for non-
hotel properties, 4.0% of gross revenues from properties managed, plus market-based leasing commissions; and (ii) for hotel properties, a 
market-based fee based on a percentage of gross revenues.  The Company also reimburses the Property Manager for property-level expenses.  
The Property Manager may subcontract the performance of its property management and leasing services duties to third parties and pay all or a 
portion of its property management fee to the third parties with whom it contracts for these services. If the Company contracts directly with third 
parties for such services, the Company will pay them customary market fees and pay the Property Manager an oversight fee equal to 1.0% of the 
gross revenues of the applicable property.  

If the Advisor provides services in connection with the origination or refinancing of any debt that the Company obtains and uses to acquire 
assets, or that is assumed, directly or indirectly, in connection with the acquisition of assets, the Company pays the Advisor a financing 
coordination fee equal to 0.75% of the amount available or outstanding under such financing or such assumed debt. In accordance with the 
Amended Advisory Agreement, the financing coordination fee terminated on the Termination Date, except for fees with respect to properties 
under contract, letter of intent or under negotiation as of the Termination Date.  
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Effective March 1, 2013, the Company entered into an agreement with the Dealer Manager to provide strategic advisory services and 
investment banking services required in the ordinary course of the Company's business, such as performing financial analysis, evaluating 
publicly traded comparable companies and assisting in developing a portfolio composition strategy, a capitalization structure to optimize future 
liquidity options and structuring operations. Strategic advisory fees were amortized over a six month period beginning in April 2013, the 
estimated remaining term of the IPO as of the date of the agreement. The Dealer Manager and its affiliates also provide transfer agency services, 
as well as transaction management and other professional services. As of the end of the IPO, these fees are also included in general and 
administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) during the period the service was 
provided. Prior to the end of the IPO, these fees were included in additional paid-in capital on the consolidated balance sheets.  

The following table details the fees and costs incurred, amounts forgiven by the Advisor and its affiliates and amounts contractually due in 
connection with the operations related services described above as of and for the periods presented:  

___________________________________________  

The Company reimburses the Advisor's costs and expenses of providing services, subject to the limitation that it will not reimburse the 
Advisor for any amount by which the Company's total operating expenses (as defined in the Company's advisory agreement) for the four 
preceding fiscal quarters exceeds the greater of (a) 2.0% of average invested assets and (b) 25.0% of net income other than any additions to 
reserves for depreciation, bad debt or other similar non cash reserves and excluding any gain from the sale of assets for that period.  
Additionally, the Company will not reimburse the Advisor for personnel costs in connection with services for which the Advisor receives a 
separate fee.  No reimbursement was incurred nor required from the Advisor for providing administrative services for the years ended 
December 31, 2014 , 2013 or 2012 .  
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     Year Ended December 31,    Payable as of  

     2014    2013    2012    December 31,    December 31,  

(In thousands)    Incurred    Forgiven    Incurred    Forgiven    Incurred    Forgiven    2014    2013  

Acquisition fees and reimbursements:                                          

Acquisition fees and related cost reimbursements (1)    $ 3,350    $ —   $ 15,836    $ —   $ 3,607    $ —   $ —   $ — 
Financing coordination fees    2,363    —   6,584    —   1,166    —   —   — 
Ongoing fees:                                          

Asset management fees (2)    8,397    —   —   —   —   540    15    — 
Transfer agent and other professional fees    1,971    —   —   —   —   —   560    — 
Property management, oversight and leasing fees    —   1,731    —   840    —   494    —   — 
Strategic advisory fees    —   —   920    —   —   —   —   — 
Dividends on Class B units    107    —   139    —   —   —   —   — 
Total related party operational fees and reimbursements    $ 16,188    $ 1,731    $ 23,479    $ 840    $ 4,773    $ 1,034    $ 575    $ — 

(1)  In June 2013, the Advisor elected to reimburse the Company $2.5 million for insourced acquisition expenses and legal reimbursements 
incurred.  

(2)  Prior to the Listing, the Company caused the OP to issue to the Advisor 1,188,667 restricted performance based Class B units for asset 
management services, which vested as of the Listing, resulting in the recognition of $11.5 million of expense.  
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In order to improve operating cash flows and the ability to pay dividends from operating cash flows, the Advisor agreed to waive certain 
fees including property management fees during the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 . Because the Advisor waived certain fees, 
cash flow from operations that would have been paid to the Advisor was available to pay dividends to stockholders.  The fees that were forgiven 
are not deferrals and accordingly, will not be paid to the Advisor in any subsequent periods. Additionally, to improve the Company's working 
capital, the Advisor may elect to absorb a portion of the Company's expenses. The following table details property operating and general and 
administrative expenses absorbed by the Advisor during the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 . These costs are presented net in 
the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss).  

The Company had no receivables due from affiliates at December 31, 2014 or 2013 related to absorbed general and administrative and 
property operating expenses.  

Fees Paid in Connection with the Liquidation or Listing of the Company's Real Estate Assets  

In December 2013, the Company entered into a transaction management agreement with RCS Advisory Services, LLC, an entity under 
common control with the Dealer Manager, to provide strategic alternatives transaction management services through the occurrence of a 
liquidity event and a-la-carte services thereafter. The Company agreed to pay $3.0 million pursuant to this agreement. For the year ended 
December 31, 2014 , the Company incurred $1.5 million of expenses pursuant to this agreement, including amounts for services provided in 
preparation for the Listing, which are included in acquisition and transaction related costs in the consolidated statement of operations and 
comprehensive income (loss). The Company incurred $1.5 million in fees pursuant to this arrangement during the year ended December 31, 
2013 which were included in acquisition and transaction related costs in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income 
(loss). Thus, the Company does not owe the Dealer Manager any more fees pursuant to this agreement.  

In December 2013, the Company entered into an information agent and advisory services agreement with the Dealer Manager and American 
National Stock Transfer, LLC, an entity under common control with the Dealer Manager, to provide in connection with a liquidity event, 
advisory services, educational services to external and internal wholesalers, communication support as well as proxy, tender offer or redemption 
and solicitation services. The Company agreed to pay $1.9 million pursuant to this agreement. For the year ended December 31, 2014 , the 
Company incurred $1.3 million of expenses pursuant to this agreement, which included amounts for services provided in preparation for the 
Tender Offer, and are included in additional paid-in capital on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. The Company incurred $0.6 
million in fees pursuant to this arrangement during the year ended December 31, 2013 which were included in acquisition and transaction related 
costs in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss). Thus, the Company does not owe the Dealer Manager any 
more fees pursuant to this agreement.  

In December 2013, the Company entered into an agreement with the investment banking and capital markets division of the Dealer Manager 
for strategic and financial advice and assistance in connection with (i) a possible sale transaction involving the Company (ii) the possible listing 
of the Company’s securities on a national securities exchange, and (iii) a possible acquisition transaction involving the Company. The Dealer 
Manager received a transaction fee equal to 0.25% of the transaction value in connection with the possible sale transaction, listing or 
acquisition. In April 2014, in connection with the Listing, the Company incurred and paid $6.9 million in connection with this agreement which 
were included in acquisition and transaction related costs in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss). Thus, the 
Company does not owe the Dealer Manager any more fees pursuant to this agreement.  
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     Year Ended December 31,  

(In thousands)    2014    2013    2012  

Property operating expenses absorbed    $ 623    $ —   $ 270  
General and administrative expenses absorbed    1,418    1,450    695  

Total expenses absorbed    $ 2,041    $ 1,450    $ 965  
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During the year ended December 31, 2014 , the Company incurred $0.6 million of expenses with affiliated entities relating to general legal, 
marketing and sales services provided in connection with the Listing. These expenses are included in acquisition and transaction related costs in 
the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss). During the year ended December 31, 2014 , the Company also 
incurred approximately $9,000 of expenses with affiliated entities relating to general legal services provided in connection with the Tender 
Offer. These expenses are included in additional paid-in capital on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2014 , 
there were no amounts payable to affiliated entities in accounts payable and accrued expenses on the accompanying balance sheets relating to 
Listing and Tender Offer expenses.  

For substantial assistance in connection with the sale of properties, the Company will pay the Advisor a property disposition fee, not to 
exceed the lesser of 2.0% of the contract sale price of the property and 50% of the competitive real estate commission paid if a third party broker 
is also involved; provided, however that in no event may the property disposition fee paid to the Advisor when added to real estate commissions 
paid to unaffiliated third parties exceed the lesser of 6.0% of the contract sales price and a competitive real estate commission. For purposes of 
the foregoing, "competitive real estate commission" means a real estate brokerage commission for the purchase or sale of a property which is 
reasonable, customary and competitive in light of the size, type and location of the property. No such fees were incurred or paid for the years 
ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 or 2012 .  

In connection with the Listing, the OP entered into the Listing Note. See Note 9 - Subordinated Listing Distribution.  

In connection with the Listing and the Amended Advisory Agreement, the Company terminated the subordinated termination fee that would 
be due to the Advisor in the event of termination of the advisory agreement.  

In October 2014, the Company entered into separate transaction management agreements with Barclays Capital Inc. and the Dealer 
Manager as financial advisors to assist the board of the Company in evaluating strategic options to enhance long-term shareholder value, 
including a business combination involving the Company or a sale of the Company. Pursuant to the agreement with the Dealer Manager, the 
Company will pay to the Dealer Manager a transaction fee upon the consummation of a transaction equal to 0.25% of the transaction value.  

Note 15 — Economic Dependency  

Under various agreements, the Company has engaged or will engage the Advisor, its affiliates and entities under common control with the 
Advisor to provide certain services that are essential to the Company, including asset management services, supervision of the management and 
leasing of properties owned by the Company, asset acquisition and disposition decisions, the sale of shares of the Company's common stock 
available for issue, transfer agency services as well as other administrative responsibilities for the Company including accounting services, 
transaction management and investor relations.  

As a result of these relationships, the Company is dependent upon the Advisor and its affiliates. In the event that these companies are unable 
to provide the Company with the respective services, the Company will be required to find alternative providers of these services.  

Note 16 — Share-Based Compensation  

Stock Option Plan  

The Company has a stock option plan (the "Plan") which authorizes the grant of nonqualified stock options to the Company's independent 
directors, officers, advisors, consultants and other personnel, subject to the absolute discretion of the board of directors and the applicable 
limitations of the Plan. The exercise price for all stock options granted under the Plan was previously fixed at $10.00 per share until the 
completion of the IPO, and the current exercise price for stock options granted to the independent directors will be equal to the fair market value 
of a share on the date of grant. Upon a change in control, unvested options will become fully vested and any performance conditions imposed 
with respect to the options will be deemed to be fully achieved.  A total of 0.5 million shares have been authorized and reserved for issuance 
under the Plan. As of  December 31, 2014 and 2013 , no stock options were issued under the Plan.  

Restricted Share Plan  

The Company's employee and director incentive restricted share plan ("RSP") provides the Company with the ability to grant awards of 
restricted shares to the Company's directors, officers and employees (if the Company ever has employees), employees of the Advisor and its 
affiliates, employees of entities that provide services to the Company, directors of the Advisor or of entities that provide services to the 
Company, certain consultants to the Company and the Advisor and its affiliates or to entities that provide services to the Company.  
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Prior to the Listing, the RSP provided for the automatic grant of 3,000 restricted shares of common stock to each of the independent 
directors, without any further action by the Company's board of directors or the stockholders, on the date of initial election to the board of 
directors and on the date of each annual stockholder's meeting. Restricted stock issued to independent directors vest over a five-year period 
following the first anniversary of the date of grant in increments of 20% per annum. Subsequent to the Listing, the Company amended the RSP 
to, among other things, remove the fixed amount of shares that are automatically granted to the independent directors. Under the amended RSP, 
the annual amount granted to the independent directors is determined by the board of directors. Generally, such awards provide for accelerated 
vesting of (i) all unvested shares upon a change in control or a termination without cause and (ii) the portion of the unvested shares scheduled to 
vest in the year of voluntary termination or the failure to be re-elected to the board.  

  Prior to March 31, 2014, the total number of shares of common stock granted under the RSP could not exceed 5.0% of the Company's 
outstanding shares on a fully diluted basis at any time, and in any event could not exceed 7.5 million shares (as such number may be adjusted for 
stock splits, stock dividends, combinations and similar events). On March 31, 2014, the Company adopted an amendment to the Company’s RSP 
to increase the number of shares of the Company capital stock, par value $0.01 per share, available for awards thereunder to 10% of the 
Company’s outstanding shares of capital stock on a fully diluted basis at any time. The amendment also eliminated the RSP limit of 7.5 million 
shares of capital stock.  

Restricted shares may not, in general, be sold or otherwise transferred until restrictions are removed and the shares have vested. Holders of 
restricted shares may receive cash dividends prior to the time that the restrictions on the restricted shares have lapsed. Any dividends payable in 
shares of common stock shall be subject to the same restrictions as the underlying restricted shares.  

The following table displays restricted share award activity during the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 :  

The fair value of the restricted shares, based on the per share price in the IPO or the per share closing price on the NYSE subsequent to the 
IPO, is expensed on a straight-line basis over the related service period. During the year ended December 31, 2014 , the vesting of certain 
restricted share awards issued in connection with the Listing was accelerated. For accounting purposes, all of the restricted share awards issued 
in connection with the Listing were expensed during the year ended December 31, 2014 to address the possibility of the potential acceleration of 
vesting of the remaining restricted share awards issued in connection with the Listing. Actual vesting of any unvested restricted shares issued in 
connection with the Listing will continue in accordance with the terms of the relevant award agreement. Compensation expense related to 
restricted stock was $2.5 million , $0.1 million and approximately $39,000 for the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , 
respectively.  

As of December 31, 2014 , the Company had $0.1 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested restricted share awards 
granted under the Company’s RSP, which is expected to vest over a period of 2.44 years.  
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   Number of Restricted Shares    Weighted-Average Issue Price  

Unvested, December 31, 2011  13,800    $ 10.00  
Granted  9,000    9.00  
Vested  (3,000 )   10.00  
Forfeited  —   — 
Unvested, December 31, 2012  19,800    9.55  
Granted  9,000    9.00  
Vested  (4,800 )   9.63  
Forfeited  —   — 
Unvested, December 31, 2013  24,000    9.33  
Granted  218,845    10.74  
Vested  (150,231 )   10.52  
Forfeited  (3,115 )   10.70  

Unvested, December 31, 2014  89,499    $ 10.73  



Table of Contents  
NEW YORK REIT, INC.  

 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012  
 
 

2014 Advisor Multi-Year Outperformance Agreement  

On April 15, 2014 (the "Effective Date") in connection with the Listing, the Company entered into the OPP with the OP and the Advisor. 
Under the OPP, the Advisor was issued 8,880,579 long term incentive plan ("LTIP Units") in the OP with a maximum award value on the 
issuance date equal to 5.0% of the Company’s market capitalization (the “OPP Cap”). The LTIP Units are structured as profits interest in the OP. 

The Advisor will be eligible to earn a number of LTIP Units with a value equal to a portion of the OPP Cap upon the first, second and third 
anniversaries of the Effective Date based on the Company’s achievement of certain levels of total return to its stockholders (“Total Return”), 
including both share price appreciation and common stock dividends, as measured against a peer group of companies, as set forth below, for the 
three-year performance period commencing on the Effective Date (the “Three-year Period”); each 12 -month period during the Three -Year 
Period (the “One-Year Periods”); and the initial 24 -month period of the Three -Year Period (the “Two-Year Period”), as follows:  

______________________   

*The “Peer Group” is comprised of the companies in the SNL US REIT Office Index.  

The potential outperformance award is calculated at the end of each One-Year Period, the Two-Year Period and the Three-Year Period. The 
award earned for the Three-Year Period is based on the formula in the table above less any awards earned for the Two-Year Period and One-
Year Periods, but not less than zero; the award earned for the Two-Year Period is based on the formula in the table above less any award earned 
for the first and second One-Year Period, but not less than zero. Any LTIP Units that are unearned at the end of the Performance Period will be 
forfeited.  

Subject to the Advisor’s continued service through each vesting date, one third of any earned LTIP Units will vest on each of the third, 
fourth and fifth anniversaries of the Effective Date. Until such time as the LTIP Units are fully vested in accordance with the provisions of the 
OPP, the holders of LTIP Units are entitled to distributions equal to 10% of the distributions made on OP units. The Company paid $0.3 million 
in distributions related to LTIP Units during the year ended December 31, 2014 , which is included in non-controlling interest in the consolidated 
balance sheets. After the LTIP Units are fully vested, holders are entitled to a catch-up distribution and then the same distributions as the OP 
units. At the time the Advisor’s capital account with respect to the LTIP Units is economically equivalent to the average capital account balance 
of the OP units and has been earned and has been vested for 30 days, the applicable LTIP Units will automatically convert into OP units on a 
one-to-one basis. The OPP provides for early calculation of LTIP Units earned and for the accelerated vesting of any earned LTIP Units in the 
event Advisor is terminated or in the event the Company incurs a change in control, in either case prior to the end of the Three-Year Period.  

The Company records equity based compensation expense associated with the awards over the requisite service period of five years. Equity-
based compensation expense is adjusted each reporting period for changes in the estimated market-related performance. Compensation expense 
related to the OPP was $5.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 .  

The valuation of the OPP is determined using a Monte Carlo simulation. This analysis reflects the contractual terms of the OPP, including 
the performance periods and total return hurdles, as well as observable market-based inputs, including interest rate curves, and unobservable 
inputs, such as expected volatility. As a result, the Company has determined that its OPP valuation in its entirety is classified in Level 3 of the 
fair value hierarchy.  
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Performance 
Period    

Annual 
Period    

Interim 
Period  

Absolute Component: 4% of any excess Total Return attained above an absolute hurdle 
measured from the beginning of such period:    21%    7%    14%  

Relative Component: 4% of any excess Total Return attained above the Total Return for the 
performance period of the Peer Group*, subject to a ratable sliding scale factor as follows 
based on achievement of cumulative Total Return measured from the beginning of such 
period:                 

  •  100% will be earned if cumulative Total Return achieved is at least:    18%    6%    12%  

  •  50% will be earned if cumulative Total Return achieved is:    —%    —%    —%  

  •  0% will be earned if cumulative Total Return achieved is less than:    —%    —%    —%  

  •  
a percentage from 50% to 100% calculated by linear interpolation will be earned if the 
cumulative Total Return achieved is between:    0% - 18%    0% - 6%    0% - 12%  
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The following table presents information about the Company's OPP, which is measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 
2014 , aggregated by the level in the fair value hierarchy within which the instrument falls:  

Level 3 valuations  

The following is a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balance for the changes in instruments with Level 3 inputs in the fair value 
hierarchy for the year ended December 31, 2014 :  

The following table provides quantitative information about significant Level 3 input used:  

The following discussion provides a description of the impact on a fair value measurement of a change in each unobservable input in 
isolation. For the relationship described below, the inverse relationship would also generally apply.  

Expected volatility is a measure of the variability in possible returns for an instrument, parameter or market index given how much the 
particular instrument, parameter or index changes in value over time. Generally, the higher the expected volatility of the underlying instrument, 
the wider the range of potential future returns. An increase in expected volatility, in isolation, would generally result in an increase in the fair 
value measurement of an instrument.  

Other Share-Based Compensation      

The Company may issue common stock in lieu of cash to pay fees earned by the Company's directors at the respective director's election. 
There are no restrictions on the shares issued. The following table reflects the shares of common stock issued to directors in lieu of cash 
compensation:  
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(In thousands)    

Quoted Prices in Active 
Markets  
Level 1    

Significant Other 
Observable Inputs  

Level 2    

Significant 
Unobservable Inputs  

Level 3    Total  

December 31, 2014                      

OPP    $ —   $ —   $ 29,100    $ 29,100  

(In thousands)    OPP  

Beginning balance as of December 31, 2013    $ — 
   Fair value at issuance    31,500  
   Fair value adjustment    (2,400 ) 

Ending balance as of December 31, 2014    $ 29,100  

Financial Instrument    
Fair Value at December 

31, 2014    Principal Valuation Technique    Unobservable Inputs    Input Value  

     (In thousands)                 

OPP    $ 29,100    Monte Carlo Simulation    Expected volatility    27.0%  

     Year Ended December 31,  

     2014    2013    2012  

Shares issued in lieu of cash    —   19,728    15,667  

Value of shares issued in lieu of cash (in thousands)    $ —   $ 177    $ 141  
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Note 17 — Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)  

The following table illustrates the changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) as of and for the periods indicated:  

For a reconciliation of the income statement line item affected due to amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income 
(loss) for the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , see Note 11 — Derivatives and Hedging Activities.  

Note 18 — Net Loss Per Share  

The following is a summary of the basic and diluted net loss per share computations for the periods presented:    
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     Unrealized gains    Change in    Total accumulated  

     (losses) on available-    unrealized gain    other comprehensive  

(in thousands)    for-sale securities    (loss) on derivatives    income (loss)  

Balance, December 31, 2011    $ —   $ (201 )   $ (201 ) 

Other comprehensive loss, before reclassifications    —   (1,722 )   (1,722 ) 

Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive 
income (loss)    —   230    230  

Net current-period other comprehensive income (loss)    —   (1,492 )   (1,492 ) 

Balance, December 31, 2012    —   (1,693 )   (1,693 ) 

Other comprehensive loss, before reclassifications    (240 )   (16 )   (256 ) 

Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive 
income (loss)    —   1,336    1,336  

Net current-period other comprehensive income (loss)    (240 )   1,320    1,080  
Balance, December 31, 2013    (240 )   (373 )   (613 ) 

Other comprehensive income (loss), before reclassifications    484    (2,847 )   (2,363 ) 

Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive 
income (loss)    —   2,160    2,160  

Net current-period other comprehensive income (loss)    484    (687 )   (203 ) 

Balance, December 31, 2014    $ 244    $ (1,060 )   $ (816 ) 

     Year Ended December 31,  

     2014    2013    2012  

Net loss attributable to stockholders (in thousands)    $ (93,028 )   $ (19,279 )   $ (6,339 ) 

Weighted average shares outstanding, basic and diluted    166,959,316    73,074,872    12,187,623  

Net loss per share attributable to stockholders, basic and diluted    $ (0.56 )   $ (0.26 )   $ (0.52 ) 
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Diluted net loss per share assumes the conversion of all common share equivalents into an equivalent number of common shares, unless the 
effect is antidilutive.  The Company considers unvested restricted stock, OP units, Class B units and LTIP units to be common share equivalents. 
The Company had the following common share equivalents for the periods presented, which were excluded from the calculation of diluted loss 
per share attributable to stockholders as the effect would have been antidilutive:  

Note 19 — Non-Controlling Interests  

The Company is the sole general partner of the OP and holds the majority of OP units. The Advisor, a limited partner, held 200 OP units as 
of December 31, 2013, which represented a nominal percentage of the aggregate OP ownership. On April 15, 2014, 1,188,667 Class B units that 
were previously issued to the Advisor for asset management services were converted to OP units on a one-to-one basis. Additionally, the 
Advisor, as the holder of Class B Units, had the right to make a capital contribution to the OP in exchange for OP units. Pursuant to a 
Contribution and Exchange Agreement entered into between the Advisor and the OP dated April 15, 2014, the Advisor contributed $0.8 million 
in cash to the OP in exchange for 83,333 OP Units of the OP. On November 21, 2014, 3,062,512 OP units were issued to the SLP pursuant to the 
terms of the Listing Note, of which 63,871 OP units were redeemed on December 29, 2014. As of December 31, 2014 , the Advisor and SLP 
held 4,270,841 OP units. There were $0.5 million of distributions paid to OP unit holders during the year ended December 31, 2014 .  

A holder of OP units has the right to distributions and has the right to convert OP units for the cash value of a corresponding number of 
shares of the Company's common stock or a corresponding number of shares of the Company's common stock, at the Company's election, in 
accordance with the limited partnership agreement of the OP. The remaining rights of the holders of OP units are limited, however, and do not 
include the ability to replace the general partner or to approve the sale, purchase or refinancing of the OP's assets.  

In December 2010, an unrelated third party and a related party, American Realty Capital Operating Partnership, L.P., contributed $1.0 
million and $12.0 million to acquire the Bleecker Street properties, respectively.  The Company had the sole voting rights and was the 
controlling member of the limited liability company that owned the Bleecker Street properties. The non-controlling members' aggregate initial 
investment balance of $13.0 million was reduced by the monthly dividends paid to each non-controlling member.  There were $0.1 million of 
dividends to non-controlling members during the year ended December 31, 2013 . The Company fully redeemed the related party's and third 
party's non-controlling interest in Bleecker Street in June 2012 and December 2013, respectively.  

The Company is the controlling member of the limited liability company that owns the 163 Washington Avenue Apartments, acquired in 
September 2012. The Company has the sole voting rights under the operating agreement of this limited liability company. The non-controlling 
members' aggregate initial investment balance of $0.5 million will be reduced by the dividends paid to each non-controlling member. No 
dividends were paid during the years ended December 31, 2014 or 2013 .  
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     Year Ended December 31,  

     2014    2013    2012  

Unvested restricted stock    89,499    24,000    19,800  
OP units    4,270,841    200    200  
Class B units    —   454,739    43,968  
LTIP units    8,880,579    —   — 

Total anti-dilutive common share equivalents    13,240,919    478,939    63,968  
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Note 20 — Quarterly Results (Unaudited)  

Presented below is a summary of the unaudited quarterly financial information for the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 :  

Note 21 — Subsequent Events  

The Company has evaluated subsequent events through the filing of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and determined that there have not 
been any events that have occurred that would require adjustments to disclosures in the consolidated financial statements, except for the 
following event:  

On March 27, 2015, the owner of 123 William Street, the property in which the Company held its $35.1 million preferred equity investment, 
sold the property to American Realty Capital New York City REIT, Inc. ("NYCR"). On such date, the Company received its entire principal 
balance plus accrued income receivable. The sponsor and advisor of NYCR and the Sponsor and Advisor of the Company are under common 
control.  

     Quarters Ended  

(In thousands, except share and per share data)    March 31, 2014   June 30, 2014    
September 30, 

2014    
December 31, 

2014  

Total revenues    $ 33,592    $ 35,949    $ 40,514    $ 45,512  

Basic net income (loss) attributable to stockholders    $ (8,156 )    $ (67,237 )    $ 9,695    $ (27,330 )  

Adjustments to net income (loss) attributable to stockholders for common 
share equivalents    —   —   (1,305 )    — 

Diluted net income (loss) attributable to stockholders    $ (8,156 )    $ (67,237 )    $ 8,390    $ (27,330 )  

                  

Basic weighted average shares outstanding    175,068,005    168,972,601    161,975,420    162,019,399  

Basic net income (loss) per share attributable to stockholders    $ (0.05 )    $ (0.40 )    $ 0.06    $ (0.17 )  

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding    175,068,005    168,972,601    162,181,209    162,019,399  

Diluted net income (loss) per share attributable to stockholders    $ (0.05 )    $ (0.40 )    $ 0.05    $ (0.17 )  

     Quarters Ended  

(In thousands, except share and per share data)    March 31, 2013   June 30, 2013    
September 30, 

2013    
December 31, 

2013  

Total revenues    $ 8,327    $ 10,905    $ 15,728    $ 20,927  

Basic net income (loss) attributable to stockholders    $ (2,794 )    $ 2,019    $ (5,373 )    $ (13,131 )  

Adjustments to net income (loss) attributable to stockholders for common 
share equivalents    —   (223 )    —   — 

Diluted net income (loss) attributable to stockholders    $ (2,794 )    $ 1,796    $ (5,373 )    $ (13,131 )  

                  

Basic weighted average shares outstanding    23,217,358    41,982,278    83,841,078    141,836,952  

Basic net income (loss) per share attributable to stockholders    $ (0.12 )    $ 0.05    $ (0.06 )    $ (0.09 )  

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding    23,217,358    42,001,432    83,841,078    141,836,952  

Diluted net income (loss) per share attributable to stockholders    $ (0.12 )    $ 0.04    $ (0.06 )    $ (0.09 )  

     Quarters Ended  

(In thousands, except share and per share data)    March 31, 2012   June 30, 2012    

September 30, 
2012    

December 31, 
2012  

Total revenues    $ 2,725    $ 3,632    $ 4,120    $ 4,945  

Net loss attributable to stockholders    $ (619 )    $ (1,148 )    $ (1,270 )    $ (3,302 )  

Weighted average shares outstanding    7,490,591    10,497,092    13,508,525    17,184,855  

Basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to stockholders    $ (0.08 )    $ (0.11 )    $ (0.09 )    $ (0.19 )  
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(dollar amounts in thousands)  
 

___________________________________  

A summary of activity for real estate and accumulated depreciation for the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 :  

          Acquisition    Encumbrances at     Initial Costs    Subsequent to Acquisition    Gross Amount at    Accumulated  

Portfolio    State    Date    
December 31,  

 2014     Land    
Building and  

Improvements    Land    
Building and  

Improvements    December 31, 2014 
(2) (3)    Depreciation  (4)(5)  

Design Center    NY    6/22/2010    $ 20,198     $ 11,243    $ 18,884    $ —   $ 2,603    $ 32,730    $ 4,074  
Bleecker Street    NY    12/1/2010    21,300     —   31,167    —   —   31,167    5,431  
Foot Locker    NY    4/18/2011    3,250     2,753    2,753    —   5    5,511    500  
Regal Parking Garage    NY    6/1/2011    3,000     —   4,637    —   —   4,637    747  
Duane Reed    NY    10/5/2011    8,400     4,443    8,252    —   —   12,695    1,609  
Washington Street    NY    11/3/2011    4,741     —   8,979    —   869    9,848    1,606  
One Jackson Square    NY    11/18/2011    13,000     —   21,466    —   67    21,533    3,350  
350 West 42nd Street    NY    3/16/2012    11,365     —   19,869    —   84    19,953    2,651  
1100 Kings Highway    NY    5/4/2012    20,200     17,112    17,947    —   83    35,142    2,224  
163 Washington Avenue 

Apartments    NY    9/7/2012    — (1)    6,257    25,030    —   86    31,373    3,055  
1623 Kings Highway    NY    10/9/2012    7,288     3,440    8,538    —   37    12,015    885  
256 West 38th Street    NY    12/26/2012    24,500     20,000    26,483    —   3,003    49,486    3,227  
229 West 36th Street    NY    12/27/2012    35,000     27,400    22,308    —   (1,001 )    48,707    2,547  
350 Bleecker Street    NY    12/31/2012    — (1)    —   11,783    —   —   11,783    1,137  
218 West 18th Street    NY    3/27/2013    — (1)    17,500    90,869    —   2,801    111,170    8,571  
50 Varick Street    NY    7/5/2013    — (1)    —   77,992    —   12,232    90,224    6,527  
333 W 34th Street    NY    8/9/2013    — (1)    98,600    120,908    —   60    219,568    14,929  
Viceroy    NY    11/18/2013    —    —   169,945    —   2,132    172,077    6,377  
1440 Broadway    NY    12/23/2013    — (1)    217,066    289,410    —   175    506,651    21,619  
245-249 West 17th Street    NY    8/22/2014    — (1)    68,251    233,607         1,855    303,713    1,946  
Total              $ 172,242     $ 494,065    $ 1,210,827    $ —   $ 25,091    $ 1,729,983    $ 93,012  

(1)  These properties collateralize the credit facility, which had $635.0 million outstanding as of December 31, 2014 . 

(2)  Acquired intangible lease assets allocated to individual properties in the amount of $158.4 million are not reflected in the table above. 

(3)  The tax basis of aggregate land, buildings and improvements as of December 31, 2014 is $1.7 billion (unaudited). 

(4)  The accumulated depreciation column excludes $31.2 million of amortization associated with acquired intangible lease assets. 

(5)  Each of the properties has a depreciable life of: 40 years for buildings, 15 years for land improvements and five years for fixtures. 
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     December 31,  

(In thousands)    2014    2013    2012  

Real estate investments, at cost:                 

Balance at beginning of year    $ 1,414,959    $ 322,205    $ 115,035  
Additions-Acquisitions    301,858    1,082,292    206,167  
Capital expenditures    15,356    12,089    1,003  
Disposals    (2,190 )   (1,627 )   — 

Balance at end of the year    $ 1,729,983    $ 1,414,959    $ 322,205  

                  

Accumulated depreciation:                 

Balance at beginning of year    $ 31,715    $ 9,476    $ 3,109  
Depreciation expense    63,349    23,405    6,367  
Disposals    (2,052 )   (1,166 )   — 

Balance at end of the year    $ 93,012    $ 31,715    $ 9,476  
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FIRST AMENDMENT  

TO  

FOURTH AMENDED AND RESTATED AGREEMENT OF LIMITED PA RTNERSHIP  

OF  

NEW YORK RECOVERY OPERATING PARTNERSHIP, L.P.  

 

This FIRST AMENDMENT TO FOURTH AMENDED AND RESTATED AGREEMENT OF LIMITED 
PARTNERSHIP OF NEW YORK RECOVERY OPERATING PARTNERSHIP, L.P. (this “ Amendment ”), is made as of April 
15, 2015 by and among New York REIT, Inc., a Maryland corporation, in its capacity as the general partner (the “ General Partner 
”) of New York Recovery Operating Partnership, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (the “ Partnership ”), and New York 
Recovery Advisors, LLC, the initial limited partner of the partnership, a Delaware limited liability company (the “ Advisors 
Limited Partner ”). Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined in this Amendment shall have the meanings given to such 
terms in Fourth Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of the Partnership, dated as of April 15, 2014, as 
amended (the “ Partnership Agreement ”).  

RECITALS:  

WHEREAS , the General Partner and the Advisors Limited Partner, holding a Majority in Interest, desire to amend the 
Partnership Agreement in order to clarify a prior amendment to the Partnership Agreement and to have this amendment apply for 
purposes of allocating income and losses of the Partnership for its 2014 tax year; and  

WHEREAS , it is intended that by signing this Agreement the parties hereto shall satisfy the requirement to obtain the 
written consent of the General Partner and a Majority in Interest as set forth in Section 11.01 of the Partnership Agreement;  

NOW THEREFORE , in consideration of the premises made hereunder, and for good and valuable consideration, the 
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, hereby agree as 
follows:  

“(i)     Special Allocations of Depreciation . Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Section 5.01, after 
giving effect to the regulatory allocations in Section 5.01(d), but prior to any allocation under Sections 5.01(a)(i) and 
5.01(b), the Advisors Limited Partner shall be entitled to allocations of Depreciation until the cumulative amount of 
Depreciation allocated to the Advisors Limited Partner pursuant to this Section 5.01(c)(i) for all years equals 
$50,000,000; provided , that (A) the Advisors Limited Partner shall notify the Partnership in writing, within fifteen (15) 
days after the end of the year to which the allocation of Depreciation relates, of the amount of Depreciation the 
Advisors Limited Partner elects to have allocated to it for such year, (B) the amount of Depreciation the Advisors 
Limited Partner may elect to be allocated pursuant to this Section 5.01(c)(i) for any year shall not exceed $50,000,000 
minus the amount of Depreciation specially allocated pursuant to this Section 5.01(c)(i) to the Advisors Limited Partner 
for all prior years, and (C) if the amount of Depreciation the Partnership is able to allocate in a year is less than the 
amount the Advisors Limited Partner has elected for such year, the Partnership shall notify the Advisors Limited 
Partner as early as reasonably practicable but in no event later than five (5) days prior to the date it issues K-1’s for 
such year.”  

 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]  

 
 
 

a.  Section 5.01(c)(i) of the Partnership Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and the following new Section 5.01(c)(i) is 
substituted in its place:  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the undersigned, intending to be legally bound hereby, have duly executed this 
Agreement as of the date and year first aforesaid.  

 

GENERAL PARTNER :  
 
NEW YORK REIT, INC.  
 
 
By:      /s/ Michael A. Happel  

Name:    Michael A. Happel  

 

INITIAL LIMITED PARTNER :  
 
NEW YORK RECOVERY ADVISORS, LLC  
 

its Member  
 
By:    American Realty Capital III, LLC,  

its Member  
 
By:      William M. Kahane  

Name:    William M. Kahane  
Title:     Manager  

 
[Signature Page to First Amendment to Fourth Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership]  

 

Title:  Chief Executive Officer and President 

By:  New York Recovery Special Limited Partnership, LLC, 
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INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT  

THIS INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement ”) is made and entered into as of the 31st day of December, 
2014 (the “ Effective Date ”), by and between New York REIT, Inc., a Maryland corporation (the “ Company ”), and Nicholas S. 
Schorsch, Michael A. Happel, Gregory W. Sullivan, Edward M. Weil, Jr., William M. Kahane, Randolph C. Read, Robert H. 
Burns, P. Sue Perrotty, Scott J. Bowman, William G. Stanley, New York Recovery Advisors, LLC, AR Capital, LLC and RCS 
Capital Corp. (“ Indemnitee ”).  

WHEREAS, at the request of the Company, Indemnitee currently serves or has previously served as a director, officer or 
service provider of the Company and may, therefore, be subjected to claims, suits or proceedings arising as a result of his or her 
service; and  

WHEREAS, the Company has agreed to indemnify and to advance expenses and costs incurred by Indemnitee in 
connection with any such claims, suits or proceedings, to the maximum extent permitted by law; and  

WHEREAS, the parties by this Agreement desire to set forth their agreement regarding indemnification and advance of 
expenses.  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the covenants contained herein, the Company and Indemnitee 
do hereby covenant and agree as follows:  

Section 1. Definitions . For purposes of this Agreement:  

(a)      “ Bylaws ” means the Bylaws of the Company, as amended from time to time.  

(b)      “ Charter ” means the charter of the Company, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time 
to time.  

(c)      “ Change in Control ” means a change in control of the Company occurring after the Effective Date of a 
nature that would be required to be reported in response to Item 6(e) of Schedule 14A of Regulation 14A (or in response to any 
similar item on any similar schedule or form) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “ 
Exchange Act ”), whether or not the Company is then subject to such reporting requirement; provided, however, that, without 
limitation, such a Change in Control shall be deemed to have occurred if, after the Effective Date (i) any “person” (as such term is 
used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act) is or becomes the “beneficial owner” (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the 
Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing 15% or more of the combined voting power of all 
of the Company’s then-outstanding securities entitled to vote generally in the election of directors without the prior approval of at 
least two-thirds of the members of the Board of Directors of the Company (the “ Board of Directors ”) in office immediately prior 
to such person’s attaining such percentage interest; (ii) the Company is a party to a merger, consolidation, sale of assets, plan of 
liquidation or other reorganization not approved by at least two-thirds of the members of the Board of Directors then in office, as a 
consequence of which members of the Board of Directors in office immediately prior to such transaction or event constitute less 
than a majority of the Board of Directors thereafter; or (iii) at any time, a majority of the members of the Board of Directors are not 
individuals (A) who were directors as of the Effective Date or (B) whose election by the Board of Directors or nomination for 
election by the Company’s stockholders was approved by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the members of the Board of 
Directors then in office who were directors as of the Effective Date or whose election for nomination for election was previously so 
approved.  

 



 
(d)      “ Corporate Status ” means the status of a person as a present or former director, officer, employee or agent 

of the Company or as a director, trustee, officer, partner, manager, managing member, fiduciary, employee or agent of any other 
foreign or domestic corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other 
enterprise that such person is or was serving in such capacity at the request of the Company. As a clarification and without limiting 
the circumstances in which Indemnitee may be serving at the request of the Company, service by Indemnitee shall be deemed to be 
at the request of the Company if Indemnitee serves or served as a director, trustee, officer, partner, manager, managing member, 
fiduciary, employee or agent of any corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan 
or other enterprise (i) of which a majority of the voting power or equity interest is owned directly or indirectly by the Company or 
(ii) the management of which is controlled directly or indirectly by the Company.  

(e)      “ Disinterested Director ” means a director of the Company who is not and was not a party to the Proceeding 
in respect of which indemnification and/or advance of Expenses is sought by Indemnitee.  

(f)      “ Effective Date ” means the date set forth in the first paragraph of this Agreement.  

(g)      “ Expenses ” means any and all reasonable and out-of-pocket attorneys’ fees and costs, retainers, court 
costs, transcript costs, fees of experts, witness fees, travel expenses, duplicating costs, printing and binding costs, telephone 
charges, postage, delivery service fees, federal, state, local or foreign taxes imposed on Indemnitee as a result of the actual or 
deemed receipt of any payments under this Agreement, Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, excise 
taxes and penalties and any other disbursements or expenses incurred in connection with prosecuting, defending, preparing to 
prosecute or defend, investigating, being or preparing to be a witness in or otherwise participating in a Proceeding. Expenses shall 
also include Expenses incurred in connection with any appeal resulting from any Proceeding including, without limitation, the 
premium, security for and other costs relating to any cost bond, supersedeas bond or other appeal bond or its equivalent.  

(h)      “ Independent Counsel ” means a law firm, or a member of a law firm, that is experienced in matters of 
corporation law and neither is, nor in the past five years has been, retained to represent: (i) the Company or Indemnitee in any 
matter material to either such party (other than with respect to matters concerning Indemnitee under this Agreement or of other 
indemnitees under similar indemnification agreements), or (ii) any other party to or participant or witness in the Proceeding giving 
rise to a claim for indemnification or advance of Expenses hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the term “Independent 
Counsel” shall not include any person who, under the applicable standards of professional conduct then prevailing, would have a 
conflict of interest in representing either the Company or Indemnitee in an action to determine Indemnitee’s rights under this 
Agreement.  

(i)      “ Proceeding ” means any threatened, pending or completed action, suit, arbitration, alternate dispute 
resolution mechanism, investigation, inquiry, administrative hearing or any other proceeding, whether brought by or in the right of 
the Company or otherwise and whether of a civil (including intentional or unintentional tort claims), criminal, administrative or 
investigative (formal or informal) nature, including any appeal therefrom, except one pending or completed on or before the 
Effective Date, unless otherwise specifically agreed in writing by the Company and Indemnitee. If Indemnitee reasonably believes 
that a given situation may lead to or culminate in the institution of a Proceeding, such situation shall also be considered a 
Proceeding.  

 



 
Section 2.      Services by Indemnitee . Indemnitee serves or has previously served as a director, officer or service provider 

of the Company. However, this Agreement shall not impose any independent obligation on Indemnitee or the Company to continue 
Indemnitee’s service to the Company. This Agreement shall not be deemed an employment contract between the Company (or any 
other entity) and Indemnitee.  

Section 3.      General . The Company shall indemnify, and advance Expenses to, Indemnitee (a) as provided in this 
Agreement and (b) otherwise to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law in effect on the Effective Date and as amended 
from time to time; provided, however, that no change in Maryland law shall have the effect of reducing the benefits available to 
Indemnitee hereunder based on Maryland law as in effect on the Effective Date. The rights of Indemnitee provided in this Section 3 
shall include, without limitation, the rights set forth in the other sections of this Agreement, including any additional 
indemnification permitted by Section 2-418(g) of the Maryland General Corporation Law (the “ MGCL ”).  

Section 4.      Standard for Indemnification . If, by reason of Indemnitee’s Corporate Status, Indemnitee is, or is threatened 
to be, made a party to any Proceeding, the Company shall indemnify Indemnitee against all judgments, penalties, fines and amounts 
paid in settlement and all Expenses actually and reasonably incurred by Indemnitee or on Indemnitee’s behalf in connection with 
any such Proceeding unless it is established that (a) the act or omission of Indemnitee was material to the matter giving rise to the 
Proceeding and (i) was committed in bad faith or (ii) was the result of active and deliberate dishonesty, (b) Indemnitee actually 
received an improper personal benefit in money, property or services or (c) in the case of any criminal Proceeding, Indemnitee had 
reasonable cause to believe that his or her conduct was unlawful.  

Section 5.      Certain Limits on Indemnification . Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement (other than 
Section 6), Indemnitee shall not be entitled to:  

(a)      indemnification hereunder if the Proceeding was one by or in the right of the Company and Indemnitee is 
adjudged to be liable to the Company;  

(b)      indemnification hereunder if Indemnitee is adjudged to be liable on the basis that personal benefit was 
improperly received in any Proceeding charging improper personal benefit to Indemnitee, whether or not involving action in the 
Indemnitee’s Corporate Status; or  

(c)      indemnification or advance of Expenses hereunder if the Proceeding was brought by Indemnitee, unless: (i) 
the Proceeding was brought to enforce indemnification under this Agreement, and then only to the extent in accordance with and as 
authorized by Section 12 of this Agreement, or (ii) the Charter or Bylaws, a resolution of the stockholders entitled to vote generally 
in the election of directors or of the Board of Directors or an agreement approved by the Board of Directors to which the Company 
is a party expressly provide otherwise.  

Section 6.      Court-Ordered Indemnification . Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, a court of 
appropriate jurisdiction, upon application of Indemnitee and such notice as the court shall require, may order indemnification of 
Indemnitee by the Company in the following circumstances:  

(a)      if such court determines that Indemnitee is entitled to reimbursement under Section 2-418(d)(1) of the 
MGCL, the court shall order indemnification, in which case Indemnitee shall be entitled to recover the Expenses of securing such 
reimbursement; or  

 



 
(b)      if such court determines that Indemnitee is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnification in view of all the 

relevant circumstances, whether or not Indemnitee (i) has met the standards of conduct set forth in Section 2-418(b) of the MGCL 
or (ii) has been adjudged liable for receipt of an improper personal benefit under Section 2-418(c) of the MGCL, the court may 
order such indemnification as the court shall deem proper. However, indemnification with respect to any Proceeding by or in the 
right of the Company or in which liability shall have been adjudged in the circumstances described in Section 2-418(c) of the 
MGCL shall be limited to Expenses.  

Section 7.      Indemnification for Expenses of an Indemnitee Who Is Wholly or Partially Successful . Notwithstanding any 
other provision of this Agreement, and without limiting any such provision, to the extent that Indemnitee was or is, by reason of his 
or her Corporate Status, made a party to (or otherwise becomes a participant in) any Proceeding and is successful, on the merits or 
otherwise, in the defense of such Proceeding, Indemnitee shall be indemnified for all Expenses actually and reasonably incurred by 
Indemnitee or on Indemnitee’s behalf in connection therewith. If Indemnitee is not wholly successful in such Proceeding but is 
successful, on the merits or otherwise, as to one or more but less than all claims, issues or matters in such Proceeding, the Company 
shall indemnify Indemnitee under this Section 7 for all Expenses actually and reasonably incurred by Indemnitee or on 
Indemnitee’s behalf in connection with each such claim, issue or matter, allocated on a reasonable and proportionate basis. For 
purposes of this Section 7 and without limitation, the termination of any claim, issue or matter in such a Proceeding by dismissal, 
with or without prejudice, shall be deemed to be a successful result as to such claim, issue or matter.  

Section 8.      Advance of Expenses for Indemnitee . If, by reason of Indemnitee’s Corporate Status, Indemnitee is, or is 
threatened to be, made a party to any Proceeding, the Company shall, without requiring a preliminary determination of 
Indemnitee’s ultimate entitlement to indemnification hereunder, advance all reasonable Expenses incurred by or on behalf of 
Indemnitee in connection with such Proceeding within ten days after the receipt by the Company of a statement or statements 
requesting such advance or advances from time to time, whether prior to or after final disposition of such Proceeding. Such 
statement or statements shall reasonably evidence the Expenses incurred by Indemnitee and shall include or be preceded or 
accompanied by a written affirmation by Indemnitee of Indemnitee’s good faith belief that the standard of conduct necessary for 
indemnification by the Company as authorized by law and by this Agreement has been met and a written undertaking by or on 
behalf of Indemnitee, in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A or in such form as may be required under applicable 
law as in effect at the time of the execution thereof, to reimburse the portion of any Expenses advanced to Indemnitee relating to 
claims, issues or matters in the Proceeding as to which it shall ultimately be established that the standard of conduct has not been 
met by Indemnitee and which have not been successfully resolved as described in Section 7 of this Agreement. To the extent that 
Expenses advanced to Indemnitee do not relate to a specific claim, issue or matter in the Proceeding, such Expenses shall be 
allocated on a reasonable and proportionate basis. The undertaking required by this Section 8 shall be an unlimited general 
obligation by or on behalf of Indemnitee and shall be accepted without reference to Indemnitee’s financial ability to repay such 
advanced Expenses and without any requirement to post security therefor.  

Section 9.      Indemnification and Advance of Expenses as a Witness or Other Participant . Notwithstanding any other 
provision of this Agreement, to the extent that Indemnitee is or may be, by reason of Indemnitee’s Corporate Status, made a witness 
or otherwise asked to participate in any Proceeding, whether instituted by the Company or any other party, and to which Indemnitee 
is not a party, Indemnitee shall be advanced all reasonable Expenses and indemnified against all Expenses actually and reasonably 
incurred by Indemnitee or on Indemnitee’s behalf in connection therewith within ten days after the receipt by the Company of a 
statement or statements requesting any such advance or indemnification from time to time, whether prior to or after final disposition 
of such Proceeding. Such statement or statements shall reasonably evidence the Expenses incurred by Indemnitee.  

 



 
Section 10.      Procedure for Determination of Entitlement to Indemnification .  

(a)      To obtain indemnification under this Agreement, Indemnitee shall submit to the Company a written request, 
including therein or therewith such documentation and information as is reasonably available to Indemnitee and is reasonably 
necessary to determine whether and to what extent Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification. Indemnitee may submit one or more 
such requests from time to time and at such time(s) as Indemnitee deems appropriate in Indemnitee’s sole discretion. The officer of 
the Company receiving any such request from Indemnitee shall, promptly upon receipt of such a request for indemnification, advise 
the Board of Directors in writing that Indemnitee has requested indemnification.  

(b)      Upon written request by Indemnitee for indemnification pursuant to Section 10(a) above, a determination, if 
required by applicable law, with respect to Indemnitee’s entitlement thereto shall promptly be made in the specific case: (i) if a 
Change in Control shall have occurred, by Independent Counsel, in a written opinion to the Board of Directors, a copy of which 
shall be delivered to Indemnitee, which Independent Counsel shall be selected by the Indemnitee and approved by the Board of 
Directors in accordance with Section 2-418(e)(2)(ii) of the MGCL, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld; or (ii) if a 
Change in Control shall not have occurred, (A) by the Board of Directors by a majority vote of a quorum consisting of 
Disinterested Directors or, if such a quorum cannot be obtained, then by a majority vote of a duly authorized committee of the 
Board of Directors consisting solely of one or more Disinterested Directors, (B) if Independent Counsel has been selected by the 
Board of Directors in accordance with Section 2-418(e)(2)(ii) of the MGCL and approved by the Indemnitee, which approval shall 
not be unreasonably withheld, by Independent Counsel, in a written opinion to the Board of Directors, a copy of which shall be 
delivered to Indemnitee or (C) if so directed by a majority of the members of the Board of Directors, by the stockholders of the 
Company. If it is so determined that Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification, payment to Indemnitee shall be made within ten days 
after such determination. Indemnitee shall cooperate with the person, persons or entity making such determination with respect to 
Indemnitee’s entitlement to indemnification, including providing to such person, persons or entity upon reasonable advance request 
any documentation or information which is not privileged or otherwise protected from disclosure and which is reasonably available 
to Indemnitee and reasonably necessary to such determination in the discretion of the Board of Directors or Independent Counsel if 
retained pursuant to clause (ii)(B) of this Section 10(b). Any Expenses incurred by Indemnitee in so cooperating with the person, 
persons or entity making such determination shall be borne by the Company (irrespective of the determination as to Indemnitee’s 
entitlement to indemnification) and the Company shall indemnify and hold Indemnitee harmless therefrom.  

(c)      The Company shall pay the reasonable fees and expenses of Independent Counsel, if one is appointed.  

Section 11.      Presumptions and Effect of Certain Proceedings .  

(a)      In making any determination with respect to entitlement to indemnification hereunder, the person or persons 
or entity making such determination shall presume that Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification under this Agreement if 
Indemnitee has submitted a request for indemnification in accordance with Section 10(a) of this Agreement, and the Company shall 
have the burden of proof to overcome that presumption in connection with the making of any determination contrary to that 
presumption.  

(b)      The termination of any Proceeding or of any claim, issue or matter therein, by judgment, order, settlement or 
conviction, upon a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent, or entry of an order of probation prior to judgment, does not create a 
presumption that Indemnitee did not meet the requisite standard of conduct described herein for indemnification.  

 



 
(c)      The knowledge and/or actions, or failure to act, of any other director, officer, employee or agent of the 

Company or any other director, trustee, officer, partner, manager, managing member, fiduciary, employee or agent of any other 
foreign or domestic corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other 
enterprise shall not be imputed to Indemnitee for purposes of determining any other right to indemnification under this Agreement.  

Section 12.      Remedies of Indemnitee .  

(a)      If (i) a determination is made pursuant to Section 10(b) of this Agreement that Indemnitee is not entitled to 
indemnification under this Agreement, (ii) advance of Expenses is not timely made pursuant to Sections 8 or 9 of this Agreement, 
(iii) no determination of entitlement to indemnification shall have been made pursuant to Section 10(b) of this Agreement within 60 
days after receipt by the Company of the request for indemnification, (iv) payment of indemnification is not made pursuant to 
Sections 7 or 9 of this Agreement within ten days after receipt by the Company of a written request therefor, or (v) payment of 
indemnification pursuant to any other section of this Agreement or the Charter or Bylaws is not made within ten days after a 
determination has been made that Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification, Indemnitee shall be entitled to an adjudication in an 
appropriate court located in the State of Maryland, or in any other court of competent jurisdiction, of Indemnitee’s entitlement to 
such indemnification or advance of Expenses. Alternatively, Indemnitee, at Indemnitee’s option, may seek an award in arbitration 
to be conducted by a single arbitrator pursuant to the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association. 
Indemnitee shall commence a proceeding seeking an adjudication or an award in arbitration within 180 days following the date on 
which Indemnitee first has the right to commence such proceeding pursuant to this Section 12(a); provided, however, that the 
foregoing clause shall not apply to a proceeding brought by Indemnitee to enforce his or her rights under Section 7 of this 
Agreement. Except as set forth herein, the provisions of Maryland law (without regard to its conflicts of laws rules) shall apply to 
any such arbitration. The Company shall not oppose Indemnitee’s right to seek any such adjudication or award in arbitration.  

(b)      In any judicial proceeding or arbitration commenced pursuant to this Section 12, Indemnitee shall be 
presumed to be entitled to indemnification or advance of Expenses, as the case may be, under this Agreement and the Company 
shall have the burden of proving that Indemnitee is not entitled to indemnification or advance of Expenses, as the case may be. If 
Indemnitee commences a judicial proceeding or arbitration pursuant to this Section 12, Indemnitee shall not be required to 
reimburse the Company for any advances pursuant to Section 8 of this Agreement until a final determination is made with respect 
to Indemnitee’s entitlement to indemnification (as to which all rights of appeal have been exhausted or lapsed). The Company shall, 
to the fullest extent not prohibited by law, be precluded from asserting in any judicial proceeding or arbitration commenced 
pursuant to this Section 12 that the procedures and presumptions of this Agreement are not valid, binding and enforceable and shall 
stipulate in any such court or before any such arbitrator that the Company is bound by all of the provisions of this Agreement.  

(c)      If a determination shall have been made pursuant to Section 10(b) of this Agreement that Indemnitee is 
entitled to indemnification, the Company shall be bound by such determination in any judicial proceeding or arbitration 
commenced pursuant to this Section 12, absent a misstatement by Indemnitee of a material fact, or an omission of a material fact 
necessary to make Indemnitee’s statement not materially misleading, in connection with the request for indemnification.  

 



 
(d)      In the event that Indemnitee is successful in seeking, pursuant to this Section 12, a judicial adjudication of or 

an award in arbitration to enforce Indemnitee’s rights under, or to recover damages for breach of, this Agreement, Indemnitee shall 
be entitled to recover from the Company, and shall be indemnified by the Company for, any and all Expenses actually and 
reasonably incurred by him in such judicial adjudication or arbitration. If it shall be determined in such judicial adjudication or 
arbitration that Indemnitee is entitled to receive part but not all of the indemnification or advance of Expenses sought, the Expenses 
incurred by Indemnitee in connection with such judicial adjudication or arbitration shall be appropriately prorated.  

(e)      Interest shall be paid by the Company to Indemnitee at the maximum rate allowed to be charged for 
judgments under the Courts and Judicial Proceedings Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland for amounts which the Company 
pays or is obligated to pay for the period (i) commencing with either the tenth day after the date on which the Company was 
requested to advance Expenses in accordance with Sections 8 or 9 of this Agreement or the 60 th day after the date on which the 
Company was requested to make the determination of entitlement to indemnification under Section 10(b) of this Agreement, as 
applicable, and (ii) ending on the date such payment is made to Indemnitee by the Company.  

Section 13.      Defense of the Underlying Proceeding .  

(a)      Indemnitee shall notify the Company promptly in writing upon being served with any summons, citation, 
subpoena, complaint, indictment, request or other document relating to any Proceeding which may result in the right to 
indemnification or the advance of Expenses hereunder and shall include with such notice a description of the nature of the 
Proceeding and a summary of the facts underlying the Proceeding. The failure to give any such notice shall not disqualify 
Indemnitee from the right, or otherwise affect in any manner any right of Indemnitee, to indemnification or the advance of 
Expenses under this Agreement unless the Company’s ability to defend in such Proceeding or to obtain proceeds under any 
insurance policy is materially and adversely prejudiced thereby, and then only to the extent the Company is thereby actually so 
prejudiced.  

(b)      Subject to the provisions of the last sentence of this Section 13(b) and of Section 13(c) below, the Company 
shall have the right to defend Indemnitee in any Proceeding which may give rise to indemnification hereunder; provided, however, 
that the Company shall notify Indemnitee of any such decision to defend within 15 calendar days following receipt of notice of any 
such Proceeding under Section 13(a) above. The Company shall not, without the prior written consent of Indemnitee, which shall 
not be unreasonably withheld or delayed, consent to the entry of any judgment against Indemnitee or enter into any settlement or 
compromise which (i) includes an admission of fault of Indemnitee, (ii) does not include, as an unconditional term thereof, the full 
release of Indemnitee from all liability in respect of such Proceeding, which release shall be in form and substance reasonably 
satisfactory to Indemnitee or (iii) would impose any Expense, judgment, fine, penalty or limitation on Indemnitee. This Section 13
(b) shall not apply to a Proceeding brought by Indemnitee under Section 12 of this Agreement.  

 



 
(c)      Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 13(b) above, if in a Proceeding to which Indemnitee is a party by 

reason of Indemnitee’s Corporate Status, (i) Indemnitee reasonably concludes, based upon an opinion of counsel approved by the 
Company, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, that Indemnitee may have separate defenses or counterclaims to 
assert with respect to any issue which may not be consistent with other defendants in such Proceeding, (ii) Indemnitee reasonably 
concludes, based upon an opinion of counsel approved by the Company, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, that an 
actual or apparent conflict of interest or potential conflict of interest exists between Indemnitee and the Company, or (iii) if the 
Company fails to assume the defense of such Proceeding in a timely manner, Indemnitee shall be entitled to be represented by 
separate legal counsel of Indemnitee’s choice, subject to the prior approval of the Company, which approval shall not be 
unreasonably withheld, at the expense of the Company. In addition, if the Company fails to comply with any of its obligations 
under this Agreement or in the event that the Company or any other person takes any action to declare this Agreement void or 
unenforceable, or institutes any Proceeding to deny or to recover from Indemnitee the benefits intended to be provided to 
Indemnitee hereunder, Indemnitee shall have the right to retain counsel of Indemnitee’s choice, subject to the prior approval of the 
Company, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, at the expense of the Company (subject to Section 12(d) of this 
Agreement), to represent Indemnitee in connection with any such matter.  

Section 14.      Non-Exclusivity; Survival of Rights; Subrogation .  

(a)      The rights of indemnification and advance of Expenses as provided by this Agreement shall not be deemed 
exclusive of any other rights to which Indemnitee may at any time be entitled under applicable law, the Charter or Bylaws, any 
agreement or a resolution of the stockholders entitled to vote generally in the election of directors or of the Board of Directors, or 
otherwise. Unless consented to in writing by Indemnitee, no amendment, alteration or repeal of this Agreement or of any provision 
hereof shall limit or restrict any right of Indemnitee under this Agreement in respect of any action taken or omitted by such 
Indemnitee in his or her Corporate Status prior to such amendment, alteration or repeal, regardless of whether a claim with respect 
to such action or inaction is raised prior or subsequent to such amendment, alteration or repeal. No right or remedy herein conferred 
is intended to be exclusive of any other right or remedy, and every other right or remedy shall be cumulative and in addition to 
every other right or remedy given hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or otherwise. The assertion of any right 
or remedy hereunder, or otherwise, shall not prohibit the concurrent assertion or employment of any other right or remedy.  

(b)      In the event of any payment under this Agreement, the Company shall be subrogated to the extent of such 
payment to all of the rights of recovery of Indemnitee, who shall execute all papers required and take all action necessary to secure 
such rights, including execution of such documents as are necessary to enable the Company to bring suit to enforce such rights.  

 



 
Section 15.      Insurance . The Company will use its reasonable best efforts to acquire directors and officers liability 

insurance, on terms and conditions deemed appropriate by the Board of Directors, with the advice of counsel, covering Indemnitee 
or any claim made against Indemnitee by reason of his or her Corporate Status and covering the Company for any indemnification 
or advance of Expenses made by the Company to Indemnitee for any claims made against Indemnitee by reason of his or her 
Corporate Status. Without in any way limiting any other obligation under this Agreement, the Company shall indemnify Indemnitee 
for any payment by Indemnitee arising out of the amount of any deductible or retention and the amount of any excess of the 
aggregate of all judgments, penalties, fines, settlements and Expenses incurred by Indemnitee in connection with a Proceeding over 
the coverage of any insurance referred to in the previous sentence. The purchase, establishment and maintenance of any such 
insurance shall not in any way limit or affect the rights or obligations of the Company or Indemnitee under this Agreement except 
as expressly provided herein, and the execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company and the Indemnitee shall not in any 
way limit or affect the rights or obligations of the Company under any such insurance policies. If, at the time the Company receives 
notice from any source of a Proceeding to which Indemnitee is a party or a participant (as a witness or otherwise) the Company has 
director and officer liability insurance in effect, the Company shall give prompt notice of such Proceeding to the insurers in 
accordance with the procedures set forth in the respective policies.  

Section 16.      Coordination of Payments . The Company shall not be liable under this Agreement to make any payment of 
amounts otherwise indemnifiable or payable or reimbursable as Expenses hereunder if and to the extent that Indemnitee has 
otherwise actually received such payment under any insurance policy, contract, agreement or otherwise.  

Section 17.      Reports to Stockholders . To the extent required by the MGCL, the Company shall report in writing to its 
stockholders the payment of any amounts for indemnification of, or advance of Expenses to, Indemnitee under this Agreement 
arising out of a Proceeding by or in the right of the Company with the notice of the meeting of stockholders of the Company next 
following the date of the payment of any such indemnification or advance of Expenses or prior to such meeting.  

Section 18.      Duration of Agreement; Binding Effect .  

(a)      This Agreement shall continue until and terminate on the later of (i) the date that Indemnitee shall have 
ceased to serve as a director, officer, employee or agent of the Company or as a director, trustee, officer, partner, manager, 
managing member, fiduciary, employee or agent of any other foreign or domestic corporation, real estate investment trust, 
partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise that such person is or was 
serving in such capacity at the request of the Company and (ii) the date that Indemnitee is no longer subject to any actual or 
possible Proceeding (including any rights of appeal thereto and any Proceeding commenced by Indemnitee pursuant to Section 12 
of this Agreement).  

(b)      The indemnification and advance of Expenses provided by, or granted pursuant to, this Agreement shall be 
binding upon and be enforceable by the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns (including any direct or indirect 
successor by purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise to all or substantially all of the business or assets of the Company), shall 
continue as to an Indemnitee who has ceased to be a director, officer, employee or agent of the Company or a director, trustee, 
officer, partner, manager, managing member, fiduciary, employee or agent of any other foreign or domestic corporation, 
partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise that such person is or was 
serving in such capacity at the request of the Company, and shall inure to the benefit of Indemnitee and Indemnitee’s spouse, 
assigns, heirs, devisees, executors and administrators and other legal representatives.  

 



 
(c)      The Company shall require and cause any successor (whether direct or indirect by purchase, merger, 

consolidation or otherwise) to all, substantially all or a substantial part, of the business and/or assets of the Company, by written 
agreement in form and substance satisfactory to Indemnitee, expressly to assume and agree to perform this Agreement in the same 
manner and to the same extent that the Company would be required to perform if no such succession had taken place.  

(d)      The Company and Indemnitee agree that a monetary remedy for breach of this Agreement, at some later 
date, may be inadequate, impracticable and difficult of proof, and further agree that such breach may cause Indemnitee irreparable 
harm. Accordingly, the parties hereto agree that Indemnitee may enforce this Agreement by seeking injunctive relief and/or specific 
performance hereof, without any necessity of showing actual damage or irreparable harm and that by seeking injunctive relief 
and/or specific performance, Indemnitee shall not be precluded from seeking or obtaining any other relief to which Indemnitee may 
be entitled. Indemnitee shall further be entitled to such specific performance and injunctive relief, including temporary restraining 
orders, preliminary injunctions and permanent injunctions, without the necessity of posting bonds or other undertakings in 
connection therewith. The Company acknowledges that, in the absence of a waiver, a bond or undertaking may be required of 
Indemnitee by a court, and the Company hereby waives any such requirement of such a bond or undertaking.  

Section 19.      Severability . If any provision or provisions of this Agreement shall be held to be invalid, illegal or 
unenforceable for any reason whatsoever: (a) the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement 
(including, without limitation, each portion of any Section, paragraph or sentence of this Agreement containing any such provision 
held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable that is not itself invalid, illegal or unenforceable) shall not in any way be affected or 
impaired thereby and shall remain enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law; (b) such provision or provisions shall be 
deemed reformed to the extent necessary to conform to applicable law and to give the maximum effect to the intent of the parties 
hereto; and (c) to the fullest extent possible, the provisions of this Agreement (including, without limitation, each portion of any 
Section, paragraph or sentence of this Agreement containing any such provision held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, that is 
not itself invalid, illegal or unenforceable) shall be construed so as to give effect to the intent manifested thereby.  

Section 20.      Identical Counterparts . This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall 
for all purposes be deemed to be an original but all of which together shall constitute one and the same Agreement. One such 
counterpart signed by the party against whom enforceability is sought shall be sufficient to evidence the existence of this 
Agreement.  

Section 21.      Headings . The headings of the paragraphs of this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall 
not be deemed to constitute part of this Agreement or to affect the construction thereof.  

Section 22.      Modification and Waiver . No supplement, modification or amendment of this Agreement shall be binding 
unless executed in writing by both of the parties hereto. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed or 
shall constitute a waiver of any other provisions hereof (whether or not similar) nor shall such waiver constitute a continuing 
waiver.  

 



 
Section 23.      Notices . All notices, requests, demands and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall 

be deemed to have been duly given if (i) delivered by hand and receipted for by the party to whom said notice or other 
communication shall have been directed, on the day of such delivery, or (ii) mailed by certified or registered mail with postage 
prepaid, on the third business day after the date on which it is so mailed:  

(a)      If to Indemnitee, to the address set forth on the signature page hereto.  

(b)      If to the Company, to:  

New York REIT, Inc.  
405 Park Avenue, 14 th Floor  
New York, New York 10022  
Attention: General Counsel  

with a copy to:  

Proskauer Rose LLP  
Eleven Times Square  
New York, New York 10036  
Attention: Peter M. Fass, Esq.  
Michael J. Choate, Esq.  

 

or to such other address as may have been furnished in writing to Indemnitee by the Company or to the Company by Indemnitee, as 
the case may be.  

Section 24.      Governing Law . This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with, the 
laws of the State of Maryland, without regard to its conflicts of laws rules.  

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day and year first above written.  

COMPANY:  

NEW YORK REIT, INC.  

 
INDEMNITEE  

 
/s/ Nicholas S. Schorsch                  
Name: Nicholas S. Schorsch  

 
INDEMNITEE  

 
/s/ Michael A. Happel                  
Name: Michael A. Happel  

 
INDEMNITEE  

 
/s/ Gregory W. Sullivan                  
Name: Gregory W. Sullivan  

 
INDEMNITEE  

 
/s/ Edward M. Weil, Jr.                  
Name: Edward M. Weil, Jr.  

 
INDEMNITEE  

 
/s/ William M. Kahane                  
Name: William M. Kahane      

 
INDEMNITEE  

 
/s/ Robert H. Burns                      
Name: Robert H. Burns  

 
INDEMNITEE  

/s/ Randolph C. Read                  
Name: Randolph C. Read  

 
INDEMNITEE  

 
/s/ P. Sue Perrotty                      

 

By:  /s/ Michael A. Happel              
Name: Michael A. Happel  
Title: Chief Executive Officer and President 
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Name: P. Sue Perrotty  
 
INDEMNITEE  

/s/ Scott J. Bowman                  
Name: Scott J. Bowman  

 
INDEMNITEE  

/s/ William G. Stanley                  
Name: William G. Stanley  

 
INDEMNITEE  

 
NEW YORK RECOVERY ADVISORS, LLC  

 
By:  

 
NEW YORK RECOVERY SPECIAL LIMITED         PARTNERSHIP, 

LLC, its sole member  
 

By: American Realty Capital III, LLC, its sole member  
 
By: AR Capital, LLC, its sole member  

 
 

By: /s/ William M. Kahane              
Name: William M. Kahane  
Title: Manager  

 
INDEMNITEE  

 
AR CAPITAL, LLC  

 
 

By: /s/ William M. Kahane              
Name: William M. Kahane  
Title: Manager  

 
INDEMNITEE  

 
RCS CAPITAL CORPORATION  

 
 

By: /s/ James A. Tanaka              
Name: James A. Tanaka  
Title: Authorized Signatory  
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EXHIBIT A       
 

AFFIRMATION AND UNDERTAKING TO REPAY EXPENSES ADVANCED  

To: The Board of Directors of New York REIT, Inc.  

Re: Affirmation and Undertaking  

Ladies and Gentlemen:  

This Affirmation and Undertaking is being provided pursuant to that certain Indemnification Agreement dated the 31 st day 
of December, 2014, by and between New York REIT, Inc., a Maryland corporation (the “ Company ”), and the undersigned 
Indemnitee (the “Indemnification Agreement”), pursuant to which I am entitled to advance of Expenses in connection with 
[Description of Proceeding] (the “ Proceeding ”).  

Terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings specified in the Indemnification Agreement.  

I am subject to the Proceeding by reason of my Corporate Status or by reason of alleged actions or omissions by me in such 
capacity. I hereby affirm my good faith belief that at all times, insofar as I was involved as [a director] [an officer] [and] [service 
provider] of the Company, in any of the facts or events giving rise to the Proceeding, I (1) did not act with bad faith or active or 
deliberate dishonesty, (2) did not receive any improper personal benefit in money, property or services and (3) in the case of any 
criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe that any act or omission by me was unlawful.  

In consideration of the advance of Expenses by the Company for reasonable attorneys’ fees and related Expenses incurred 
by me in connection with the Proceeding (the “ Advanced Expenses ”), I hereby agree that if, in connection with the Proceeding, it 
is established that (1) an act or omission by me was material to the matter giving rise to the Proceeding and (a) was committed in 
bad faith or (b) was the result of active and deliberate dishonesty, (2) I actually received an improper personal benefit in money, 
property or services or (3) in the case of any criminal proceeding, I had reasonable cause to believe that the act or omission was 
unlawful, then I shall promptly reimburse the portion of the Advanced Expenses relating to the claims, issues or matters in the 
Proceeding as to which the foregoing findings have been established.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have executed this Affirmation and Undertaking on this __  day of _________________, 20 
__ .  

Name:       
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Subsidiaries of New York REIT, Inc.  

 

Name  Jurisdiction of Formation/Incorporation  

American Realty Capital New York Recovery REIT, Inc  Maryland  

New York Recovery Operating Partnership, L.P.  Delaware  

ARC NYE61ST001, LLC  Delaware  

ARCNYRR CAMBR BLEECKER,  LLC  Delaware  

ARC NYBLKST001, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NYBLKST002, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NYBLKST003, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NYBLKST004, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NYBLKST005, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NY86STR001, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NYCTGRG001, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NYCBBLV001, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NYWSHST004, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NYWSHST003, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NYWSHST001, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NYWSHST002, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NYGRNAV001, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NYGRNAV002, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NYGRNAV003, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NYGRNAV004, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NYW42ST001, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NYW42ST002, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NYW42ST003, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NYW42ST004, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NYKNGHW001, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NYKNGHW002, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NYKNGHW003, LLC  Delaware  

163 Washington Avenue NYRR JV Member, LLC  Delaware  

163 Washington Avenue NYRR JV LLC  Delaware  

ARC NYWSHAV001, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NY1623K001, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NY25638001, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NY25638001 MEZZ, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NY22936001, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NY350BL001, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NY21618001, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NY21618001 MEZZ, LLC  Delaware  

50VARNY001, LLC  Delaware  

ARC 50VARNY001 MEZZ, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NY333W3401, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NY123JV001, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NYWWPJV001, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NY120W5701, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NY120W5701 TRS, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NY1440BWYI, LLC  Delaware  

ARC NY24549W17, LLC  Delaware  
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Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  

 

The Board of Directors and Stockholders  
New York REIT, Inc.:  
 

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statement (No. 333-197362) on Form S-8 of New York REIT, Inc. 
of our report dated May 11, 2015 , with respect to the consolidated balance sheet of New York REIT, Inc. and subsidiaries as of 
December 31, 2014, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), changes in equity, and 
cash flows for the year then ended and the related schedule III, real estate and accumulated depreciation, and the effectiveness of 
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, which report appears in the December 31, 2014 annual report on 
Form 10-K of New York REIT, Inc.  

Our report dated May 11, 2015, on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, expresses 
our opinion that New York REIT, Inc. did not maintain effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014 
because of the effects of material weaknesses on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria and contains an 
explanatory paragraph that states the following material weaknesses were identified and included in management’s assessment in 
Item 9A of New York REIT, Inc.’s December 31, 2014 annual report on Form 10-K. The Company did not:  

 

/s/ KPMG LLP  
 
 
New York, New York  
May 11, 2015  
 

 
 

•  Maintain an effective control environment and risk assessment process, specifically: 
•  Maintain sufficient written policies and procedures regarding the Company’s business and financial reporting 

processes, including establishing sufficient appropriate management authorities and responsibilities  
•  Design and conduct an effective risk assessment process to identify and analyze risks impacting financial reporting, and 

implement business process level controls and monitoring activities that are responsive to those risks  
•  Maintain effective information technology access controls over its financial reporting system and accounts payable 

application;  
•  Establish appropriate segregation of duties within the purchasing, accounts payable, and cash disbursements process; 
•  Design and maintain appropriate controls, including general IT controls, over the use of significant Excel spreadsheets 

supporting the financial reporting process; and  
•  Design and maintain appropriate controls over the authorization, completeness, existence and accuracy of manual journal 

entries.  
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CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING  FIRM  
   
We have issued our report dated February 28, 2014, with respect to the consolidated financial statements included in the Annual Report of New 
York REIT, Inc. on Form 10-K for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012.  We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference of said 
report in the Registration Statement of New York REIT, Inc. on Form S-8 (File No. 333-197362, effective July 11, 2014).  

   
/S/ GRANT THORNTON LLP  

   
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania  
May 11, 2015  
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER  
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED  

 

I, Michael A. Happel, certify that:  

 

 
 

 

1.  I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of New York REIT, Inc.; 

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report;  

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Rules 
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  

(a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

(b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

(c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on 
such evaluation; and  

(d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  

(a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and  

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.  

Dated this 11th day of May, 2015  /s/ Michael A. Happel  

   Michael A. Happel  

   Chief Executive Officer and President  

   (Principal Executive Officer)  
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER  
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED  

 

I, Gregory W. Sullivan, certify that:  

 

 

 
 

 

1.  I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of New York REIT, Inc.; 

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report;  

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Rules 
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  

(a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

(b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

(c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on 
such evaluation; and  

(d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  

(a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and  

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.  

Dated this 11th day of May, 2015  /s/ Gregory W. Sullivan  

   Gregory W. Sullivan  

   Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer,  

   Treasurer and Secretary  

   (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)  
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SECTION 1350 CERTIFICATIONS  
 

This Certificate is being delivered pursuant to the requirements of Section 1350 of Chapter 63 (Mail Fraud) of Title 18 (Crimes and Criminal 
Procedures) of the United States Code, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and shall not, except to the extent 
required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Act of 1934, as amended.  

The undersigned, who are the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of New York REIT, Inc. (the “Company”), each hereby 
certify as follows:  

The annual report on Form 10-K of the Company which accompanies this Certificate, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and all information contained in this annual report fairly presents, in all material respects, the 
financial condition and results of operations of the Company.  

Dated this 11th day of May, 2015  

 

 
 

 

   /s/ Michael A. Happel  

   Michael A. Happel  

   Chief Executive Officer and President  

   (Principal Executive Officer)  

    

   /s/ Gregory W. Sullivan  

   Gregory W. Sullivan  

   Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer,  

   Treasurer and Secretary  

   (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)  


